SOCIAL STRESS AND SEX-BIASED INFLAMMATORY DISEASES

SEX-BIASED EXPERIENCES OF SOCIAL STRESS AND THE ORIGIN OF SEX-BIASED INFLAMMATORY DISEASES AND MENTAL DISORDERS

By: CLAIRE MICHELLE BROWN, B.Sc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Claire Michelle Brown, August 2023

McMaster University MASTER OF SCIENCE (2023) Hamilton, Ontario (Biology)

TITLE: Sex-Biased Experiences of Social Stress and the Origin of Sex-Biased Mental Disorders AUTHOR: Claire Michelle Brown, B.Sc. (McMaster University) SUPERVISOR: Professor Rama Singh and Professor Bhagwati Gupta NUMBER OF PAGES: vi 147

Abstract

Women are more susceptible to a range of detrimental diseases surrounding autoimmunity and inflammation, but the causes of this are largely unknown. Much of the current research investigating these patterns focus on a microscopic view of cellular and/or hormonal processes, but holistic perspectives incorporating sociology, psychology, physiology, and evolution are rarely considered. Through investigating interactions between a history of neglecting women's research, evolutionary origins of sex differences in the immune system, and the impacts of society's influences on stress, some sex-biased patterns of disease may emerge. The existing SS-SH-SS theory by Brown et al. (2022) describes the complex environmental, psychological, and biological mechanisms that interact to create a female sensitivity to stress-based inflammatory diseases. Using the foundations of this theory, in this study we used global disease and stress exposure data from the World Bank and Global Health Data Exchange project to investigate how the relationships between exposure to stress and prevalence of diseases differ by sex. Using principal component analysis and generalized linear mixed models, we demonstrated a complex relationship between certain stress factors and inflammatory diseases. Particularly, we found that levels of poverty, alcohol use and drug use had distinct, sex-specific impacts on rates of diseases that we studied. Female rates of disease were particularly sensitive to the changes in substance use and poverty, with an inverse relationship with poverty and a direct relationship with substance use. This study can serve as an example for investigating the correlates of sex-biased diseases and mental disorders, particularly about the role of sex-biased experiences of social stress in the origin of sex-biased mental illnesses.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Singh, for all of his guidance and trust in my abilities, co-supervisor, Dr. Gupta, and other committee members, Dr. Green and Dr. Golding, for their support. Thank you as well to Dr. Ben Bolker, Dr. Ian Dworkin, Dr. Narayanaswamy Balakrishnan, Matilda Pitt, and Dean Hanson for their assistance with understanding and planning the statistical analyses within my project. I would also like to thank my friends and family members, including my parents, Jackie and Steve, and sisters, Natalie and Katie, for their unconditional love and investment in my success over the past many years. Finally, I want to thank my partner, Graeme, for talking through and helping organize all of my ideas, as well as helping me keep my footing each step of the way through my degree.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 1.1: Sex differences in physiology and disease	1
Chapter 1.2: The immune system and inflammation	7
Chapter 1.3: Stress factors and their impacts	14
Chapter 1.4: Evolution of sex-biased diseases and mental disorders	
Chapter 1.5: The grand theory of sex-biased diseases and mental disorders	
Chapter 1.6: Objectives	
Chapter 2: Methodology	41
Chapter 2.1: Data collection	41
Chapter 2.2: Data analysis	44
Chapter 3: Results	55
Chapter 3.1: Generalized linear mixed model results	55
Chapter 3.2: Principal component analysis results	60
Chapter 4: Discussion	68
Chapter 4.1: Effects of stress factors on diseases	68
Chapter 4.2: Perspective from principal component analyses	
Chapter 4.3: Joint consideration of individual stress factors and PCs	85

Chapter 4.4: Limitations	86
Chapter 5: Conclusion	90
References	92
Appendix	134
Stress factor effects on disease grouped by disease	137
Principle component effects on disease grouped by principle component	141
Coefficients from stress factor models	145
Coefficients from principal component models	149

vi

Chapter 1: Introduction

The nature of sex and diseases are not simple biological concepts, but instead are influenced by almost every part of the human condition. In order to provide the context necessary for this study, we have included a detailed review of some current research explaining: (1) sex differences in physiology and disease, including sex hormones, genetics of disease, and sociological impacts of disease, and mental disorders; (2) immunological system and disease, including neuroinflammation, autoimmune diseases, inflammatory diseases, and sex differences in immune regulation; (3) influences of stress, on disease and sex differences in stress; (4) evolution of sex differences and disease prevalence; and finally (5) the grand theory of sex-biased diseases and mental disorders. Through this chapter, we hope to provide the background of knowledge required to inform the reader of the current literature and provide context necessary for our project.

Chapter 1.1: Sex differences in physiology and disease

The distinctions between male and female physiology are less of a rigid box, and often considered more of a sliding scale between each sex characteristic. For example, "normal" serum progesterone levels in fertile human females range from >1 - 63.6 nmol/L depending on where they fall in their menstrual cycle and males' levels range from >1 - 3.18 nmol/L, a range that clearly overlaps (Ferri, 2021). Due to this, wide variations of morphology and physiology appear within sexual traits in human populations (Morrow, 2015). Some of these differences in sexual characteristics are also present in non-sexual traits, either as purposeful or unintended consequences of sexual selection. These consequences play important roles in human diseases, especially diseases that show stark differences between males and females (Morrow, 2015). Sex differences in genetics play a large role in regulating many of the

differences seen between males and females in humans, like the vast complexities of the sex chromosomes, which will also be covered in this chapter. We will touch on the sex differences in the brain and neurological functioning that leads to mental disorders. Finally, we will discuss an important factor of sex differences in disease that is often disregarded in scientific literature, sociological impacts of health. We aim to establish the groundwork necessary to examine the intricate interconnections among the immune system, stress, evolution, and sex differences that we will explore in later chapters.

Genetic basis of sex-bias in diseases

One of the most robust and universal differences between sexes is the sex chromosomes. In humans most often, males have one X and one Y chromosome while females usually have two X chromosomes, although nondisjunction events cause many exceptions to this (Visootsak & Graham, 2006). Males, however, only have one copy of the X chromosome and this means that if they inherit one recessive deleterious gene, that recessive mutation will be expressed (Germain, 2006). There are many X-linked diseases that are only or almost only present in males. Hemophilia A is one example of this. This disorder arises when there is a mutation in the gene coding for Factor VIII on the X chromosome, a coagulation factor that aids with blood clotting (Konkle & Nakaya Fletcher, 2017). For those with Hemophilia A, injuries are slower to stop bleeding and blood can hemorrhage into joints and muscles (Konkle & Nakaya Fletcher, 2017). Another X-linked disease is Severe Combined Immunodeficiency disease (XSCID), which is caused from a mutation in the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor gamma subunit (Brooks et al., 1990). This receptor is involved in growth and differentiation of T and B cells throughout the body so with this disorder, many infants die prematurely, as they cannot fight off bacterial, viral, or fungal infections (Brooks et al., 1990). Additionally, in females, one X chromosome is silenced to prevent an excess of X-

related genes being expressed (Disteche & Berletch, 2015) but, an estimated 15% of genes escape X-inactivation (Carrel et al., 1999). They are not necessarily expressed the same way as if they were not silenced, but they are still being transcribed in some manner (Carrel et al., 1999), potentially leading to differences between males and females. X and Y chromosome genes influence brain development both inside and outside of the production of sex hormones (Ratnu et al., 2017). Even before gonadal development when sex hormones begin being produced in fetuses, more than 50 neurological genes are expressed differently in males and females (Dewing et al., 2003). This demonstrates the multifaceted effect of sex chromosomes on physiology and development through and apart from sex hormones. Clearly, the X and Y chromosomes have an important role in sex differences in disease.

Sex differences in mental disorders and neurological functioning

Exploring sex differences in mental illness and neurological functioning, including sociological factors, serotonergic and dopaminergic systems, and the gut-brain axis, reveals their complexities. Although there are many differences in sex presentation for specific diseases, there are some overarching general trends spanning across mental illnesses. Serotonin is an important neurotransmitter that is associated with many mental diseases. Although it is present throughout the body, it has vast effects on emotion, behaviour, and cognition in the brain (Lin et al., 2014). The serotonin system is effected differently in males and females, primarily through sex hormones (Spies et al., 2020). Evidence in non-human animals suggests that treatment with estradiol in ovariectomized females increases serotonin production in the brain (Rivera et al., 2009; Sánchez et al., 2013). These findings are not always consistent, though. An important family of enzymes within the serotonergic pathways are the monoamine oxidases (MAO). These are responsible for the breakdown of serotonin and many other crucial neurotransmitters (Jones & Raghanti, 2021). Recent evidence

suggests their involvement in various mental diseases is vast and complex, but also differs between sexes (Jones & Raghanti, 2021). Some mental illnesses, like major depressive disorder, are associated with higher neurological levels of MAO-A (Meyer et al., 2009), but generally, estrogen and MAO-A have a negative relationship (Spies et al., 2020). Research investigating sex differences in MAO-A and impacts of mental illness likely require thorough consideration of female hormonal changes throughout the menstrual cycle, pregnancy, and menopause to acquire more consistent findings (Spies et al., 2020).

Similar to serotonin in many ways, the dopaminergic system is also heavily involved in the presentation and development of many neurological and psychological disorders. Sex also influences the dopaminergic system through various means (Woodcock et al., 2020). Changes in estrogen levels, such as during the menstrual cycle, pregnancy, or menopause, are associated with vulnerability to substance use disorder, a mental illness primarily driven by the serotonergic system (Calipari et al., 2017). Progesterone is also thought to reduce the reward response of drug use (Lynch & Sofuoglu, 2010). The effects of testosterone are not consistent, but it is thought to play a role in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway (Hermans et al., 2010). MAO-A regulation is also influenced by the Sry gene (Wu et al., 2009), the sex determining region on the Y chromosome (Loke et al., 2015). The distinct effects of this regulation are unclear, but this sex-specific modulation could indicate some of the differences in mental disorders that involve the serotonergic and dopaminergic systems.

Additionally, the gut brain axis may influence some sex differences in psychiatric diseases. In childhood, diversity and balance of the gut microbiome is general similar in males and females, but once puberty begins and sex hormones differ significantly between sexes, gut bacteria change distinctly (Shobeiri et al., 2022). Many gut bacteria are able to produce and influence the production of chemicals involved in mental illnesses, (e.g. GABA is made by

Lactobacillus brevis and *Bifidobacterium dentium*) (Shobeiri et al., 2022). In fact, mice have shown alleviation of anxiety and depression-related behaviours after ingestion of a related strain of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (Bravo et al., 2011). The gut microbiome is also associated with many specific mental diseases and show sex-specific effects. Weakening the gut microbiome shows more extreme anxiety behaviour in females compared to male mice (Shobeiri et al., 2022). Specific differences in general bacterial families have also been observed. A study by Shobeiri et al. (2022) demonstrated that human patients with depression showed sex-specific microbiome differences compared to control groups. Depressed females tended to have higher levels of *Actinobacteria* than healthy females while depressed males had lower levels of *Bacteroidia* than healthy males. But depression status showed no relationship with *Actinobacteria* in males and showed no relationship with *Bacteroidia* levels in females. But fortunately, the gut microbiome doesn't just cause mental illness, it can also be manipulated to act as a protective factor against it (Murray et al., 2019). Research has found that ingesting probiotics during puberty can help to protect teens from depression and anxiety behaviours caused by exposure to stress (Murray et al., 2019).

Sex hormone receptors in the brain can also affect thoughts, emotions and behaviour potentially even in a self-reinforcing manner McEwen & Milner, 2017). In general, administering testosterone reduces emotional and fear-based responses to stimuli (Hermans, et al., 2006; Hermans, Putman, & van Honk, 2006). In females, luteal phases of the menstrual cycle, when progesterone is higher, tend to result in more emotional volatility and poorer emotion recognition (Sundström-Poromaa, 2018). Meanwhile, estradiol is thought to positively influence memory and cognition through the hippocampus (Shepherd, 2001). Estrogen receptors are present in cell nuclei of some nerve cells and affect the cholinergic, serotonergic, noradrenergic, and dopaminergic systems (McEwen, 2001). From this section, it becomes clear that sex differences in mental illness and neurology are vast and complex, influenced by many biological and environmental systems.

Sex differences in sociological factors of diseases

In addition to genetic and sex hormone differences in physiology, a long history of patriarchal societies has led to men's health being viewed as the "normal" and women's health as the "exception". This has resulted in exacerbation of sex differences normally seen with disease presentation. One of the largest examples of this effect can be seen with cardiovascular diseases. Historically, cardiovascular diseases were considered primarily 'men's diseases', but, in reality, women tend to experience higher deaths from many such diseases (Sobhani et al., 2018). It's possible that this is influenced by men's cardiovascular diseases being the primary focus of scientific research for centuries (Bergami et al., 2022). Women's symptoms tend to present differently to men, commonly exhibiting nausea, heart palpitations, and shortness of breath while men tend to experience more chest pain. The higher rates of women's deaths could stem from delayed diagnosis and treatment because of their 'unusual' presentation of symptoms (Branyan & Sohrabji, 2020). The diagnostic criteria for several cardiovascular diseases are biomarkers, but often, standardized thresholds for diagnosis are not differentiated between males and females. For example, Troponins and CK-MB are two biomarkers sometimes used to diagnose ischemic heart disease and heart failure (Jacob & Khan, 2018). Women tend to have significantly lower levels of these than men, but the standard diagnostic criteria utilize men's levels as the standard (Sobhani et al., 2018). This results in many women with inflated Troponins and CK-MB are not flagged for concern. There is also a case to be made that woman are less likely to have a supportive partner at home that is willing and able to care for them after a cardiovascular event (e.g., stroke, heart attack) (Sobhani et al., 2018). This is also associated with a higher level of mortality. All this

being said, women tend to experience higher levels of inflammation, which is associated with increased risk of various cardiovascular diseases (Bergami et al., 2022).

Additionally, due to the immense influence of environmental factors on mental disorders, sociological differences can have a large effect on prevalence and severity of mental illnesses. In a study from Brazil, the gender gap in wages explained 17% of the increased risk of common mental disorders like anxiety and depression in women (Loret de Mola et al., 2020). Schooling level was also associated with a decreased risk of mental illness, and women around the world tend to receive less access to education than their male counterparts (Loret de Mola et al., 2020). Although the sociological factors of disease are less of a focus in most scientific literature, they are vital to comprehensively understand sex differences in disease that exist in human societies.

Chapter 1.2: The immune system and inflammation

The immune system is a complex system that consists of two primary branches: the innate and adaptive immune responses. The innate immune system is set up to automatically defend against pathogens introduced to the body by preventing access to sensitive tissues, competing for space and resources and many broad-scale automatic responses to any threats (Alberts et al., 2002). The adaptative immune response acts slower and responds to a particular threat that is causing an issue, but it can be more powerful than the innate immune system because it has a high degree of specificity towards the threat. Both sides of the immune system are activated through inflammation. Inflammation is a broad-scale term that describes the body response to a threat. When a threat is detected, cellular and molecular pathways release chemicals called cytokines, which act as signals to other cells to trigger inflammation (Newton & Dixit, 2012). This immediate response is an increase in blood flow to the area to

bring in more immune cells and can result in higher temperatures, redness, swelling, and pain (Alberts et al., 2002). Some of the first cells to act on an invading pathogen are macrophages and then neutrophils which are both phagocytes, meaning they engulf and break down pathogens entering the body (Alberts et al., 2002). These cells release more cytokines to bring in additional help (Newton & Dixit, 2012).

The immune system is very effective at preventing major illness the majority of the time, but it does tend to go overboard and damage healthy tissue when waging an attack on a potential infection. This is not of concern when the immune response lasts a short period of time and then relaxes, allowing the tissues to heal. But this is not always what happens. Inflammation can become chronic where the immune response can continue over a longer period of time (Blach-Olszewska & Leszek, 2007). The exact causes of why immune responses become chronic is unknown, but some of the effects of this can be severely damaging.

Neuroinflammation

Neuroinflammation is an inflammatory response that happens specifically in the brain. Neurons can be very vulnerable to the immune system, so long-term inflammation can be disastrous to neural tissue (Glass et al., 2010). In the brain, glial cells act as support for other neurons and are also the primary immune cell within the brain. These cells can act to upregulate or downregulate neuroinflammation depending on the signals they receive. They primarily do this through releasing various cytokines (Almeida et al., 2020). Some of these cytokines directly influence the regulation of tryptophan, a precursor of serotonin (O'Connor et al., 2009), which could be a direct mechanism of neuroinflammation's impact on psychiatric disorders (Mukhara et al., 2020). Glial inflammation is activated through M1 or M2 mechanisms. The M1 responses are pro-inflammatory and upregulate cytokines like TNF- α and interleukin (IL)-6 (Tang & Le, 2016). In contrast, M2 responses are anti-

inflammatory and allow for tissue repair and growth periods through cytokines like IL-10 and TGF- β (Tang & Le, 2016). The activation of these mechanisms are great signals for levels of neuroinflammation in the body.

Autoimmune diseases

Autoimmune diseases occur when the immune system targets an antigen that is part of the host's body and launches an inflammatory response against it. This results in many autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis (MS), rheumatoid arthritis (RA), Grave's disease, type 1 diabetes, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, etc. (Cheesman, 2019). Autoimmune disorders are almost all female-biased with some exceptions including type 1 diabetes, although about 25% of people with type 1 diabetes have a comorbid autoimmune disorder which is female-biased (Rogers et al., 2020). The reasons for the female-bias in autoimmune diseases are unknown, but there are many indicators that the female immune system is stronger than males, potentially through the roles of sex hormones and genetics as outlined above.

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is an autoimmune disease characterized by swelling, pain, and reduced mobility of the joints (Rindfleisch & Muller, 2005). It's a relatively common disease and ranges from prevalence rates of around 8 to 45 cases per 100,000 people but is much more common in females than males throughout the world (Vos et al., 2020). The disease is caused by the identification of "self" antigens as foreign and dangerous by the immune system, which then act to upregulate inflammatory factors to neutralize the threat. The stimulating antigen is continually present, so the immune cells are consistently reactivated (Souto-Carneiro et al., 2020).

The mechanism causing such a stark sex difference in RA prevalence is not known, but it is widely suspected to be caused by sex-specific immunological differences. One study

researching sex differentially expressed genes in RA patients found a significant difference in IL-4 gene expression (Yu et al., 2020). Interestingly, IL-4 was expressed the lowest in males with RA, slightly higher in females with RA, and highest in healthy controls. IL-4 is generally considered to be an anti-inflammatory cytokine by preventing overactive inflammatory responses (Weckmann & Alcocer-Varela, 1996). In the case of RA, IL-4 prevents bone resorption near affected joints (Miossec et al., 1994) and downregulates apoptosis of synovial cells (Relić et al., 2001) through its anti-inflammatory effects.

Inflammatory diseases

While autoimmune diseases tend to receive more attention regarding the impact of a robust immune system of illness, there are a significant number of diseases characterized by inflammation in their advancement that are frequently overlooked. There is no set definition for an inflammatory disease, but it generally describes a disease where inflammation is a main cause of the symptoms or disease progression. This does not necessarily need to be the body attacking its own cells, like an autoimmune disease, but could be an overreaction to a pathogen or injury that results in detriment to the body.

Sex differences in immune regulation

Current research has uncovered significant differences between male and female physiology, although there is still much to discover. Firstly, sex hormones have large influences on many aspects of human biology. Testosterone and estrogen are known to modulate immune functioning, although the specific details of how they do this and their effects have been mixed (Foo et al., 2017). Testosterone is likely to suppress immune functioning, as expected by the SS-SH theory (Singh et al., 2021). This could play a large part in the male susceptibility to many infectious diseases and cancers. For example, amebic liver abscess is a parasitic disease that has a much higher prevalence rate in men, even though exposure rates to

the parasite are actually higher in females (Thi et al., 2002). The risk of developing this disease is directly proportional to the changes in serum testosterone levels that males experience over their lifetimes (Bernin & Lotter, 2014). This provides strong evidence of testosterone playing a role in the development and susceptibility of this disease. Of course, the relationship between testosterone and diseases overall is not cut-and-dry, there are significant influences of many other factors that determine disease prevalence differences in sex. Regardless, testosterone likely plays a part in this complex system. Estrogen, on the other hand, seems to increase some immune functions and decrease others, depending on the dose, sensitivity of the individual, type of cell, specific estrogen receptor present, and more (Khan et al., 2012). This can have such extreme effects as upregulating cytokines associated with the development of some auto-immune diseases, like lupus (Kassi & Moutsatsou, 2010), and a potential treatment method for others by, for example, reducing inflammatory brains lesions on patients with multiple sclerosis (Gold & Voskuhl, 2009). Pre- and postmenopausal women have decreased M2 (anti-inflammatory) immune activation and heightened M1 (pro-inflammatory) activation, potentially hinting that estrogen may prevent the downregulation of the M2 pathway (Toniolo et al., 2015). Estrogens are also negatively associated with C-reactive protein, a common marker of inflammation (Sproston & Ashworth, 2018). Conversely, estrogen has also been found to positively impact some proinflammatory pathways. It is thought to increase the production of IgM and IgG antibodies (Grimaldi et al., 2002) and increase the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines from T-cells (Neigh et al., 2016). Estrogen administration has been found to increase production of micro RNAs related to systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), a common autoimmune disease (Khan et al., 2015). In response to these contradictory findings, some suggest that estrogens may upregulate immune responses at low levels, but suppress inflammation at high concentrations (Mukhara et al., 2020).

In addition to sex hormones, the number of X chromosomes an individual possesses is suspected of influencing their immune functioning. X chromosomes contain many genes that have either direct or indirect effects on the immune system. Females, with two X copies, were once thought to silence one chromosome to regulate the dosage of X chromosome-genes between sexes, otherwise they would output twice the dose of X chromosome gene product than males, but recent findings indicate otherwise (Berletch et al., 2010; Gartler & Riggs, 1983). It appears that copies of some genes may avoid inactivation, leading to a higher dosage of these genes in females than in males (Bianchi et al., 2012). Given the presence of immune genes within the X chromosome, the effects of genes avoiding inactivation may explain some of the immunity differences between males and females (Libert et al., 2010). Females expressing two copies of immune genes may result in a stronger immune system than males with only one copy. In addition, males do not have the added protection of two X chromosomes to defend against deleterious recessive genes. If males inherit a deleterious mutation in their X chromosome, that mutation will be expressed throughout the entire body. Females on the other hand, have a second, likely non-mutated copy of that gene that may be able to make up for the mutation in the other chromosome. Once again, given that many immune genes exist on the X chromosome, males are more susceptible to experiencing severe immunological effects of X-linked mutations.

Additionally, non-human animals who may have different sex-determining genetic strategies also show sex-biased immune responses (Klein & Flanagan, 2016). Mammals, who generally follow the same XY sex-chromosome pattern as humans, generally show stronger innate immune responses (Gal-Oz et al., 2019) and higher circulating white blood cells in females than males (Nunn et al., 2009). Birds' sexes are determined differently, by Z and W sex chromosomes where females have two different ones and males have two copies of the Z chromosome. One study measuring almost 2000 birds from 97 species found consistent

evidence of female-biased immunity including higher agglutination rates, total white blood cell, lymphocyte, and heterophil counts than males (Vincze et al., 2022). Insects show inconsistent sex-differences in immunological functioning. Some insects, like drosophila, show XX-XY sex-chromosomes (Salz & Erickson, 2010), while others, especially those in eusocial structures, have no sex chromosomes, but instead a haploidiploid sex-determination strategy (Gempe et al., 2009). The queen has two different copies of a *complementary sex determiner (csd)* gene and is responsible for laying the eggs in the colony and produces either fertilized or unfertilized eggs (Beye et al., 2003). The small number of unfertilized eggs become haploid male drones, responsible for mating with the queen, while all the rest must also have different *csd* genes and become worker females (Gempe et al., 2009). Across all these different sex-determination routes, robust differences in male and female reproductive strategies still contribute to sex-specific physiological and genetic traits influencing the immune system and development of disease (Kelly et al., 2018; Klein & Flanagan, 2016).

Additionally, other types of sex-biased expression of genes are incredibly common. A metaanalysis of 2500 samples identified many genes that are differentially expressed in males and females, especially in the brain (Mayne et al., 2016). In one study, sex-specific transcriptome differences were noted in 144 immune-related genes (Bongen et al., 2019). Notably, femaleassociated genes tended to be expressed in higher levels in CD4+T cells, while maleassociated genes were more expressed in myeloid cells. The major histocompatibility (MHC) complex is a vital protein responsible for helping the immune system determine which cells are healthy and belong to the 'self', and which cells are infected, cancerous, or otherwise abnormal and need to be destroyed.

Astrocytes, key neuronal immune cells, also show key differences between sexes in their responses to sex hormones. When exposed to estradiol, female mice upregulated

progesterone synthesis in astrocytes in the hypothalamus (Kuo et al., 2010). Male mice, on the other hand, do not show any change in progesterone with the same treatment of estradiol (Kuo et al., 2010). Furthermore, recent research has begun to suggest strong relationships between astrocyte functioning and psychiatric illnesses, like schizophrenia (Chang et al., 2021). The effects of sex hormones on astrocyte functioning and the relationships between astrocytes and psychiatric illnesses could explain one facet of sex differences in some diseases. Sex hormones play multifaceted roles in the body and likely influence the prevalence, susceptibility, and onset of many diseases.

The specific mechanisms that are responsible for sex differences in immunity are likely complicated and a combination of many factors. That being said, it is not the specific biological processes involved that are being investigated in our research. Instead, we are looking at the *evolutionary pressures* that have led to these mechanisms, and the pattern of effects they have caused in males and females.

Chapter 1.3: Stress factors and their impacts

Both microscopic stress (on a cellular level) and macroscopic stress (on an individual level) play important roles in activating different systems in the body to respond to certain stimuli. Within cells, stress causes cascades of enzyme reactions to take an appropriate response measure to that specific stressor. Similar processes occur on an organism level, but hormones, instead of intracellular enzymes, act in a cascading effect to address the stress. In vertebrates, this complex neuroendocrine system is described as the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Denver, 2009). Stress responses are common in many animals, and have been well studied in some model organisms, like mice, but for the purposes of this study, we will largely be focusing on stress in humans. Through the release of corticotropin releasing factor (CRF), organisms change their physiology and behaviour to keep themselves safe and healthy (Denver, 2009). On a short-term basis, stress is incredibly beneficial by upregulating both the innate and adaptive immune systems (Dhabhar, 2014). Stress becomes problematic when it advances to a chronic state. Long-term stress exposure results in immune dysregulation and low-grade chronic inflammation (Dhabhar, 2014). In the 21st century, humans report experiencing high levels of stress during a large portion of their lives (World Health Organization, 2001). One unfortunate result of this has been predominant mental distress and mental illness. Many mental illnesses are thought to be caused by both experiences of stress and genetic predisposition. Given that stress is so closely associated with both mental disorders and immune regulation, sex differences in immune functioning are likely to affect stress's impact on the body and mind.

Definitions of stress

Some of the first biological recognitions of stress were by Selye (1956). Selye performed experiments by injecting ovarian fluids into other organs and observed the resulting body reaction. He noticed a relatively consistent response even once he switched to using extracts from other body organs and even toxic solutions. These responses were the enlargement of cortical kidney tissues, atrophy of immune structures and ulcer development in the stomach and duodenum. He named this response "general adaptation syndrome" and described the instigators of this syndrome as "evocative agents" (Selye, 1950). Eventually, Selye settled on the definition: "Stress is the non-specific response of the body to any demand made upon it" (Selye, 1950). It may seem counter-intuitive to define stress as a "response" rather than a "trigger" causing a response, but in actuality, stress is a reaction or feeling that comes from exposure to some external prompt, or *stress factor*, as we will refer to it henceforth.

Cohen et al. (1997) expanded on Selye's framework and described stress as "environmental demands [that] tax or exceed the adaptive capacity of an organism, resulting in psychological and biological changes that may place persons at risk for disease" (Cohen et al., 1997, pg. 3). By understanding stress itself, we can finally begin to investigate the relationships between stress and other aspects of physiology.

Stress and disease

Stress is strongly linked to inflammation and disease. When exposed to acute stressors, biological activation of the immune response is intended to help fight off a potential threat, but when a stressor is continuous, the immune system causes chronic inflammation in specific areas or throughout the body which creates detrimental effects (H.-R. Kim et al., 2012).

Chronic psychological and social stress is associated with many diseases. For example, stress is a risk factor for late-onset Alzheimer's disease by inducing inflammation that prevents microglia from supporting synapses (Piirainen et al., 2017). This prevents microglia from preventing the accumulation of amyloid beta, causing even more inflammation (Piirainen et al., 2017). Additionally, irritable bowel patients exposed to psycho-social stress had worse symptoms (Pigrau Pastor, 2019). Additionally, differences in cell and cytokine passage through the blood brain barrier has also been associated with psychiatric illnesses like depression, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia (Dion-Albert et al., 2022). This is especially pertinent in regards to the effects of stress on psychological symptoms. Chronic social stress in mice may induce heightened blood brain barrier leaking, and allow for increased inflammatory cytokines in the brain (Menard et al., 2017). This is also associated with an increase of depressive symptoms. Clearly, stress has important implications in the physiology of disease, especially mental illnesses.

Specific mental illnesses investigated

Our study investigates five diseases, four of which are mental illnesses. In this section, we will provide a detailed breakdown of the classification and research behind each of these mental illnesses.

Schizophrenia and psychotic disorders

Psychotic disorders are considered some of the most severe mental disorders and include several illnesses such as schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, delusional disorders, and more (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Schizophrenia is described as at least two of: delusions, hallucinations, disorganized speech, disorganized or catatonic behaviour, and negative symptoms for at least one month that causes significant dysfunction in livelihood (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Other psychotic disorders within this category include organic psychoses, where the symptoms are caused by an organic factor (e.g., drugs) and alcoholic hallucinosis, where an individual experiences chronic hallucinations caused by long-term alcohol dependency (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). There is also schizoaffective disorder, which is similar in symptoms to schizophrenia but with strong affective features instead of psychotic features. Additionally, delusional disorder describes delusions that could be considered feasible or reasonable although not real. Finally, there are other axis II disorders which involve personality disorders such as schizotypal personality disorder, where a person is eccentric, socially isolated or withdrawn and has odd beliefs (American Psychiatric Association, 2022).

In general, schizophrenia has higher prevalence in males than females, and males have an onset earlier in life (between 16-25) with fewer males diagnosed after 30 (Castle & Buckley, 2015). Females have three approximately equal peaks in onset at ages 16-25, 46-55, and 66-75 (Castle & Buckley, 2015). Additionally, females with schizophrenia tend to have more

manageable symptoms, lower requirement for antipsychotic medication, and a better prognosis than males (X. Li et al., 2022; M. V. Seeman, 2020). This difference may be caused in part by estrogen, which is hypothesized to have anti-psychotic properties thanks to its effects on dopaminergic pathways in the brain.

Trauma and stress have been strongly linked with schizophrenia, especially when it occurs at a young age (Popovic et al., 2019). Childhood trauma has been associated with impaired working memory, executive functioning, verbal learning, and attention capabilities in schizophrenia patients (Popovic et al., 2019). In females, scores in the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (Bernstein et al., 2003) has been correlated with severity of schizophrenia symptoms before treatment, but not in males (Haug et al., 2015).

In addition to trauma, schizophrenia also has a strong link to inflammation. Like with ASD, maternal infections during pregnancy are associated with a diagnosis of schizophrenia in the offspring (A. S. Brown, 2006) and linked with developmental abnormalities, especially in the dopaminergic system (Vuillermot et al., 2010). It is thought that neuroinflammation could disrupt mirror social behaviours, which encourage positive social interactions between individuals (A. S. Brown & Meyer, 2018). Although higher inflammatory markers are associated with schizophrenia in both sexes, there are some differences between them. Females with schizophrenia tend to have higher average inflammatory markers (like high-sensitivity C-reactive protein and interleukin-6) (Lee et al., 2019). They also tend to have greater sleep disturbances compared to males. Other studies have indicated that females with schizophrenia have a positive correlation of inflammatory cytokines with the number and severity of their symptoms (specifically alpha-1-antitrypsin, B lymphocyte chemoattractant BLC, and interleukin-15) while males had a positive correlation of prolactin and testosterone with schizophrenia symptoms (Ramsey et al., 2013).

Additionally, there is some evidence that gene transcription differences between sexes could lead to the sex discrepancy in prevalence. A study measuring genes that were highly expressed in various key neurodevelopmental stages in life found that over half of these genes had sex differences in expression (Jiao et al., 2019). Of the genes that have been previously linked to a higher risk of schizophrenia through GWAS studies, males tended to express these genes earlier in development than females (Jiao et al., 2019).

In conclusion, the physiological components of schizophrenia, although still poorly understood, suggest a strong association with inflammation and potential sex differences in gene expression. As we transition to the next section, we will explore the complexities of bipolar disorder and its distinct manifestations.

Bipolar disorder

Bipolar disorder is a mental illness characterised by cycles of depression and mania (in type I) or hypomania (type II). Mania is a mental state of arousal where a person may become abnormally energetic, irritable, impulsive, and may sometimes involve experiences of psychosis, where one loses touch with reality (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Hypomania is similar to mania, but the symptoms tend to be less severe and the patient is less disrupted in their ability to function (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Mania tends to be more extreme and can often lead to serious consequences like loss of employment, strained relationships, run-ins with the law, injury or health risks, and/or hospitalization.

Bipolar disorder has similar prevalence between sexes, although the disorder symptoms tend to present differently. Manic periods usually involve more depression and anxiety-related symptoms in females, while in males, symptoms are more likely to be motor or psychosisrelated (Arnold, 2003). Importantly, although the sex-bias for this disease is approximately equal, female-dominant symptoms are often considered clinically atypical while more common symptoms in males are considered the norm (Bhattacharya et al., 2011). This could indicate underdiagnosis of females that are not being represented by the current diagnostic criteria. Females tend to experience an earlier onset of bipolar disorder, interestingly opposing the trend seen in schizophrenia where males are often diagnosed earlier in life.

From a neurological perspective, bipolar patients tended to have less activation to emotional stimuli in various brain regions making up cognitive-emotional pathways (Fleck et al., 2018). The structures themselves seemed similar between bipolar patients and control groups but the reaction to stimuli in the frontal, medial temporal, and limbic modules differed (Fleck et al., 2018) It also seems like the prefrontal cortex modulates changes in other brain regions that likely play a role in controlling emotion in people with bipolar disorder (Strakowski et al., 2005). Interestingly, some sex differences in healthy brains seem to reverse in patients with bipolar disorder. Specifically, male adolescent bipolar patients had larger left supramarginal gyrus regions while female adolescent patients had larger right inferior parietal lobe volumes. In general, bipolar patients of both sexes had generally smaller left supramarginal gyri and right inferior parietal lobe volumes than control adolescents (Mitchell et al., 2018). Additionally, glial cell gene expression in males and females tend to differ by sex. Males tended to show higher expression of glial-cell-related genes in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex than females (Zhang et al., 2020). This difference in gene expression was strongly correlated with experiences of psychosis, even when controlling for sex (Zhang et al., 2020). Bipolar patients who experienced less suicidality also had lower gene expression of some microglial genes in the same brain region, the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, in both males and females (Zhang et al., 2020). From a broader neurostructural perspective, female bipolar patients have been found to have smaller, more asymmetrical brains compared to control groups, while males tended to have larger, more symmetrical brains (Mackay et al., 2010).

Inflammation likely also plays a role in bipolar disorder. In general, bipolar patients have higher rates of inflammatory cytokines which indicate higher baseline inflammation (Modabbernia et al., 2013). Patients have also been found to have higher levels of some cytokines during periods of mania than during depressive periods, and even lower levels during periods with little or no symptoms at all (Modabbernia et al., 2013). Conversely, other studies have indicated lower circulating lymphocytes, an important immune cell, in bipolar patients experiencing mania (Abeer et al., 2006). Overall, people with bipolar disorder are more likely to experience inflammatory comorbid diseases than the general population (Eaton et al., 2007). There are some sex differences in inflammation for bipolar patients, although less differences than some other mental illnesses.

In summary, bipolar disorder shows distinct symptom variations between males and females, suggesting the need for gender-informed diagnostic criteria. Neurological differences and the role of inflammation further contribute to this complex disorder.

Depressive disorders

Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) is described by extended periods of low mood, lethargy, irritability, numbness, weight gain or loss, and changes in sleeping and eating habits. These periods often occur multiple times throughout the life, and most commonly begin in adolescence (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). MDD is generally much higher prevalence in females than males.

MDD has been strongly linked to heightened inflammation, but the exact mechanisms are still unknown. In pregnant mothers, higher levels of inflammation, measured through inflammatory cytokines, were correlated with depressive symptoms (Zhang et al., 2020). Those cytokines were also associated with heightened behaviours of negative emotion (e.g., fear, more crying, irritability, etc.) in infants (Zhang et al., 2020). Many mouse model studies have been conducted linking inflammation to depressive behaviours, including lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced sickness behaviours, which describe depression-like symptoms brought on after exposure to cell membrane components of gram-negative bacteria (Caldarone et al., 2000). The bacteria themselves don't cause an infection, as only their membrane is injected into the mice, but the strong immune reaction causes general heightened inflammation, likely leading to these depressive behaviours (Caldarone et al., 2000). Males in particular show more sickness-behaviours when exposed to LPS, while females tend to show higher levels of serum corticosterone, often considered a stress hormone (Caldarone et al., 2000).

Genetics also play a major role in MDD. GWAS studies have identified more than 100 genes that may influence depression, but each likely has a very small effect, largely complicating the disease (Dunn et al., 2020). Other, more specific studies, indicate some genes have slightly larger effects, such as one haplotype of the gene FK506-binding protein 5 (Dunn et al., 2020). This gene had a large association with experiences of suicidality and was present in 47% of tested study participants (Yin et al., 2016). While MDD shows high heritability in both sexes through twin studies, it seems to be more heritable in females than males, where the relative risks are 42% and 29% respectively (Kendler et al., 2006). In more specific searches, homozygous recessive individuals in five genetic markers on chromosomes 17 and 19 demonstrated higher depressive symptoms than heterozygous or homozygous dominant individuals (Kang et al., 2020). Surprisingly, males were particularly vulnerable to the effects of the recessive alleles compared to females (Kang et al., 2020).

Finally, experiences of stress and trauma are strongly associated with the development of MDD. Many mouse model studies indicate chronic mild unpredictable stress leads to depressive symptoms (Willner, 2017). Although experimental studies causing stress to

humans are unethical and cannot be conducted, research indicates that individuals that experience higher levels of stress in their lives naturally are more likely to develop depressive symptoms as well. Importantly, the relationships between trauma exposure and depressive symptoms differ widely by sex. In mice, females develop depressive symptoms when exposed to chronic, mild stress more than two weeks earlier than males do (Hodes et al., 2015). Stress can also induce blood-brain-barrier (BBB) dysfunction, which may be further linked to depression symptoms. Specifically, stress-induced BBB dysfunction has been shown to result in tight junction protein loss between cells, which may increase the access of inflammatory cells and cytokines in the prefrontal cortex of female mice but the nucleus accumbans in male mice (Dion-Albert et al., 2022). Finally, childhood trauma is also linked to susceptibility of MDD with corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor-1 gene variants (Heim, 2009). The presence of this specific allele is associated with decreased cortisol response in males, while females with this allele had even higher levels of cortisol after stress experiences than females without the allele (Heim, 2009). Interestingly, the allele seemed to have little or no effect on people if they did not experience childhood trauma and only affected those who did (Heim, 2009). In conclusion, the association between depressive disorders and heightened inflammation, genetic factors, and sex-specific vulnerabilities highlights the multifaceted nature of their etiology. As we delve into the realm of anxiety disorders, we will explore the intricate interplay between brain structure, stress, trauma exposure, and sex differences, shedding light on the distinct mechanisms underlying these prevalent mental health conditions.

Anxiety disorders

Anxiety disorders fall into a category of illnesses categorized by the DSM-V that includes generalised anxiety disorder (GAD), obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), panic disorder,

post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), social anxiety disorder, and specific phobias (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) is described as difficult to control, high levels of baseline anxiety occurring for the majority of days over at least 6 months about various different events or activities. Next, obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) involves obsessions, which are reoccurring and persistent thoughts, causing distress and often subsequent compulsions, which are repetitive behaviours or mental acts that ease distress from obsessions but are not realistically connected to the event or problem or are excessive (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Panic disorder involves intense acute feelings of fear or discomfort with a sudden onset, shortly reaching a peak and then resolving. The fears from the attacks or apprehensions for future attacks cause severe distress and disrupt livelihood (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Next there is post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) which results after exposure to actual or threatened death, serious injury, or sexual violence either directly or indirectly. It involves reoccurring and distressing memories, dreams, or dissociative reactions associated with the event leading to attempts to avoid any related stimuli of the traumatic event (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). There is also social anxiety disorder where a person experiences a disproportionate fear of social events where they may experience scrutiny by others that causes avoidance of social situations and difficulty functioning (American Psychiatric Association, 2022). Finally, specific phobias are various immediate and extreme fears of an object or situation that is not proportional to the danger of this object or event in reality. This often leads to avoidance behaviours and causes significant distress in important areas of functioning in an individual's life (American Psychiatric Association, 2022).

Surprisingly, there seems to be limited structural differences that have been found between the brains of anxiety disorder patients and control patients. Some few differences include higher volume in gray matter in the dorsal striatum in patients with social anxiety disorder (Bas-Hoogendam et al., 2017). Additionally, there may be sex-specific differences in brain structure that are not noticeable when not stratifying by sex. One study found no differences between GAD patients' and control patients' brains but when modulating by sex, males with GAD had significant increased volume of the right ventral diencephalon, while females did not (Harrewijn et al., 2020). This indicates a need for further research investigating sex differences in the brain structure of anxiety disorder patients.

Existing research has shown strong connections between anxiety and inflammation, but much of the existing research clumps depressive and anxiety symptoms together, especially in animal model studies. Inflammation can be upregulated by stress through cortisol to protect an individual from an injury or an infection, but if that stress continues long-term or there is not a resolution, that stress can become chronic (Michopoulos et al., 2017). There is very little surprise that chronic exposure to stress and trauma positively impact anxiety symptoms. But interestingly, stress impacts anxiety symptoms differently in both sexes. When exposing mice to chronic low levels of stress, males experienced early, sudden weight loss and a decreased preference for sucrose after just one week, while females showed gradual continuous weight loss and loss of sucrose preference over time (Dong et al., 2020). Both sexes also demonstrated differences in hormones and inflammatory biomarkers. Males had decreases in monoamine neurotransmitters, some inflammatory cytokines (TNF-alpha and IL-Beta) while females showed greater activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, higher adrenocorticotropic hormone (Dong et al., 2020), and a reduction in a key hormone in hunger signalling (proopiomelanocortin) mRNA levels in the pituitary gland (Miller et al., 2022). Although the females experience more of a change, both sexes showed decreased sensitivity of the HPA axis to acute stress after exposure to chronic variable stress (Miller et al., 2022).

When investigating humans, a study researching low-income, high-risk adolescents in South Africa were assessed for PTSD and depression symptoms (Hiscox et al., 2021). For these teenagers, PTSD was higher in females, even when controlling for the amount of trauma exposure (Hiscox et al., 2021). After controlling for differences in PTSD symptoms, there was no noticeable difference in depression between males and females (Hiscox et al., 2021). This may indicate a much deeper connection between depression and anxiety and their interactions with stress and trauma exposure. Finally, younger females tend to report more exposure to stress than their male counterparts and higher sensitivity to those exposures, especially regarding peer interactions (Hankin et al., 2007). Another study showed adolescent males experiencing higher levels of lower-intensity chronic stress, while females had higher overall and interpersonal stress (Hankin et al., 2007). This may indicate a heightened female exposure to social stressors that may be particularly impactful for the development of mental health disorders. Anxiety disorders, including generalized anxiety disorder, obsessivecompulsive disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder, significantly impact individuals' lives. While limited structural differences have been found in the brains of anxiety disorder patients, the role of stress, trauma, and inflammation cannot be overlooked.

Sex differences in stress

Although it is now well established that inflammation plays a complex role in many mental illnesses (Costello et al., 2019; Firth et al., 2019; Goldsmith et al., 2016; Strawbridge et al., 2015), responses can differ widely between sexes. For example, females have been shown to experience more severe depressive symptoms than males when treated with interferons, a cytokine that promotes inflammatory anti-viral action, during an infection (Koskinas et al., 2002; Udina et al., 2012).Unfortunately, many seemingly contradictory results have been found that muddy the relationship between the immune and neurological systems. For

example, some clinical trials treating mental illness with anti-inflammatory agents show promising results, while others show no difference after treatment (Eyre et al., 2015; Kohler et al., 2014). Additionally, some researchers found exposure to chronic stress was associated with an increase of T-regulatory cells which serve to control the immune system and prevent overreaction (H.-R. Kim et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2016). But another study found a decrease in lymphocyte T regulatory cells, specifically, after chronic psychosocial stress (Schmidt et al., 2010). Interestingly, most of the mice-model studies that found primarily neutral or immunosuppressive effects of psychosocial were only including males in their experiments (Ajmone-Cat et al., 2019; Langgartner et al., 2019; Sarjan & Yajurvedi, 2018; Schmidt et al., 2016). This may indicate an uninvestigated sex-dependent response, a facet that our study aims to address.

Stress factors investigated in this study

In our study, we used six measures of stress: Alcohol use, bullying victimization, child and maternal mortality, childhood sexual assault, drug use, and poverty. The reasoning for the inclusion of each of these factors will be covered in *Chapter 2: Methodology*. Here, we will provide a relevant summary of the literature related to sex differences, inflammation, and disease interactions with each of our stress factors.

Alcohol and drug use

The use of alcohol and illicit drugs are common throughout the world, but have differing effects based on the sex, wealth, and stress experiences of the person using them. Males have been found to have higher general drug use rates of almost every illicit drug, but even so, the effects of drugs on females can be substantially different (CBHSQ, 2016). The behaviours of females in different stages of drug use also differ from males. Females tend to start using at lower doses, but escalate to addiction quicker, and experience higher risk of relapse to

addiction than males (Becker & Hu, 2008). Some research also suggests that estradiol increases the motivation to take some drugs, like cocaine (Becker & Hu, 2008). Due to heightened responsibility in the home and higher standards of behaviour in public in women, it is possible that increased drug use has higher social consequences on women than men (Becker et al., 2016). This could serve to drug use in females, but potentially also increase the consequences of ingesting those drugs in people who still choose to do so. It is also worthwhile to consider the impact of incapacitation on the safety of females in comparison with males. While both are vulnerable to danger in this state, drunk or high females are much more likely to experience assault than males (Abbey, 2002). The impacts of trauma of this kind can have tremendous impacts on the body, including the inflammatory system, potentially demonstrating one cause of the female sensitivity to drug use.

In general, alcohol use disorders are higher in males, but the rate of increase has been much higher in females recently. Interestingly, females are more sensitive to the effects of alcohol use than males. Investigations as to what is causing this difference in sexes have not been conclusive. In males, chronic alcohol use is associated with decreases in testosterone and estradiol levels (La Vignera et al., 2013), while females experience the opposite (Muti et al., 1998). This split in alcohol's effects on sex hormones may contribute to the differences in the effects of alcohol on disease rates. Although it's unlikely to just be one factor, it is very possible that the social, psychological, and physical stress that people experience from alcohol use is more impactful in the bodies of women, resulting in higher rates of disease. Interestingly, the three diseases with similar effects of alcohol use are the three female-biased illnesses included in the study. This may further indicate the importance of stress factors like alcohol use on the sex differences of inflammatory disorders. Future investigation of alcohol and drug use with other autoimmune diseases and male-biased diseases would be helpful to clarify this relationship.

In regards to the interactions between substance use and inflammation, illicit or recreational drugs that are used vary wildly in their effects on the body, and therefore their effects on the immune system. A ketamine analog was found to upregulate pro-inflammatory cytokines in mice (Wang et al., 2017), and injection drug users have been found to have higher rates of systemic inflammation than non-injection drug users (Piepenbrink et al., 2016). While other drugs like Salvia (Salvia divinorum) (Coffeen & Pellicer, 2019), a hallucinogenic drug from Mexico, and marijuana (Cannabis sativa) (Alshaarawy et al., 2019) are both associated with slight anti-inflammatory effects. Alcohol consumption also shows a mix of effects on inflammation. A study of HIV patients associated heavy alcohol use with high inflammatory cytokines (So-Armah et al., 2019), and a study exposing patients to the common cold found those that regularly consumed moderate levels of alcohol were less likely to develop disease symptoms from an infection (Cohen et al., 1993). It seems that ethanol activates the innate immune system, leading inflammatory mediators and cytokines in the cerebral cortex, resulting in neuroinflammation (Alfonso-Loeches et al., 2012). There are also important sex differences in the effects of alcohol on inflammation. While chronic alcohol use is associated with neuroinflammation in both sexes, the effect is larger in females than in males (Alfonso-Loeches et al., 2010). This could be an effect of estrogen. A rat-model study found that fetal male microglia and astrocytes exposed to alcohol produced more inflammatory cytokines than females, but when exposed to varying levels of estrogen during development, antiinflammatory effects were found in males, while pro-inflammatory effects were found in females (Loram et al., 2012). Not all of the effects of alcohol are pro-inflammatory. One study found that acute moderate alcohol use is linked with decreased inflammatory cytokine production when exposed to bacterial stimulation 16 hours after alcohol consumption (Szabo, 1998). This does not necessarily contradict the pro-inflammatory effects of alcohol other studies have found. It is possible that shortly after alcohol consumption, there is an anti-
inflammatory effect, but longer-term use results in pro-inflammatory effects. In addition to the relationship between drug and alcohol use with inflammation, the use of substances can also be linked to psychological and social stresses.

Many people consume substances socially, and others use them in response to stressful life experiences. Marginalized groups, such as African Americans (Mulia et al., 2008), Asian Americans (Chae et al., 2008; Gee et al., 2007; Yoo et al., 2010), Latin-Americans (Mulia et al., 2008)(Mulia et al., 2008), and people in the LGBTQIA+ community (McCabe et al., 2010) who experienced discrimination consumed much more alcohol than people not experiencing discrimination. The rates of alcohol consumption also increased with added discriminatory exposure. Additionally, the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions showed a clear positive relationship with the number of stressors a person experiences within a year and their alcohol consumption amount (Dawson et al., 2005). It also differs by sex, where each additional stressor predicts an increased frequency of heavy drinking of 24% in males and 13% in females. Notably, this increase is only true for heavy drinking episodes. Moderate drinking frequency actually decreased with increases in stress levels (Dawson et al., 2005). If the higher relationship between alcohol consumption and disease rates in females were only attributable to females drinking more alcohol in response to stress, we would expect to see a stronger association between drinking and stress in females than males. Considering that males actually have higher drinking rates when exposed to greater stress levels, it's likely that there's more to this relationship. We predict that the influence of the immune system, heightened by stress, is a big contributor to the relationship between substance use and disease in females.

The reasons that people stress-drink also differ by sex. Females report drinking to deal with social and health related stressors, while males report drinking more for job-related and legal

stressors (Dawson et al., 2005). People with incomes below the poverty line have exacerbated effects of these job-related stressors, demonstrating an impact between poverty, alcohol, and stress. But it is of note that wealthier countries have generally higher rates of alcohol and drug consumption, muddying the relationship between disease, stress, substance use, and poverty.

Bullying victimization

Experiencing bullying is a hurtful scenario that can take decades to emotionally or mentally heal from. In general, both people who experience bullying victimization and those who perpetrate bullying are more likely to have a history of abuse and family history of mental illness (Ezeokoli-Ashraph et al., 2019). These effects are not equal in males and females. Males tend to be involved in bullying (either as a victim or perpetrator) than females, but female bullying tends to be emotional or relational, while males tend to engage in physical bullying (Yang et al., 2022). Following this trend, females experience more emotional difficulties when bullied than males who experience more behavioural difficulties (S. Kim et al., 2018). Importantly, it seems that females generally experience more mental health consequences of bullying victimization than males (Eyuboglu et al., 2021). In fact, females who experience childhood bullying are more likely to die by suicide as an adult, even when controlling for depressive symptoms, while males' rates of suicide after bullying are dependent on depression. A possible cause of this is differences in inflammation caused by the stress of experiencing bullying (Klomek et al., 2009). As adults, females who have been bullied have higher average levels of C-reactive protein, one measure of inflammation, than females who haven't experienced bullying (Baldwin et al., 2018). Males, on the other hand, don't show this trend.

Child and maternal mortality

Child and maternal mortality (CMM) rates are closely intertwined with experiences of stress. Research shows that increased stress exposure predicts heightened risk for maternal morbidity (Lawrence et al., 2019) and that the death of a mother during childbirth contributes to poor physical and mental health for the partner and children of the deceased (Zhou et al., 2016). Child and maternal mortality rates are also very closely tied to racial and gender-based discrimination. Countries with higher gender equality rates, through measures like education levels, employment and governance opportunities, child marriage rates and more, have lower risks of CMM (Bagade et al., 2022). Racial disparities in maternal mortality are wide, including in high-income countries. In the United States, Black women experience approximately 3x the rate of maternal mortality during childbirth than White women (Hoyert, 2023). The causes of this are multifaceted, but include general higher poverty rates for Black women, racial bias in healthcare practices, and higher exposure to social and environmental risks (Taylor, 2020). Considering that women are the people directly affected by this risk of death, the impact it has is different in both sexes. Men whose partners die through maternal mortality deal with high amounts of psychosocial stress of losing their loved one, and the stress of being a single parent. Of course, this assumes a heterosexual monogamous relationship that does not accurately reflect every single person's situation, but it does represent the majority of relationship dynamics. The remaining children of a mother who dies during childbirth can be male or female and are exposed to the trauma of losing their mother. Traumatic losses such as these early in life can have detrimental long-term effects far into adulthood (Bagade et al., 2022). Finally, the racial and class discrimination that contributes to these higher rates of maternal mortalities affect both males and females, but the sex discrimination only affects women. Clearly the impact of child and maternal mortality is multi-faceted and affects males and females very differently.

Childhood sexual assault

Childhood sexual assault (CSA) is unfortunately common in most countries around the world. Many studies have linked a history of childhood sexual assault with mental and physical health risks in adults (Coid et al., 2001). Experiencing CSA also tends to associate with higher risks of being abused as an adult, too. Adults who were sexually abused as children are twice as likely to experience intimate partner violence and have poorer health during and after pregnancy (Barrios et al., 2015). Adverse childhood experiences of any kind have been found to predict both domestic and peer violence (Zietz et al., 2020). These effects are not equal for males and females. Considering that childhood sexual assault is more commonly experienced in females (Gilbert et al., 2009), it is probable that the global impact of this experience effects females more than males. But even of those individuals that experience childhood sexual assault, females tend to experience more severe mental consequences than males (Sari Gokten & Saday Duman, 2016), although not all studies have found this difference (Mersky et al., 2013). This effect could stem from the impact of childhood sexual assault on inflammation. Childhood sexual assault has been positively associated with inflammatory markers like interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (Baumeister et al., 2016). CSA has far-reaching effects on the mental and physical well-being of survivors, with a higher prevalence and more severe consequences observed among females, potentially linked to the inflammatory impact of these traumatic experiences.

Poverty and wealth

Current literature finds rates of autoimmune diseases higher in wealthier countries, which would seem counter intuitive given the higher rates of stress faced by people in impoverished countries. One explanation for this is the *hygiene hypothesis*. This hypothesis posits that people exposed to infectious diseases and diverse pathogens (potentially through less robust hygiene practices) have lower rates of autoimmune diseases and allergies (Rook, 2009). This exposure to diverse pathogens during development desensitizing the immune system, can result in less sensitive immune responses to potentially allergenic compounds (Rook, 2009). Poorer countries generally have higher rates of infectious diseases and less robust hygiene practices, likely due to lower education levels and lower access to resources. The hygiene hypothesis would predict that these locations would see lower rates of autoimmune diseases (e.g., type 1 diabetes, multiple sclerosis) and allergies, which is indeed reflected in the data (Bach, 2002; Rook, 2009). It may seem that a genetic difference in populations could explain this varied rate of disease, but Silman et al. (1993) found through monozygotic twin studies, only around 15-30% of RA is attributable to genetics. In further evidence to the importance of environmental factors in the development of autoimmune diseases, studies following immigrants travelling from lower-autoimmune-incidence places to higher-autoimmune-incidence places find that rates of autoimmune diseases in these migrant populations rapidly approach the rates of disease in the general population in these locations, particularly by generation one (Bodansky et al., 1992).

The hygiene hypothesis has been highly scrutinized, though, as seemingly contradictory studies have found that infections can trigger autoimmune diseases for some people (Vatanen et al., 2016). Overzealous immune reactions to pathogens can kick start people's immune systems into reacting to antigens naturally occurring within the body, causing autoimmune diseases. Some have adjusted this hypothesis to say that it is particularly exposure to harmless or even helpful diverse microbes during development that lead to lowered rates of autoimmune and allergenic reactions instead of exposure to any microbes, including harmful ones (Vatanen et al., 2016).

In conclusion, our study examines several stress factors that may play a role in the development of inflammatory disorders. We have explored the literature and provided an overview of each stress factor, including alcohol and drug use, bullying victimization, child and maternal mortality, childhood sexual assault, and poverty. These stress factors provide a foundation for our study, and their interactions with inflammation and disease will be further investigated in the subsequent chapters.

Chapter 1.4: Evolution of sex-biased diseases and mental disorders

For much of human history, our largest concerns looked nothing like those present today. Daily threats involved escaping predators, fighting disease, and maintaining relationships with our closely knit social circles, often limited to our immediate families. Over time, our physiology evolved to best respond to these environments. The more energy and resources our bodies could dedicate to fighting infection, fending off predators, or healing an injury, the more likely we were to survive and pass on those genes to the next generation. Ultimately, each of these processes were likely activated by stress–either on microscopic levels (by pathogens) or macroscopic levels (by injury)—and resulted in a rush of inflammatory agents that, over time, changed our bodies' energy allocation to best react to the threat at hand (Okin & Medzhitov, 2012).

Although the responses that we experience towards threats can help us survive, they work by dominating the body's resources. While sometimes necessary, this can be detrimental when there are other energy-costly biological functions that we want to perform. Males are especially susceptible to this, as the energy they require for sexual selection is often immense (Darwin, 1871). From an evolutionary perspective, female individuals of a species are likely to invest more energy and resources into oocyte development, gestation, and offspring rearing

than males (Henshaw et al., 2019). The result from this trend is females being pickier with their mating partner and having a relatively consistent rate of reproduction (Kokko & Jennions, 2008). Males, on the other hand, generally pass on their genes if they can access females to mate with. Depending on the species, different traits or characteristics are seen as attractive to females, so males who are most successful with these traits/behaviours succeed in getting to mate. Over many generations, males with the strongest/most extreme traits are selected for in the population (Berglund et al., 1996). Much of the time, the traits/behaviours that are selected for require a lot of energy, time, and/or expose the organism to increased danger (Berglund et al., 1996). These costly traits/behaviours are still worthwhile for males, as living a longer life is useless if a male can't access any females to mate with (Bonduriansky et al., 2008). For this reason, males may have selected for weaker inflammatory responses in order to balance their energy expenditure between survival and reproduction. Although females usually invest more energy into developing and rearing offspring, their relatively steady rate of reproduction and easily accessible mates mean that a longer lifespan is much more beneficial to females than males (Bonduriansky et al., 2008). Therefore, females may have been selected opposite to males to develop a stronger immune system.

This sex-specific reproduction description is simplified and generalized to animals across an evolutionary timescale of hundreds of millions of years. It does not represent the unique familial relationships that individual species or groups of species may form, but instead represents the background of mating principles and practices. It should be noted that males may provide valuable resources for offspring in some species, which would increase selective pressure for longevity in those males. In other animals, though, females are solely responsible for all rearing efforts of offspring. For the purposes of this study, we are mainly considering a generalization of male and female reproduction strategies that compares selective pressures

as a product of large gamete size and child rearing being more commonly female responsibilities.

Over the last few thousand years, rapid advancements in technology have radically transformed our everyday lives. Although our cultures may have evolved quickly, biological evolution is temporally limited (Darwin, 1859). Because of this, our physiology is un-ideal for our present society. We are less likely to experience infection than our ancestors, and better equipped to treat it using modern medicine, so the strong immune system that females developed may overreact to stresses and cause harm. Likewise, we are living much longer lives now, but males' prioritization of early life reproductive fitness may leave them more susceptible to late-life disease. Many diseases that plague humanity today reflect these evolutionary pressures.

Females consistently have a longer average lifespan than males, regardless of location and males tend to experience higher prevalence of most diseases (Austad & Fischer, 2016). But some select diseases are significantly higher in females than in males. These diseases tend to show key similarities surrounding increased levels of inflammation (Austad & Fischer, 2016), and links have been found that relate sex hormones with both inflammation and stress (Cutolo & Straub, 2020; Slavich & Sacher, 2019). It has been largely accepted that stress plays a role in immune responses, but the specific response differences by sex are largely unknown.

Health research on causes of sex-differences has largely focussed on genetics and physiology and a formal sexual selection-based theory giving rise to gender differences in disease prevalence has been described as the *Sexual Selection-Sex Hormone* (SS-SH) theory by Singh et al. (2021). This two-part theory describes male predisposition to many diseases and disorders as an effect of their reproductive-focused evolution. The predominance of late-life

37

diseases in males likely caused increased rates of antagonistic responses to male-driven mutations by females in order to promote their sex-specific fitness ideal (Singh et al., 2021). These evolutionary antagonistic responses between males and females have likely resulted in many of the sex differences in physiology that we see today.

Chapter 1.5: The grand theory of sex-biased diseases and mental disorders

The concepts discussed thus far have resulted in the development of the Sexual Selection-Sex Hormone- Social Stress (SS-SH-SS) Theory initially proposed by Singh et al. (2021) and expanded by Brown et al. (2022). This theory brings together the reasons why there are sexbiased diseases and underlines how sexual selection has pushed for females to develop stronger immune systems and males to develop weaker immune systems through sexual development, sex hormones, sex-specific genetic and transcriptome differences. Singh et al.'s (2021) SS-SH Theory did not consider how stress plays a role in sex-biased diseases, but we know that, in today's society, stress is such a huge part of our daily lives and also how our bodies function, fight, and develop diseases. Especially when mental disorders are considered, there are no illnesses that are separate from stress because of how intertwined stress and neurological functioning are. Solely using sexual selection and sex hormones to map differences in sex-biased mental disorder prevalence rates, cannot represent the whole story because it misses a critical component - sex-biased experience. The theory was expanded to include these vital components of psychological and social stress to become a combined SS-SH-SS Theory (Brown et al. 2022).

The combined SS-SH-SS theory describes how stress interacts with immune predispositions to create the sex differences in disease prevalence that we see today. Because females are predisposed to a more robust immune response, their exposure to stress has a stronger impact on inflammation and this causes diseases related to inflammation and autoimmunity to have higher prevalence rates. At the same time, this same process causes infections and cancers to have lower prevalence rates in females. Males are less predisposed to inflammatory diseases, like many mental illnesses and autoimmune disorders, but are subsequently more predisposed to cancers and infections. The psychosocial stress component of this theory covers a threepart mechanism of how stress may impact the established theory, where 1) females may be biologically predisposed to be physically sensitive to stress. If exposed to the same type and level of stress, females will exhibit a higher immune response and more disease from that. 2) Sexes are exposed to the same environmental level of stress but females perceive it to be more extreme, so bodily systems react to it as if it is environmentally higher levels of stress. 3) Females are exposed to overall more stressors that impacts their immune responses in a more robust manner. These three mechanisms are not separate, but all three play a role together to impact the sex prevalence of different diseases.

Chapter 1.6: Objectives

In this study, we seek to investigate how variation in stress level correlates with femalebiased diseases in global populations to determine if the female susceptibility to these diseases may be caused in part by exposure to stress and/or trauma. The SS-SH-SS theory predicts that females have developed a stronger immune system through antagonistic evolution to protect themselves from the male drive for reproduction but have higher susceptibility originating from sexual hormones and social stress. With the higher rate of chronic social stress in current society, women are particularly vulnerable to an array of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. We are looking to explore 5 diseases' prevalence rates in 198 countries in both males and females and compare these to stress factors. These include 3 female-biased illnesses: rheumatoid arthritis, MDD, anxiety disorders, 1 sex-equal prevalence illness: bipolar disorder, and 1 male-biased mental illness: schizophrenia.

Chapter 2: Methodology

In our study, we aim to investigate the relationships between sex-biased inflammatory diseases with psychosocial exposure to stress. In doing so, we collected 26 years of prevalence rates of diseases and exposures to stress in hundreds of countries. Using these data, we conducted a series of generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) to evaluate how the influence of stress differs between sexes. Next, we conducted a principal component analysis (PCA) to explore the relationships between stress factors. Finally, we created a series of new GLMMs where the predictor variables are the principal components from the earlier analysis. In doing each model, we aim to investigate the sex differences in diseases influenced by stress exposure.

Chapter 2.1: Data collection

Disease data

Data for this study was acquired from The Global Burden of Disease Study (Vos et al., 2020; GBD) and the World Bank. Using the Global Health Data Exchange (GHDx) results tool (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), 2021), age-standardized MDD, combined anxiety disorders, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and rheumatoid arthritis prevalence rates per 100,000 people in males and females were collected from 204 countries for each year from 1990-2019. The GBD study used government censes, telephone surveys, mailed surveys, individual meetings, and hospital data with DSM- and WHO-validated metrics of diagnosis to calculate the prevalence of illness in each country. They then compiled this data from all the sources and used sex ratio analyses, age-sex splitting, and bias correction analyses, where applicable, to determine the prevalence rates for each country, sex, and year. Although mental illnesses are of particular focus for us, they are extraordinarily

complex in the two-way interactions between disease prevalence and stress factors. We are intending to study the indirect effects of stress on disease through inflammation, but there is existing literature that highlights a direct cause of mental illness from stress factors. For example, people who experience some mental illnesses are more likely to self-medicate with drugs and alcohol than the general population (Swendsen et al., 2010). For these reasons, we decided to initially investigate rheumatoid arthritis, our inflammatory non-mental illness, as a baseline. For the purposes of our model, we are assuming that there are fewer two-way interactions between our stress factors directly leading to rheumatoid arthritis, and rheumatoid arthritis directly causing an increase in stress factors than most mental illnesses.

Stress factor data

To determine the stress factors to use in this project, we searched current literature to find validated assessments of stress and trauma. We evaluated the questions of each assessment to determine exposures that were considered stressful or traumatic and compared between all the assessments. If particular exposures were listed in multiple assessments, they were considered primary contenders of stressful events in our study. The assessments used were the Traumatic Life Events Checklist, Stressful Life Events Screening Questionnaire, Happiness Report, Stress Module of Patient Health Questionnaire (Beutel et al., 2018), Bernstein Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (Bernstein et al., 2003), and Perceived Stress Scale (Schneider et al., 2020). We also included large sample-size studies assessing links between psychosocial stress factors and diseases to further determine common experiences of stress (Johansson et al., 2013; Öhlin et al., 2004; Rosengren et al., 2004; Von Korff et al., 2009). From this, we determined common themes of stressful events and, when necessary, translated them to more generalizable experiences of stress (e.g., widowhood becomes death of spouse). We then searched publicly available data from the GBD database to find similar

or exact matches of global records of each stress factor. The final list of available stress factors for use in our study included childhood exposure to stress (childhood sexual abuse, bullying victimization), social stress affecting an adult's self, friends and/or family (child and maternal mortality, loved-one with addiction to drugs or alcohol), and societal injustices and access to resources (country wealth). These stress factors are either measured in summary exposure value (SEV) or in prevalence rate per 100,000 people. SEV is a metric developed by the GBD study and it represents the relative risk of experiencing a certain stressor and the risk of harm that experience may cause. It is given as a percentage, where 0% is no chance of exposure and/or no negative consequence of the experience.

Data from the World Bank covers income through GDP per capita. The data from The World Bank was collected primarily by income surveys conducted by individual governments supplemented by trade, industrial, and agricultural censes. Income from the World Bank is measured in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) Purchasing Power Parity (PPP) per capita (in 2011 international \$) from the years 1990 – 2015 in 201 countries. GDP per capita is calculated by dividing the GDP PPP of each country by the population mid-year.

Given that World Bank data is only available between 1990-2015, mental illness prevalence data from years 2016-2019 will not be included. Additionally, the statuses of various countries are not consistent between data sources, so countries that are included in one databank and not the other were also removed. These countries are Niue, North Mariana Islands, Guam, American Samoa, South Sudan, Tokelau, and Taiwan. Many of the countries included in the dataset are labelled with different official country titles, so those will be modified to be consistent between both datasets.

Data cleaning

Each disease and stress factor were mean-centered and scaled by standard deviation in order to allow for fair comparisons using metrics of different units (e.g., stress factors in prevalence rate per 100,000 people vs. summary exposure value). Additionally, a logarithm base-10 function was applied to transform GDP per capita. When dealing with wealth, the larger the values, the less difference each dollar makes. For example, a change of \$1000 in a country with an average GDP per capita of \$5000 represents a 20% change, whereas the same monetary change to a country with a GDP per capita of \$50,000 only represents a 2% change. By log-transforming the values, we lessened the change in value of a single dollar.

Chapter 2.2: Data analysis

Hypothesis

The aim of this study was to examine the relationship between stress factors and diseases, focusing on the potential differences between males and females. Specifically, we sought to determine whether varying levels of stress contribute differently to the prevalence of diseases in males **vs.** females. Considering the known associations between mental illnesses, inflammation, and heightened immune responses in females, our hypothesis posited that increased stress would have a greater impact on disease prevalence in females compared to males.

Descriptive statistics

Before creating our disease models, we first investigated the data to determine their structure and patterns. This is necessary as the assumptions used in many statistical models require specific criteria to be met with the data. If these assumptions do not hold, we must transform the data or the model to remedy these discrepancies and keep the models as accurate and appropriate as possible.

Outliers

Each disease showed country outliers in both males and females. For the purposes of this study, outliers were defined as datapoints that fall outside of the interquartile range, described in Equation 1. For MDD, six female and eight male outlier locations were identified. Anxiety disorder outliers were more numerous, with 13 female outlier locations and 16 male outlier locations. Interestingly, there was only one outlier for both males and females with bipolar disorder, and that was New Zealand. Schizophrenia had 4 outlier locations in females and 7 in males. Finally, there were 4 locations in females and 12 in males with rheumatoid arthritis. A break down of each outlier for each disease can be found in Table A. 1.

$$Outliers = q_{0.25} - 1.5 \cdot IQR; \ q_{0.75} + 1.5 \cdot IQR \tag{1}$$

Equation 1: Calculating outliers, where q0.25 refers to the maximum value of the first quartile, q0.75 refers to the minimum value of the last quartile, and IQR, which refers to the interquartile range, calculated by subtracting q0.25 from q0.75.

Difference in disease variances between sexes

To reduce the violations of the expectations that come with a linear model, an awareness of the difference in variable variances in important. To do this, we conducted a series of Cleveland dot plots (Cleveland & McGill, 1984) and density plots (Brandon, 1996) to visualize the difference in spread for each disease (Figure 1). To quantify this assessment, Levene's tests for homogeneity of variance were used (Levene, 1960). Each disease showed significant heterogeneity with a p-value < 2.2e-16 (Table 1). Visually, the plots showed a considerable difference in spread between females and males for most diseases except for

bipolar disorder and schizophrenia which showed a spread that was approximately equal. That being said, both males and females showed unusual patterns in the data for these same two diseases, even though they matched each other. There seemed to be 3 separate peaks in density in the bipolar data, and 2 peaks in the schizophrenia data. This could violate the expectation that the data forms a simple normal distribution. To address some of the concerns regarding variance discrepancies between sexes, we decided to include sex as a dispersion parameter in our modelling for our diseases.



Figure 1: The distribution of scaled mean-centered data for each disease in males and females.

Table 1. Results of Levene's test for homogeneity of variance comparing differences in the variation of data in males and females.

Disease	F value	p-value
Depression	625.02	< 2.2e-16
Anxiety	1721.4	< 2.2e-16

Bipolar	816.26	< 2.2e-16
Schizophrenia	36.172	< 2.2e-16
Rheumatoid Arthritis	2524.4	< 2.2e-16

Substantial heteroskedasticity was observed for each disease between sexes. To account for this, we added sex as a dispersion parameter for our models. This accounts for differences in the spread of data for both sexes in the creation of the model.

Predictor correlation

One expected complication that we encountered was multicollinearity between predictors. We expected to find a relationship between countries with higher childhood sexual abuse and higher uses of alcohol and drugs, for example. Many of these predictors do not exist in a vacuum, and people who experience stressful situations may be more predisposed to face more stressful experiences in the future. To assess this, we evaluated the correlation pairs for each predictor variable with one another (Table 2). None of the correlations were higher than 70%. We determined that correlations of this level were not a large concern for our dataset and that we could move on with our model selection.

	Alcohol Use (AU)	Bullying Victimization (BV)	Child and Maternal Mortality (CMM)	Childhood Sexual Abuse (CSA)	Drug Use (DU)	Log of GDP per capita (LogGDP)
AU	1.00	0.22	-0.61	-0.11	0.56	0.44
BV	0.22	1.00	-0.30	-0.02	0.19	0.11
СММ	-0.61	-0.30	1.00	0.16	-0.37	-0.34

Table 2: Correlation matrix between predictor variables. 1.00 indicates perfect correlation and 0 indicates no correlation.

CSA	-0.11	-0.02	0.16	1.00	-0.16	-0.27
DU	0.56	0.19	-0.37	-0.16	1.00	0.45
LogGDP	0.44	0.11	-0.34	-0.27	0.45	1.00

Error correlation structure

We are using multiple years' data in our analysis, so we expected to see a relationship between successive years, where a value is more likely to be similar to another value from the next or previous year, than one with 15 years in between. To try and combat any bias from this structure, we chose to add Year as a fixed effect term in our model and to include a term of (1 | Year) as a random effect to allow for small random fluctuations in the levels of disease for each year.

Generalized linear mixed models

The generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) are used to determine linear relationships between predictor variables (in our case, stress factors and sex), and response variables (diseases) in complex scenarios. Mixed models allow for fixed and random effects, which are necessary when each data point is not entirely independent from one another.

The final component of the data analysis was the model selection and completion using R version 4.1.2 (R Core Team, 2021) using the package 'glmmTMB' (M. E. Brooks et al., 2017). The first model that we created was rheumatoid arthritis, the female-biased disease that we used as a 'control' because we assume this disease is influenced less by two-way interactions between our included stress factors and our mental illnesses. After RA, the mental illnesses were modeled.

Rheumatoid arthritis model

Within this section, we will explain the process of determining our first model, the comparison of slight variations of this original model, and the selection of the best-fitting model that we created.

The fixed effects of the model are an interaction between sex with each of the stress factors, and year. The primary purpose of the model was to determine the effects of stress as a whole on disease, not necessarily the effects of each stress factor individually, nor the effect of just sex on each disease (Equation 2). Year was included in the main effects of the model because disease prevalence changed slightly over time. Likely due to technological advancements, international aid to less-wealthy countries, and cultural shifts, disease rates slowly decreased over time, and this was accounted for by including year as a main effect in the model. The random effects included (1 + Sex + -Log of GDP | Location), which serves to allow for slight random variations in disease prevalence rates by location for each sex and the wealth of each country Additionally, having the "1" term before the pipe allows some random variation in the initial rates of disease for different countries. We also added (1 | Year) which accounts for small fluctuating changes in disease variation over time and (1 | Region) which serves to allow for some interactions between countries that share a general region and considers that these may experience higher rates of similarity due to shared culture, environment, resources, etc. This initial model is represented in Equation 2.

Equation 2. Generalized linear model predicting disease from the interactions of sex and stress factors. In the term Zb_j , Z refers to a known design matrix and b_j refers to an unknown vector of random effects parameters. ϵ_{ij} refers to the variance equation. The subscript 'i' indicates the value for each location and the subscript 'j' indicates the value for each sex. AU stands for alcohol use, BV stands for bullying victimization, CMM stands for child and maternal mortality, CSA stands for childhood sexual abuse, DU stands for drug use, and NegLogGDP refers to the log10 of GDP per capita for each country multiplied by -1.

$$\begin{split} Disease_{ij} &= \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ sex_{ij} + \beta_2 AU_{ij} + \beta_3 BV_{ij} + \beta_4 CMM_{ij} + \beta_5 CSA_{ij} + \beta_6 DU_{ij} \\ &+ \beta_7 NegLogGDP_i + \beta_8 sex_{ij} AU_{ij} + \beta_9 sex_{ij} BV_{ij} + \beta_{10} sex_{ij} CMM_{ij} \\ &+ \beta_{11} sex_{ij} CSA_{ij} + \beta_{12} sex_{ij} DU_{ij} + \beta_8 sex_{ij} NegLogGDP_i + Zb_j + \epsilon_{ij} \end{split}$$

After creating the primary model, we created 3 models with slight variations on this, to compare and contrast. Model 1 was considered to be the base model, which was explained above. Model 2 was similar to model 1, but the random effect term (1 + Sex + NegLogGDP)Location) had "diag" added to it. This creates a covariance structure where only the diagonal of the matrix of this term is considered, attempting to reduce any issues with covariance within this term. Next, model 3 was similar to model 1 but a new term using autoregression correlation structure of AR1(Years + 0 | Years1) was included. Any particular data for a year is more likely to be similar to the year just before or after it than the value from a year 15 years away. For that reason, there is non-independence between subsequent years' data. Adding an autoregression covariance term aims to address this. It creates a matrix of linearly decreasing correlation values for every subsequent time point before and after any other time point (time here being years). Years1 is a vector of just the number "1" for every single row in the dataset. The purpose of this vector is to allow for a global relationship between the values of each disease prevalence rate and the autoregression1. This creates a covariance matrix where the parameter of this term is increased by a power of 1 each step away from the diagonal of the matrix. Finally, model 4 was almost identical to model 3, but instead of using (Years + 0 | Years1), the covariance term was (Years + 0 | Region).

Upon running each model, we found model 3 (base model with an added ar1 covariance random effect term with (Years + 0 | Years1) did not converge and was ultimately determined to not be a viable model to continue forward with. Using the remaining 3 models, we calculated the small-sample corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc) (Akaike, 1973;

Hurvich & Tsai, 1989), difference in AICc between the model with the lowest AICc and each of the others (Delta_AICc), the weight of the AICc (AICcWt) and loglikelihood density of each model (Table 3). AIC is a calculation of the log maximum likelihood estimate of the model (a measure of the goodness of fit of the data) subtracted by the number of covariance parameters (Equation 3.1). Subtracting by the number of parameters attempts to account for overfitted models by penalizing models with excessive terms. AICc uses the value of AIC but adjusts for a smaller sample size as one of the assumptions of AIC is an infinite sample size (Equation 3.2). Delta AICc represents the difference between the model with the lowest AICc and each other model. AICc weight is the amount of predictive power that each model contains compared to the predictive power of all of the models combined (AICcWt). The loglikelihood density is log transformation of an estimate of the probability each observed datapoint falls within the predicted model in a limit as dx goes to zero.

Table 3. Assessment of model fit using AICc, Delta AICc, Weights of AICc, and log likelihood density. Weights describes the amount of variation of the data that each model accounts for compared to one another.

Model name	k	AICc	Delta_AICc	AICcWt	LogLikelihood density
Model 1: base	26	-27464.0	2034.5	0	13758.1
Model 2: base + added "diag" to the (1 + sex + negLogGDP location) random effect	23	-27176.9	2321.6	0	13611.5
Model 4: base + added (ar1 (Years + 0 Region))	28	-29498.5	0	1	14777.3

Equation 3. Equations of Akaike information criterion (AIC), and small-sample corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc),

$$AIC = -2LL + 2k \tag{3.1}$$

$$AICc = -2LL + 2k + \frac{2k(k+1)}{n-k-1}$$
(3.2)

Model 4 had the lowest AICc, lowest Delta AICc, an AICc weight of 1, and highest loglikelihood density, so it was selected as the best model going forward.

Next, we performed a series of chi-square tests to assess the effect of each interaction term on the model to see if it was worth keeping. Bullying victimization was shown to potentially be unnecessary so model 5 was created to compare model 4 with and without this variable. Ultimately, including bullying victimization in the model ended up resulting in a slightly lower AIC so once again, model 4 was determined to be the most successful model.

To assess the model quality and determine if further adjustments should be made, we conducted a series of tests using the DHARMa package (Hartig & Lohse, 2022). This package contains diagnostic functions to assess how well our model output fits the assumptions used it its creation. First, we determined that the number and range of model outliers fell within the predicted range for our data. Then, we tested the uniformity of the model and found that the centre of the model and the highest values of the model significantly deviated from the theoretical expectations of normal distribution. Although this may be a problem for some models, because of the large sample size of this dataset, we did not determine this dispersion to be an immediate cause for concern. Next, we investigated the model dispersion and found the frequency of the simulated residuals formed a normal curve, and the fitted model did deviate from the theoretical dispersion. The distribution family of our model was gaussian and in this structure, the variance is not a factor of the mean, unlike other distribution families, like poisson, for example. Due to this reason, we determined that

the extent of dispersion discrepancy between our model simulated residuals and the theoretical estimates were acceptable.

Mental illness models

After creating the ideal model for our main disease of study, rheumatoid arthritis, the models for the other diseases were also created using the final RA model as a basis. For schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, the models with an autoregression 1 covariance structure with "region" resulted in non-convergence, so we instead used "1" and the models converged with a low AICc and high loglikelihood. Both the MDD and anxiety models converged without issue with the exact same structure as the RA model.

Once determining that all the models successfully converged, we used the DHARMa package again to conduct a series of diagnostic tests to find any glaring problems with our models. The diagnostic evaluations of the models looked very similar to the RA model. The output of the diagnostics can be found in Appendix 1 -Figures 1 - 4. Although some of the diagnostic evaluations showed signs of overdispersion, the model is set up with a gaussian distribution which does not have overdispersion as a possibility.

Principal component analysis

Next, we conducted a PCA to investigate any further relationship between predictors and/or between diseases. To do this, values of alcohol use, bullying victimization, child and maternal mortality, childhood sexual abuse, drug use, and GDP per capita were used as variables in a PCA. From these, 6 principal components were created that represented the variation between these variables. We found that the first 5 principal components contained over 90% of the variation, so we decided to drop principal component 6. With these components, we conducted a generalized linear mixed model predicting rheumatoid arthritis though the 5 principal components and year interacting with sex. We used 1|Year and 1|Region as random variables and including sex as a dispersion variable. We assessed the model by creating simulated residuals to test uniformity, outliers, dispersion, quantiles, and temporal autocorrelation. The uniformity of the model was no different from the expected normal distribution in the middle area of the values, but significantly deviated from the expected pattern at both ends. Although this does bring up a level of concern, the amount of data that we have protects against a lot of the negative effects of conducting models with a non-normal distribution. Our outliers and dispersion tests showed no signs of concern. The quantile assessments of this model were very different from the expected values, very similar to the test that we conducted without creating the PCA. Finally, the temporal autocorrelation showed no significant deviation from the expectation. We also conducted the same generalized linear mixed models with the four mental illnesses in order to compare these results.

Chapter 3: Results

Chapter 3.1: Generalized linear mixed model results

In this chapter, we will demonstrate the interesting connections between diseases and stress factors, and their interactions with sex. We will begin by describing the RA model, as it acts as our makeshift 'control', then compare these results to each of the four mental illness models. Then, we will describe the PCA results and explain how the principal components impacted each disease.

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA)

The RA model showed distinct relationships between stress factors in males and females. The coefficients of the model were almost all significant but many of the effects were very small. All the parameter coefficients are listed in Table 4 and visualized in Figure 2 - Figure 4.

Table 4. Generalized linear mixed model output for predicting rheumatoid arthritis prevalence rates. AU stands for alcohol use, BV stands for bullying victimization, CMM stands for child and maternal mortality, CSA stands for childhood sexual abuse, DU stands for drug use, and -LogGDP represents the log of GDP per capita multiplied by -1. Within the p-value column, significant values (where a = 0.05) have '*' listed next to the values.

Coefficient	Coefficient estimate	Standard error	Z value	P-value
Intercept	0.549	0.115	4.759	1.94 e-06 *
Sex (male)	- 1.209	0.058	- 20.721	< 2 e-16 *
AU	0.074	0.016	4.676	2.92 e-06 *
BV	0.003	0.007	0.417	0.677
СММ	- 0.055	0.010	- 5.290	1.22 e-07 *
CSA	- 0.010	0.016	- 0.593	0.553
DU	0.084	0.007	12.586	<2 e-16 *

Year	0.010	0.001	19.337	< 2 e-16 *
-LogGDP	- 0.105	0.020	- 5.365	8.14 e-08 *
Sex:AU	- 0.071	0.016	- 4.538	5.69 e-06 *
Sex: BV	0.019	0.007	2.620	0.009 *
Sex:CMM	- 0.088	0.020	- 4.470	7.82 e-06 *
Sex:CSA	0.058	0.021	2.796	0.005 *
Sex:DU	- 0.082	0.007	- 12.302	<2 e-16 *
Sex:Year	- 0.005	0.000	- 20.917	< 2 e-16 *
Sex:-LogGDP	0.066	0.009	7.176	7.18 e-13 *



Figure 2. Effects of stress factors on rheumatoid arthritis prevalence rates independent of sex.



Figure 3. Sex differences in the effects of stress factors on rheumatoid arthritis prevalence rates. These values represent the difference between the female coefficients and the male coefficients.



Rheumatoid arthritis

Figure 4. The sex-specific effects of stress factors on rheumatoid arthritis. The stress factors are alcohol use (A), bullying victimization (B), child and maternal mortality (C), childhood sexual assault (D), drug use (E), and the natural logarithm of GDP per capita multiplied by -1 (F).

Aside from the differences in sexes, GDP per capita was one of the strongest influences on disease rate. Paradoxically, in our model, an increase in wealth was associated with higher rates of disease. Both drug use and alcohol use were positively associated with increased disease rates as well.

Mental illnesses

Major depressive disorder

Apart from child and maternal mortality, increased rates of stress were associated with increased levels of depression for every stress factor in females (Figure A. 1). Males showed slight increases in depression with increases in alcohol use, bullying, childhood sexual assault, a strong increase in depression with child and maternal mortality, and slight decreases in depression with drug use and poverty.

Anxiety disorders

The effects of male anxiety rates change remarkably little with increases in stress compared to females. They experience slight increases in anxiety with higher alcohol use, bullying, child and maternal mortality, and childhood sexual assault, while slight inverse relationship between anxiety disorders with drug use and poverty rates (Figure A. 2).

Bipolar disorder

The effects of each stress factor on bipolar disorder are relatively minor and contain a lot of uncertainty. There is almost no effect of each stress factor in females while males experience a little bit more association, including an inverse relationship between each of alcohol use, bullying, childhood sexual assault, drug use, and poverty with bipolar disorder, while a positive relationship with bipolar and child and maternal mortality rates (Figure A. 3).

Schizophrenia

Males show higher overall rates of schizophrenia but the interactions with sex and each stress factor with schizophrenia differ. Both males and females have a similar rate of increased schizophrenia with increases of alcohol use, bullying and childhood sexual assault. With

child and maternal mortality, male rates of schizophrenia drastically decline with increased stress, and female rates decline a very small amount (Figure A. 4). Drug use also shows an interesting relationship. Males experience a large decline in rate of disease with higher drug use, but females show the opposite, where higher drug use is strongly associated with increased schizophrenia. Finally, the effects of poverty on schizophrenia rates are the most extreme out of all the stress factors. Both males and females show a very strong negative relationship between poverty and schizophrenia, but females decline slightly less than males do.

Chapter 3.2: Principal component analysis results

Before describing the results from each model, we will first consider the relationships between our stress factors that are outlined by our PCA as seen in Figure 5. Principal component 1 (PC1) represented 42% of the variation in rates of RA after previous combinations of the principal components (Figure 6), with positive higher weighting of alcohol and drug use, and negatively by child and maternal mortality and poverty. We interpret this as representations of wealthier countries with higher rates of substance use. The second principal component (PC2) is primarily represented by just two factors: childhood sexual assault and bullying victimization. These are both strongly negatively associated with PC2, so we are interpreting this component as countries with positive childhood experiences. Principal component 3 (PC3), like PC2, is primarily influenced by childhood sexual assault and bullying victimization, but this time it's positively influenced by CSA and negatively influenced by bullying. We consider PC3 to represent countries with high adult-caused childhood adverse experiences, but low peer-to-peer childhood adverse experiences. Principal component 4 (PC4) is very interesting because it represents countries with lower rates of poverty, but higher rates of child and maternal mortality. Of all countries, the USA has the highest level of PC4 in the world. Other countries that have high rates of PC4 include South Africa, Botswana, Greenland, and Gabon. These countries tend to have high rates of healthcare inequality. In the USA and South Africa, these disparities likely stem from economic status and racial differences in healthcare access. Unlike the US, in South Africa, about a third of the maternal and infant deaths are attributable to pre-existing, treatable conditions that do not receive care before a birth takes place (Mabaso et al., 2014). Other areas, like Greenland, have high disparities between access to healthcare in rural/remote vs. urban settings (Houd et al., 2022). Because of these factors, we are considering PC4 to be a measure of healthcare inequality. Finally, principal component 5 (PC5) is strongly represented by countries with low poverty and low drug use. Usually, high-income countries have higher rates of drug use, but this component represents countries that defy that trend. We consider PC5 a measure of high-income, low-drug-use countries. Our interpretations of each principal component are listed in Table 5.



Figure 5. Correlation plot comparing the effects of each stress factor on each principal component. Strong positive correlations are represented by large blue circles, no correlation is represented by small white circles, and strong negative correlations are represented by large red circles.



Figure 6. Data variance explained by each principal component in PCA.

Table 5. Attribution of principal components based on the stress factors that influence them the most.

Principal component	Our classification	Strongest stress factors
PC1	High income, high drug use	Alcohol use, drug use, -child and maternal mortality, -poverty
PC2	Low adverse childhood experiences	-Bullying victimization, -childhood sexual abuse
PC3	Adult-based adverse childhood experiences	Childhood sexual abuse, -bullying victimization
PC4	Healthcare inequality	Child and maternal mortality, -poverty
PC5	High income, low drug use	-Drug use, -poverty

PC1 showed a very interesting trend in the model with rheumatoid arthritis, our 'control' model. This component accounts for 43% of the variation of all our predictors and

demonstrated a very strong relationship with RA (Figure 7.A). As the value of PC1 (high income, high drug use) increased, the prevalence of arthritis also increased, but only in females. In males, the prevalence of disease did not increase or decrease with a change in stress. PC2 (low adverse childhood experiences) shows a very different trend. Both males and females showed very clear declines in slope with rheumatoid arthritis with both sexes slopes being approximately equal (Figure 7.B). PC3 (adult-caused adverse childhood experiences) showed equal slopes in both sexes that rise with increasing rheumatoid arthritis values (Figure 7.C). PC4 (healthcare inequality) is the only component (other than PC1) to show a stark difference in sexes. Females show a very strong decline in PC4 with an increase in disease but a small increase in disease with higher PC4 values in males (Figure 7.D). Finally, PC5 (high-income, low drug use) showed a slight positive relationship that looks approximately even between sexes (Figure 7.E).



Rheumatoid arthritis

Figure 7. Effects of principal components 1 through 5 on rheumatoid arthritis. The pink colour indicates the female effects, and the blue line indicates the male effects.

Mental illnesses PCAs

Using the same principal components from the rheumatoid arthritis model, we created generalized linear mixed models for the four mental illnesses (Figure A. 5 - Figure A. 9). All the diseases showed a similar pattern with PC1 (high income, high drug use) where the female values increased dramatically while the male values either stayed relatively flat or even declined with added stress (Figure A. 5). All the male-biased illnesses showed a higher
y-intercept in males than females, but as PC1 increased, female rates quickly surpassed male rates.

PC2 (low adverse childhood experiences) showed a negative relationship between stress and disease for all the female-biased illnesses for both males and females, but a mixed relationship for both male-biased illnesses (Figure A. 6). Females showed a slight positive relationship between PC2 and bipolar disorder, while males showed a slight negative relationship. Schizophrenia showed a positive relationship for both males, with a higher rate of disease with increased PC2 values in males than females.

PC3 had a relatively positive relationship with all the diseases with slight exceptions to males with depression and anxiety (Figure A. 7). Rheumatoid arthritis showed a greater rate of disease with increased PC3 than the other diseases, but the rest all increased in a relatively consistent rate.

The relationships between PC4 and each disease varied widely (Figure A. 8). Rheumatoid arthritis had a strong negative relationship with females and a positive relationship with males and PC4. MDD showed a slight decline in rate of disease with increased PC4 in both males and females. Anxiety disorders also showed a slight decline in males, but a much steeper decline in females. Bipolar disorder in females was negatively correlated with PC4 but slightly positively correlated in males. Finally, both males and females with schizophrenia showed a positive relationship between PC4 and the disease, but the rate of disease increased faster in males than in females.

Finally, PC5 also varied widely for each disease (Figure A. 9). Males and females with rheumatoid arthritis showed a slight positive relationship with PC5 and both sexes with depression showed a slightly negative relationship with it. Females with anxiety had an unchanging rate of illness with increasing PC5 while males showed a decrease in disease

66

prevalence with higher PC5. Bipolar disorder showed positive relationships with PC5 for both sexes, but a much higher rate of increase in females than males. Lastly, males and females with schizophrenia both showed a strongly positive association between disease rate and PC5.

Chapter 4: Discussion

Each stress factor that we included in our study showed wide variability in male and female disease prevalence. Throughout this chapter, we will describe the influence of each stress factor, and the variables that may have led to this result. We will also explain the influence of estrogen on stress and psychosis to help explain the male-bias in a select few disorders. Next, we will explain the principal component analysis and how the stress factors interact together to influence disease rates in males and females. Finally, we will discuss the limitations to our project and what efforts we made to remedy these in our study.

Chapter 4.1: Effects of stress factors on diseases

When we began this project, we hoped to find overall patterns of stress on disease and were not concerned with the specifics of each stressor on each disease. As we conducted our study, however, it became more and more clear that each stressor that we measured had a widely different relationship with each disease. We found that 1) Our RA model showed female heightened sensitivity to changes in alcohol use and drug use, 2) most of our mental disorder models followed suit, showing that drug and alcohol use had heightened relationships in females, but minimal relationships with males, 3) the RA model had a strong inverse relationship with poverty, where poorer countries had lower rates of disease, 4) with the exception of anxiety disorders, most of our other models also had a negative relationship between disease and poverty. If we had just combined each stress factor into one variable, we would have missed all the complexities that each stress factor presents. For this reason, we will first expand on each stress factor, it's relationship with each disease, and finally, the implications of these relationships.

Poverty

In many of our models, rates of poverty showed strong relationships with disease that often varied by sex. Unexpectedly, richer countries tended to have higher rates of rheumatoid arthritis and some mental illnesses. This differed from our hypothesis that stress, in this case from poverty, positively correlates with increased disease rates. We predicted that limited access to necessary resources for life and comfort, such as food, clean water, housing, education, etc. would increase rates of stress and therefore inflammatory diseases, but that did not match the results shown by our data. Before concluding that poverty either decreases stress, or even decreases rates of disease, we must consider possible confounding variables that would make the data appear this way. To begin, we will first explore the rheumatoid arthritis model that serves as our makeshift 'control', in order to investigate the relationships between poverty and disease without the two-way interactions that are so common within stressors and mental illnesses. Then, we will expand our exploration to consider the findings from the mental illness models and compare these with rheumatoid arthritis.

Rheumatoid arthritis and poverty

As mentioned above, our RA model showed much higher prevalence rates in wealthy countries than poorer countries, which aligns with current literature. Our findings with RA are not the only autoimmune diseases that share this pattern. In fact, most autoimmune disease rates are higher in wealthier countries (Bach, 2002), a phenomenon that has sparked a plethora of scientific debate. One of the most popular theories to describe this trend is the *hygiene hypothesis*, described in more detail in our introduction. The hygiene hypothesis would predict that countries with higher access to sanitation and more rigorous hygiene practices would have higher rates of RA. It is very possible that the influence of developmental exposure to diverse microbiota in poorer countries has a much more

69

prominent effect on inflammatory disease prevalence than an increase in stress that stems from higher rates of poverty. Importantly, this does not mean that the stress of poverty has no or very little effect on disease rates, but instead that the effect of the hygiene hypothesis is so strong that it masks any influence that the stress of poverty would have. Additionally, our results showed a steeper increase in disease rates with higher wealth in females than in males. We, again, attribute this to the hygiene hypothesis, as stronger immune systems may show a bigger change when primed during development than those with weaker immune systems. Given than females have a generally stronger immune system, we would predict that differences in wealth would show larger changes in disease prevalence for them, which aligns with our findings.

There are other influences that may also have led to lower rates of RA in poorer countries, including some confounding variables. There may be lower general access to testing for rheumatoid arthritis and mental illnesses in poorer countries which artificially deflate the rate of each disease. This could be a reason why wealthier countries showed a positive relationship with disease. That being said, the data from the GBD study used hospital and health clinic data while also using random surveys and self-reporting. The difference in testing likely does not account for the entire difference in disease rate between poorer and wealthier countries. Another interesting confounding factor could be the difference in the perceived impact of the disease versus an objective measure of disease severity. A study by Putrik et al. (2016) that investigated the impact of country wealth on rheumatoid arthritis severity found that poorer countries had significantly lower self-reported symptom severity and pain than wealthier countries even though physician-reported disease levels were actually slightly higher in poorer places. Another study investigating the relationship between disease burden in German patients with RA showed that wealthier patients tended to experience less severe symptoms than their poorer counterparts (Callhoff et al., 2017). This relationship

between wealth and RA is likely complicated with other confounds. Interestingly, Rudan et al. (2015) found that low and middle-income countries in North and South America had significantly higher rates of RA than countries of comparable income in other continents. It is possible that people in the Americas have some cultural, social, and/or genetic traits that increase susceptibility to the economic relationship with RA. This also could point to the importance of income inequality on the impact of wealth and disease risk in certain countries. This being said, although the poorer countries in both North and South America have relatively high-income inequality compared to the rest of the world, Southern Africa greatly exceeds both of these in wealth inequality (Figure 8).





Notably, not all income differences respond the same way. Studies of RA patients in Columbia and Germany noted that patients with lower household incomes had a worse disease presentation than people with higher incomes (Callhoff et al., 2017; Santos-Moreno et al., 2019). Importantly, although these trends were present across almost all the wealth brackets studied, in the Columbia study, the only significant difference was between the wealthiest 15% compared to the rest of the population (Santos-Moreno et al., 2019). Another study investigating the impact of wealth on inflammatory bowel disease, another femalebiased autoimmune disease, found only the people with income in the top quartile showed significant differences in disease presentation compared with other income levels (Ahsan et al., 2020). International data shows similar patterns to within-country studies, where wealthier countries had lower severity of RA symptoms compared to poorer countries (Putrik et al., 2016). It's important to consider the effects of access to medication for patients of different incomes. It is very possible that a large part of the lower disease severity in wealthier patients is attributable to their access to medication that lowers the severity of their symptoms (Putrik et al., 2016). This does not act to decrease the overall prevalence rate, though. Patients must be diagnosed with rheumatoid arthritis to take many of the medications used to lessen their symptoms. The data from our study uses prevalence rates of disease, not necessarily the impact of the disease. Although it appears that findings from this data and other studies are contradictory, they may not be, as prevalence rates can be high while disease severity is low and vice versa.

Wealth and mental disorders

The mental disorders that we studied did not all show an increase in prevalence rate with wealth, like we saw with RA. Combined anxiety disorders and bipolar disorder rates slightly increased with country wealth, but there was very little differences between sexes, unlike RA. Other studies have also found higher rates of anxiety disorders in wealthier countries (Ruscio et al., 2017). Notably, this only seems to be true on a population-wide scale because within countries, individuals with lower household income have higher rates of anxiety disorders that some of the symptoms that are highlighted in the current diagnostic criteria are less applicable to individuals in lower or

middle-income countries due to differences in culture and stigma surrounding anxiety disorders. For a long time, people have speculated a relationship between bipolar rates and socioeconomic status. In the past, some studies found higher rates of bipolar disorder in higher income individuals (Verdoux & Bourgeois, 1995). More recently, though, studies find no relationship, or even a slight inverse between bipolar rates and wealth (Schoeyen et al., 2011). It is possible that bipolar disorder rates are less sensitive to the various differences between countries than other mental illnesses. It is also possible that this may share a cause with the lack of female-bias in bipolar disorder. Perhaps if bipolar disorder were a femalebiased disease, it would show a higher susceptibility to differences in wealth between countries.

Major depressive disorder had slightly lower prevalence rates in wealthier countries with females showing a steeper decline with wealth than males. Interestingly, some studies investigating how socio-economic status effects depressive symptoms on an individual level have demonstrated the relationship between higher rates of MDD and higher income. Other studies have found a slightly protective effect of income on depression (C. Li et al., 2022; Sareen et al., 2011). A review investigating the effects of the multi-faceted components of socio-economic status found that the specifics differed, and that measuring income as a whole was not sufficient to find a clear pattern (Lund et al., 2010). Even with the complications of all the components of socio-economic status, our study still found higher country income to be protective for MDD prevalence rate. This could indicate that the effects of stress that are experienced generally by people in lower-income countries may outweigh all the effects that increase MDD rates in wealthier countries. We would predict that any effect of wealth on MDD would be more drastic in females given their stronger immune systems and general predisposition to depressive disorders. Wealth showed the largest effect on schizophrenia rates than any other mental disorder. The rates of schizophrenia were much higher in wealthier countries with a steeper rate of change in males than females. While there is no simple definite reasoning for this stark relationship, there are some possible explanations that could help describe it. Firstly, migrating people have been found to experience higher rates of schizophrenia than people who remain in one country (McGrath et al., 2004). Considering that people are more likely to immigrate to wealthier countries, this could explain some of the heightened rates of schizophrenia in high income countries. Schizophrenia rates also have been found to be higher in countries with bigger gaps in income equality; the larger the wealth gap, the higher the rates of schizophrenia (Burns et al., 2014). In general, wealthier countries tend to have slightly higher rates of income inequality, although the variation is very high, so this could also explain some of the increased schizophrenia rates in richer countries. Additionally, symptoms of schizophrenia may differ by culture. For example, one study showed that a schizophrenia symptom, called catatonia, is present in 10% of schizophrenia patients in developing countries but is only present in 1% of patients in developed countries (Jablensky et al., 1992). Other symptoms showed the opposite pattern, being much higher in developed countries than developing ones. The development of the most widely used diagnostic criteria for most mental disorders were created in western, high-income countries (Alarcón, 2009). Considering that symptoms of various diseases may differ substantially in other countries, it's likely that there is a general pattern of underdiagnosis, or perhaps misdiagnosis in poorer, developing countries. There is also a confound of access to diagnosis at all in low-income countries. With reduced access to healthcare, it's possible that people who experience psychotic symptoms may never receive a diagnosis and/or treatment for their disease. This would also underinflate the estimates of schizophrenia prevalence in these regions. Some of the primary data used in the GBD database does have this problem by using treatment centre

data, health insurance data, or other means that rely on some present treatment and/or diagnostic opportunities to work. Other studies in the dataset don't follow this pattern and randomly sample individuals from low-income regions and conduct surveys with people to determine more accurate community prevalence rates. Even so, these studies are still vulnerable to the bias of western-centred diagnostic criteria. Considering all the confounds that result in lower prevalence rates found in low-income countries, it is very difficult to say how much of the schizophrenia rate variation is true, and how much results from biased data collection and disease definitions.

Alcohol and drug use

Substance use, like drugs and alcohol, have been frequently found to show strong relationships with many diseases, especially mental disorders (Rehm et al., 2009). Interestingly, our data showed higher rates of female-biased illnesses in countries with higher drug and alcohol use, but particularly in females. The male-biased and neutral diseases (schizophrenia and bipolar disorder) both showed a less substantial relationship with substance use irrespective of sex. The exact reasoning behind this trend is still unknown, but there are many direct and indirect effects of substance use that could play a role here. It's important to note that males tend to have higher rates of substance use than females, meaning the increase in the effects of substance use in females is not solely attributable to increased exposure. Firstly, alcohol and drugs have complex relationships with chronic vs. acute use, and the immune system. Sometimes alcohol consumption and certain drugs act as anti-inflammatory agents, while others are pro-inflammatory.

Rheumatoid arthritis, major depressive disorder, and combined anxiety disorders all showed similar patterns of the effects of alcohol use. There is a non-existent or very minimal relationship between the diseases and alcohol use for males, and a substantial relationship for

75

females. This indicates that females in countries with higher alcohol use are more sensitive to the effects of this stressor on the development of these diseases, while it seems that males have almost no effect. Importantly, substance use is not just a predictor of stress, but additionally a result of it. Unfortunately, this makes any assumptions of causality difficult, especially when dealing with mental illnesses where alcohol use disorders are often comorbid. Because of the inclusion of rheumatoid arthritis in the data, we can compare the effects of alcohol use on RA first for a less confounded model before drawing any conclusions from the mental illness models. When considering drug use, RA and MDD stayed similar to one another, with positive associations between the stress factor and disease in females, but seemingly no effect in males. Anxiety disorders responded differently, though, with females showing a slight decrease in the relationship between drugs and the disease, but again, males had seemingly no effect. In the case of drug use, it is possible that the excessive worrying characteristic of many anxiety disorders would prevent the use of illicit and/or recreational drugs in fears of having a negative reaction. This may indicate a reverse relationship, where lower drug use does not cause higher rates of anxiety, but instead that people who have anxiety are less likely to use drugs. RA and MDD show positive associations with drug use in females, but not in males.

Bipolar disorder and schizophrenia both showed very little sex differences in the effects of alcohol use. Bipolar showed a slightly negative relationship between alcohol and disease while schizophrenia showed a slightly positive one. Similar patterns are observed for males and females with drug use and bipolar disorder, but not with drug use and schizophrenia. In our data, females show a positive relationship between schizophrenia and drug use, while males show a negative relationship. In the literature, sex differences in drug use are multifaceted in schizophrenia patients. Women use drugs later in life (Caton et al., 2014) but show higher risk of substance use relapse than men (Mendrek & Fattore, 2017). Additionally,

many studies show male heightened rates of drug use in schizophrenia patients (Nesvåg et al., 2014; Opler et al., 2001), while this would logically lead to a positive relationship between drug use and schizophrenia in males more than females, the opposite is true. Clearly, there are more factors in these populations than the direct cause of drug use on schizophrenia.

Based on the intricate connections between drugs, alcohol, inflammation, social norms, culture, and the disparities in substance use disorders between males and females, as well as the higher rates of female-biased diseases in countries with elevated substance use, it is our belief that females may be more vulnerable to the adverse consequences of drug and alcohol consumption on the risk of developing inflammatory diseases.

Bullying victimization

Our data showed a minimal relationship between bullying and rates of diseases. Out of all our stress factors, bullying had the lowest prediction of disease. But even so, there are many factors that contribute to these relationships that could explain a low correlation between this stress factors and the diseases.

Although the literature has demonstrated a relationship of sex differences between bullying and illness (S. Kim et al., 2018; Klomek et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2017), our data showed mixed, inconclusive results. RA and anxiety disorders showed similar patterns to one another with slightly higher male relationship with bullying and disease than in females. While MDD and schizophrenia showed slightly higher associations with bullying in females than in males. Bullying showed minimal effects on bipolar disorder in both males and females. These discrepancies between the effects of bullying on disease could be due to the different effects of various types of bullying. Physical bullying, emotional bullying, and cyberbullying all likely have different effects on an individual and may act separately when predicting exposure to stress differently in males and females. It also seems as though each disease may respond slightly differently to the effects of bullying. One study found that people who were genetically susceptible to schizophrenia were more likely to develop symptoms if they had a history of bullying victimization (Pergola et al., 2019). Another possibility is that bullying experiences are relatively consistent between countries, so any effect that it has on these diseases would not be found by measuring these on a country-wide scale. Although, studies have found that, even between European countries, rates of bullying vary country-to-country by as much as 36% (Craig et al., 2009). There could also be a discrepancy between the amount of reported bullying and the actual level of bullying experienced by children, where some behaviours are seen as so common that students don't consider them as bullying in some countries, where others would. With all of these factors considered, the relationship between bullying and our diseases is still unclear, and we would strongly recommend further study on a smaller scale to investigate these relationships more thoroughly.

Childhood sexual assault

The relationships between childhood sexual assault (CSA) and our diseases that we found were not straightforward and did not necessarily reflect previous data collected on this topic. We found that rates of CSA are positively linked to RA in males, but slightly negatively in females. This is seemingly counter-intuitive as multiple studies have found a positive association between a history of childhood sexual assault and experiencing rheumatoid arthritis (Baiden et al., 2021; Spitzer et al., 2013). That being said, these effects are on a country-wide level, and it is possible that individual-level effects of CSA are very different than population-level effects. Male and female MDD rates both had very little change in disease with differences in childhood sexual assault levels. Anxiety rates in females were negatively associated with CSA, and males had seemingly no correlation. These findings for both MDD and anxiety disorders also contradict the current literature, as studies have found a

78

positive relationship between depressive and anxiety disorders with experiences of childhood sexual assault (Bellis et al., 2019). Our data showed very little relationship between bipolar disorder and CSA in females and a slightly negative effect in males. But in the literature, female bipolar patients have found to have higher risks of having experienced childhood trauma (including CSA) than male bipolar patients, contradicting our findings (Etain et al., 2013; Guillen-Burgos et al., 2023). Finally, both males and females showed positive associations between schizophrenia and childhood sexual assault. But other studies have shown that childhood sexual abuse is associated with psychosis in females, but not in males (Fisher et al., 2009). In general, because psychotic disorders are higher in males, perhaps the similar effects of childhood sexual assault are a result of the female sensitivity to the effects of CSA and male sensitivity for schizophrenia.

Finally, it's important to consider that rates of CSA are much higher in females than in males. This means that an increase in the exact same number of cases in both males and females would drastically change the male rates of CSA, while barely affecting the rates in females. This could also explain some of the counter-intuitive findings surrounding CSA and disease. Like with all of our other stress factors, we believe that investigations on an individual-level are very important to provide necessary context to country-wide population data and encourage such research to take place.

Child and maternal mortality

Our data showed a slightly negative relationship between RA and CMM in females and a very large decline in males. This pattern is very similar to the relationship between RA and poverty. Child and maternal mortality rates are highly correlated with income, and it is possible that many of the effects that influence the rates of disease in countries with varying wealth are the same as those with varying child and maternal mortality rates. It is likely that

79

the 'hygiene hypothesis' also plays a role here, where areas that have lower standards for healthcare and sanitation practices (and subsequently lower autoimmune diseases) have higher rates of maternal and childhood mortality rates. In our data, the relationships between CMM with MDD and schizophrenia rates differed from RA. Female MDD and schizophrenia rates slightly declined with CMM, while there was a large increase in males. It is possible that the effect of losing a partner directly contributes to the rates of depression and schizophrenia in males and that male-specific effect is enough to cause such a large difference between sexes. Additionally, some research indicates that physical stress that mothers undergo positively contributes to development of schizophrenia in offspring, but specifically in male children, not females (Malaspina et al., 2008). The stress of famine, lack of access to healthcare, and discrimination in countries that experience higher child and maternal mortality that pregnant mothers experience may directly lead to increased rates of schizophrenia development in males, explaining the strong positive relationship for them, but not for females. Anxiety rates did not show a strong relationship with CMM but females did show a slightly inverse relationship between the two. This is seemingly counter intuitive, but also possibly a random chance given how minimal the effect size is. The relationship between bipolar disorder rates and CMM were not very strong in males or females, but both showed a slight positive effect.

Much of the same confounding variables that are necessary in the conversation surrounding poverty are relevant when considering CMM. We would suggest future investigations directly considering the death of a spouse or mother rather than CMM rates on a population level. We additionally recommend stratifying rates of CMM by country wealth to try and limit the confound of poverty influencing the risk of CMM. Overall, the relationships of each individual stress factor with each disease show interesting differences between sexes. Given the immense complexity of the interactions between stress factors, disease, and populations, we recommend further investigation of each disease and each stress factor on an individual basis to determine more direct connections, rather than general patterns across the world.

Estrogen and psychosis

A common thread in the male-biased mental illnesses that were included in this study is the presence of psychosis. A common symptom of both schizophrenia and bipolar disorder is psychosis but this is also a much more common symptom in males than in females. Previous links have found a connection between higher levels of estrogen and lower rates of psychosis (Maric et al., 2005). One possible mode for this relationship is through estrogen modulation of Dopamine2 (D2)-receptor sensitivity in the brain (Sárvári et al., 2014). The D2 receptors are involved in psychosis and act as the primary active site for almost all antipsychotic medications (Seeman et al., 1976). Even though females have a stronger immune system and both schizophrenia and bipolar disorder are linked to increases in inflammation, estrogen presence could be protective against a large part of both of these diseases: experiencing psychosis. This would be the factor that contributes to the male bias in the diseases the include psychotic symptoms. Additionally, of the females that do experience bipolar disorder and schizophrenia, some research has found that males generally have more prominent psychotic symptoms, while females experience more depressive symptoms within the diagnostic criteria (Grossman et al., 2008; Wozniak et al., 2013). Females seem to be vulnerable to depressive and anxiety traits, while protected against some psychotic traits which may balance out to the approximately equal prevalence of bipolar disorder between sexes. This would explain much of the variation that we see between our diseases.

Particularly, if different stress factors, like childhood sexual assault, were especially linked to the development of psychosis, this could explain why certain stressors increase schizophrenia and bipolar, while influencing depression, anxiety, and RA less.

Chapter 4.2: Perspective from principal component analyses

Our investigation involved conducting a PCA to investigate the interactions between stress factors, and how these groupings impacted diseases differently. We found very strong evidence that relationships between some stress factors interact to influence diseases in predictable and notable ways. Particularly, our first principal component consistently showed a strong, positive relationship with each disease in females, and very little relationship at all in males. The factors that combined to make PC1 were of interest in understanding this trend. PC1 represented the majority of the data from the stress factors, particularly through high associations with alcohol and drug use, a very small positive relationship with bullying, a very slight inverse relationship with childhood sexual assault, and strong inverse relationships with both poverty rates and child and maternal mortality. This component could represent some overreaching pattern that spans across all these factors either positively or negatively.

One important consideration here is differences in the relationships between drug and alcohol use with wealth between sexes. Alcohol and drug use rates are consistently higher in males and females, but this gap is much smaller in wealthier countries (Rehm et al., 2009). This could be due to societal norms, cultural expectations, the discrimination of women, access to money, or religion. In general, richer countries also report higher consumption of alcohol. But there is a lot of variability in the wealth of countries with high and low alcohol consumption. Poor countries where alcohol use is high have many more health impacts of alcohol consumption than poor countries where alcohol is low or in rich countries where alcohol use is high (Dawson et al., 2005). This is likely somewhat attributable to higher rates of treatment for alcohol use disorders and higher access to healthcare interventions when experiencing health consequences of alcohol use. When we look at the same patterns on an individual level instead of a country level, we see that people with higher incomes are more likely to drink alcohol, but of everyone that does drink, people with lower socioeconomic statuses drink higher volumes and are more negatively impacted by the social and health consequences (Huckle et al., 2010). It is also vital to recognize the effects of religious customs on the consumption of alcohol throughout the world to help explain the patterns of alcohol use in countries. In the Islamic faith, alcohol is usually considered to be 'haram' or forbidden, so alcohol use is generally much lower in countries with high Muslim populations (Luczak et al., 2014). Countries in the Middle-East, Northern Africa, and Oceania generally have high Muslim populations and have some of the lowest alcohol consumption rates in the world. Importantly, countries with a high Muslim population tend to have more legal discrimination against women than countries with other faith majorities (Morrisson & Jütting, 2005). Given that female rates of disease are so strongly related to PC1 for all diseases, while male rates are not, even male-biased diseases, this component cannot explain the male-bias in some inflammatory illnesses. That being said, the relationship between PC1 and each disease is still very notable, especially considering that it represents the majority of the variation in our original data.

PC2 (low adverse childhood experiences) also shows interesting relationships with each disease. Each of the 3 female-biased illnesses (RA, MDD, and anxiety) all show similar patterns where both males and females show a moderate decline in disease with increasing PC2. The sex-neutral disease, bipolar disorder, shows a slight positive relationship in females and slight negative relationship in males. Schizophrenia shows a moderately positive relationship in males. This

principal component is particularly notable because the pattern that it shows directly mimics the groupings of each sex-bias of our diseases. Interestingly, this principal component is made up almost entirely of negative influences from all stress factors with the exception of CMM, which only slightly positively contributes to PC2. This grouping of stress factors is remarkable because the underlaying pattern that it represents in the populations could possibly be an important link in the female-bias of some inflammatory illnesses. We categorised this component as representing "low adverse childhood experiences" due to it's main driving stress factors being lower rates of childhood sexual abuse and bullying victimization. For our three female-biased diseases, MDD, RA, and anxiety, less exposure to adverse childhood experiences correlates with lower rates of diseases. This aligns with our prior expectations. But bipolar disorder and schizophrenia do not share the same trend. Female bipolar rates and schizophrenia rates for both sexes increase with exposure to lower adverse childhood experiences, with male schizophrenia rates showing the most drastic incline. These results oppose much of the current literature that links schizophrenia and many other inflammatory illnesses to childhood trauma (Bellis et al., 2019; Mersky et al., 2013; Zietz et al., 2020). We believe other factors influencing this principal component, such as sex differences in rates of childhood adverse experiences in each country or differences in perception of these various experiences, may be influencing the results with this component.

PC3, PC4, and PC5 represent less and less of the variation in the stress factor data but are still worth considering in their relationships with each disease. PC3 (adult-caused adverse childhood experiences) showed positive relationships with all diseases in females, and a mixed relationship with males, potentially demonstrating a female-specific sensitivity to abuse in the hands of adults, but not peers, especially in regards to the development of MDD and anxiety disorders. PC4 (healthcare inequality) had positive correlations with all female disease prevalence rates with the exception of schizophrenia, while males had positive

relationships in RA, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia but negative relationships with MDD and anxiety. Finally, PC5 had widely variable relationships between each disease in both sexes. Although these principal components may not be as significant in their effects on disease, they are still important to consider as a piece of the puzzle.

Our investigation utilizing PCA has revealed significant associations between stress factors and diseases, particularly in relation to sex differences. PC1 represents a comprehensive pattern of stress factors that consistently influences diseases in females but has minimal impact in males. PC2 mimics the grouping of sex-biased diseases and highlights the potential link to inflammatory illnesses in females. PC3, PC4, and PC5 all contribute to the understanding of sex-biased diseases, emphasizing the importance of considering specific stress factor interactions. These findings provide valuable insights into the complex relationship between stress, sex, and disease outcomes.

Chapter 4.3: Joint consideration of individual stress factors and PCs

Across both analyses, we have established substantial sex differences in disease prevalence in response to stress. While the specific effects of each stress factor and principal component differ on disease rates, some general trends emerge. Firstly, the effects of the hygiene hypothesis are strong, and must be addressed in utilizing data both within and across populations. Secondly, both drug and alcohol use rates change in similar, but still unique ways across sexes and disease. We believe that a focus on the most impactful stress factors tells the clearest story of our disease data.

As PC1 represents the most variation in our data, we consider it of prime importance and see it as a combination of our most impactful stress factors. Across all of our diseases, PC1 had a strong positive relationship with females, and minimal relationship with males. We believe this represents the combined effects of drug and alcohol use with the impacts of immune system priming with commensal microbiota during development as seen in impoverished countries. We believe the relationship that we see with PC1 explains part of the female-bias in inflammatory disorders. Importantly, both bipolar disorder and schizophrenia also show the exact same relationship with PC1 as the female-biased disorders we study. If there were no other factors at play, then we would expect to see a female-bias in both bipolar and schizophrenia just like rheumatoid arthritis, MDD, and anxiety. We believe the missing factor here may be the protective effects of estrogen against psychosis. Both bipolar and schizophrenia patients often experience psychosis, with this experience being much more common in schizophrenia. As estrogen has been noted to protect against psychosis, we believe that females are more susceptible to the inflammatory components of mental illnesses (including schizophrenia and bipolar) due to stress, but because of their estrogen levels, rates of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder are dampened so much that bipolar is equal in sex prevalence and schizophrenia has a male-bias.

Chapter 4.4: Limitations

Our study was conducted with more than 100,000 points of data. Using such a robust dataset when conducting population-level, complex studies is necessary as more available data allows subtle effects to still be visualized. It also prevents some complexities with data assumptions that render some statistical modelling techniques invalid. That being said, when conducting any research involving mental illnesses, there are many confounding variables that may influence the data. It is important to recognize that causal relationships cannot be determined with so many unaccounted variables, but instead patterns can be identified to lead towards future areas for research and discovery. *We chose to study rheumatoid arthritis as a baseline model as we believed this disease would have less two-way effects between the stress*

factors than many mental illnesses. By doing this, we have attempted to add a 'control' disease that showed female bias but had less direct interactions with our stress factors. In the future, including male-biased 'control' diseases in addition to the female-biased 'control' diseases could help provide more context for the impacts of stressors on each of the mental illnesses.

We also recognize the societal stigma of mental health concerns in many cultures around the world. This could lead to falsely deflated rates of mental illness and could create even more extreme bias if that societal stigma was sex-biased, as it often is. In many cultures, men are expected to be stoic and logical, and may experience shame about experiencing emotioncentric disorders like depression or anxiety. As difficult as this confound is, we hope that the influence of it is minimal in our data given that much of our sources come from individual surveys and treatment centres focused on the presence or absence of particular symptoms rather than the presence or absence of a diagnosis itself. Even so, the lists of symptoms themselves may contribute to bias in the data. Current diagnostic criteria were built upon centuries of research in Western countries, meaning that cultural differences in mental illness expression may not be well recognized in a diagnosis. For example, some communities may consider sharing one's feelings outwardly to be a sign of maturity and strength, while other communities may consider it a sign of weakness. A person may be able to share their feelings and connect with their community well in the first group, while unable to do so within the second group. This is not because of a difference in the person's illness, but because of a difference in their cultural context. Having a Western-centric cultural context for measuring mental illness prevalence throughout the whole world could both inflate or deflate the actual rates of disease. This issue must be dealt with from the very definition of each illness in order to reflect the widely variable experiences of cultures. This problem is also likely exacerbated by a lack of access to diagnostic practices and healthcare in general. People living in poorer

countries likely have reduced access to healthcare which would lead to deflated prevalence rates of diseases and lowered access to treatment in these places. In addition to this, the diagnostic criteria for the mental illnesses in this study have changed over the course of the 26 years included in this study. This change in criteria has likely led to higher rates of incorrect diagnoses, especially in earlier years of the data we collected. Additionally, due to the data available in the GHDx, we included anxiety disorders combined, instead of separately. Each anxiety disorder is a remarkably different illness, including different symptoms, onset, and demographics. Combining these diseases together decreases the clarity of the effects of stress on anxiety as a whole.

Additionally, data on a population-wide scale can differ dramatically from data on an individual level. A country may have generally high rates of wealth but if that wealth is exceptionally uneven, an average of GDP does not accurately represent the majority of the population. The differences in modes of data collection used in each country may also bias the data. Countries that have higher overall wealth are likely able to support a higher budget for funding research. This creates a bias of much more data available in richer countries. Poorer countries may primarily use data that is already easily accessible, such as hospital patient records, but this also creates bias. Low-income populations generally have lower access to healthcare treatment than higher-income populations, so many people from poor countries go undiagnosed, untreated, and uncounted in their records.

In future research, it's vital that some of these limitations are addressed to further investigate the relationship between stress, sex, and disease. Conducting models to assess further modes of stress, such as domestic abuse, unemployment rates, divorce rates, prison rates, and others could shed more light on the relationship between stress and disease. In addition, incorporating further diseases, both mental illnesses and autoimmune diseases, would provide more insight into how the relationships between different diseases, sexes, and stress differ.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

In this study, we investigated role of social stress factors on the relative prevalence of diseases and mental disorders in males and females. We demonstrated a series of complex relationships between inflammatory illnesses and stress factors through the use of GLMMs and PCA. We showed that males and females may respond differently to stress, affecting rates of disease prevalence. We showed (1) that some stress factors, like drug and alcohol use, showed particularly strong relationships with female-biased diseases in females, while other stress factors, like bullying victimization and childhood sexual abuse, had minimal relationships to rates of each disease; and (2) that poverty has an inverse relationship with rates of inflammatory diseases, possibly through the mechanisms described in the hygiene hypothesis. The relationships between sex, stress, inflammation, and disease are still hazy, but we have demonstrated significant sex differences in disease rates predicted by stress.

The model we used as a control, rheumatoid arthritis, showed a sex-biased relationship with all stress factors included in our study. Female alcohol and drug use were strongly correlated with RA, while poverty and child and maternal mortality both showed a strong male relationship with the disease. MDD and combined anxiety disorders both showed similar relationships with stress factors to rheumatoid arthritis, while schizophrenia and bipolar disorder tended not to. These similarities follow sex-biased grouping of the diseases, where the female-biased diseases shared similar patterns with one another. *This may demonstrate a similar relationship between stress and disease for female-biased illnesses, while differing relationships with male-biased illnesses.* In addition, when conducting our PCA, our primary component was strongly positively represented by drug and alcohol use and strongly negatively represented by child and maternal mortality and wealth. The relationships with these stress factors may highlight an important influence of immune system priming (or the hygiene hypothesis) during development on the sex-specific effects of stress on disease around the world.

Overall, it has already been established that experiencing stress can act to increase inflammation throughout the body. When that inflammation increases, it can lead to higher levels of inflammatory disorders, such as rheumatoid arthritis and many mental illnesses. Since females generally have a stronger immune system, they may be more susceptible to the effects of stress on their inflammation. *From our data, we believe that higher levels of perceived stress results in even higher levels of inflammation in females than males, resulting in a female-biased of rheumatoid arthritis, major depressive disorders, and anxiety disorders.* Although bipolar disorder and schizophrenia are associated with inflammation, it is possible that estrogen acts as a protective factor against psychotic symptoms, reducing the risk of females acquired disorders with psychotic symptoms, like bipolar disorder and schizophrenia.

We strongly encourage the continued research into sex differences in mental illness, stress, and inflammation as these disorders are common in almost every country throughout the world. Investigating the causes of some of the most prevalent diseases is vital to repairing the damage formed by the systemic neglect of women in healthcare research for centuries.

References

- Abbey, A. (2002). Alcohol-related sexual assault: A common problem among college students. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol, Supplement*, *s14*, 118–128. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsas.2002.s14.118
- Abeer, null, El-Sayed, A., & Ramy, H. A. (2006). Immunological changes in patients with mania: Changes in cell mediated immunity in a sample from Egyptian patients. *The Egyptian Journal of Immunology*, 13(1), 79–85.
- Ahsan, M., Koutroumpakis, F., Rivers, C. R., Tang, G., Johnston, E., Proksell, S., Dueker, J., Schwartz, M., O'Keefe, S. J., Jana, H., Koutroubakis, I. E., & Binion, D. G. (2020).
 Sa1858 disparities in socioeconomic status and household income in patients with inflammatory bowel disease associate with less healthy diets and disease severity. *Gastroenterology*, 158(6), S-454. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-5085(20)31817-5
- Ajmone-Cat, M. A., Spinello, C., Valenti, D., Franchi, F., Macri, S., Vacca, R. A., & Laviola, G. (2019). Brain-Immune Alterations and Mitochondrial Dysfunctions in a Mouse
 Model of Paediatric Autoimmune Disorder Associated with Streptococcus:
 Exacerbation by Chronic Psychosocial Stress. *JOURNAL OF CLINICAL MEDICINE*, 8(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8101514
- Akaike, H. (1973). Maximum likelihood identification of Gaussian autoregressive moving average models. *Biometrika*, 60(2), 255–265. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/60.2.255
- Alarcón, R. D. (2009). Culture, cultural factors and psychiatric diagnosis: Review and projections. *World Psychiatry*, 8(3), 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2051-5545.2009.tb00233.x

- Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., & Walter, P. (2002). *Innate Immunity*. Garland Science. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK26846/
- Alfonso-Loeches, S., Pascual, M., Gómez-Pinedo, U., Pascual-Lucas, M., Renau-Piqueras, J.,
 & Guerri, C. (2012). Toll-like receptor 4 participates in the myelin disruptions associated with chronic alcohol abuse. *Glia*, 60(6), 948–964. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22327
- Alfonso-Loeches, S., Pascual-Lucas, M., Blanco, A. M., Sanchez-Vera, I., & Guerri, C.
 (2010). Pivotal Role of TLR4 Receptors in Alcohol-Induced Neuroinflammation and Brain Damage. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(24), 8285–8295.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0976-10.2010
- Almeida, P. G. C., Nani, J. V., Oses, J. P., Brietzke, E., & Hayashi, M. A. F. (2020).
 Neuroinflammation and glial cell activation in mental disorders. *Brain, Behavior, & Immunity Health, 2*, 100034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbih.2019.100034
- Alshaarawy, O., Sidney, S., Auer, R., Green, D., Soliman, E. Z., Goff, D. C., & Anthony, J.
 C. (2019). Cannabis Use and Markers of Systemic Inflammation: The Coronary
 Artery Risk Development in Young Adults Study. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *132*(11), 1327-1334.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2019.04.045
- American Psychiatric Association (Ed.). (2022). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5-TR (Fifth edition, text revision). American Psychiatric Association Publishing.
- Arnold, L. M. (2003). Gender differences in bipolar disorder. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 26(3), 595–620. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0193-953X(03)00036-4

- Austad, S. N., & Fischer, K. E. (2016). Sex Differences in Lifespan. *Cell Metabolism*, 23(6), 1022–1033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2016.05.019
- Bach, J.-F. (2002). The Effect of Infections on Susceptibility to Autoimmune and Allergic
 Diseases. New England Journal of Medicine, 347(12), 911–920.
 https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra020100
- Bagade, T., Chojenta, C., Harris, M., Oldmeadow, C., & Loxton, D. (2022). The human right to safely give birth: Data from 193 countries show that gender equality does affect maternal mortality. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 22(1), 874. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-022-05225-6
- Baiden, P., Panisch, L. S., Onyeaka, H. K., LaBrenz, C. A., & Kim, Y. (2021). Association of childhood physical and sexual abuse with arthritis in adulthood: Findings from a population-based study. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 23, 101463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101463
- Baldwin, J. R., Arseneault, L., Caspi, A., Fisher, H. L., Moffitt, T. E., Odgers, C. L., Pariante, C., Ambler, A., Dove, R., Kepa, A., Matthews, T., Menard, A., Sugden, K., Williams, B., & Danese, A. (2018). Childhood victimization and inflammation in young adulthood: A genetically sensitive cohort study. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 67, 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2017.08.025
- Barrios, Y. V., Gelaye, B., Zhong, Q., Nicolaidis, C., Rondon, M. B., Garcia, P. J., Sanchez, P. A. M., Sanchez, S. E., & Williams, M. A. (2015). Association of Childhood
 Physical and Sexual Abuse with Intimate Partner Violence, Poor General Health and
 Depressive Symptoms among Pregnant Women. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(1), e0116609.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0116609

- Bas-Hoogendam, J. M., van Steenbergen, H., Nienke Pannekoek, J., Fouche, J.-P., Lochner, C., Hattingh, C. J., Cremers, H. R., Furmark, T., Månsson, K. N. T., Frick, A., Engman, J., Boraxbekk, C.-J., Carlbring, P., Andersson, G., Fredrikson, M., Straube, T., Peterburs, J., Klumpp, H., Phan, K. L., ... van der Wee, N. J. A. (2017). Voxelbased morphometry multi-center mega-analysis of brain structure in social anxiety disorder. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, *16*, 678–688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2017.08.001
- Baumeister, D., Akhtar, R., Ciufolini, S., Pariante, C. M., & Mondelli, V. (2016). Childhood trauma and adulthood inflammation: A meta-analysis of peripheral C-reactive protein, interleukin-6 and tumour necrosis factor-α. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *21*(5), 642–649. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2015.67
- Becker, J. B., & Hu, M. (2008). Sex differences in drug abuse. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology, 29(1), 36–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2007.07.003
- Becker, J. B., McClellan, M., & Reed, B. G. (2016). Sociocultural context for sex differences in addiction: Context for sex differences. *Addiction Biology*, 21(5), 1052–1059. https://doi.org/10.1111/adb.12383
- Bellis, M. A., Hughes, K., Ford, K., Ramos Rodriguez, G., Sethi, D., & Passmore, J. (2019).
 Life course health consequences and associated annual costs of adverse childhood experiences across Europe and North America: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*, 4(10), e517–e528. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30145-8

- Bergami, M., Scarpone, M., Bugiardini, R., Cenko, E., & Manfrini, O. (2022). Sex beyond cardiovascular risk factors and clinical biomarkers of cardiovascular disease. *Reviews in Cardiovascular Medicine*, *23*(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.31083/j.rcm2301019
- Berglund, A., Bisazza, A., & Pilastro, A. (1996). Armaments and ornaments: An evolutionary explanation of traits of dual utility. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 58(4), 385–399. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1996.tb01442.x
- Berletch, J. B., Yang, F., & Disteche, C. M. (2010). Escape from X inactivation in mice and humans. *Genome Biology*, 11(6), 213. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2010-11-6-213
- Bernin, H., & Lotter, H. (2014). Sex Bias in the Outcome of Human Tropical Infectious
 Diseases: Influence of Steroid Hormones. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 209(suppl
 3), S107–S113. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jit610
- Bernstein, D. P., Stein, J. A., Newcomb, M. D., Walker, E., Pogge, D., Ahluvalia, T., Stokes, J., Handelsman, L., Medrano, M., Desmond, D., & Zule, W. (2003). Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *27*(2), 169–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Beutel, T. F., Zwerenz, R., & Michal, M. (2018). Psychosocial stress impairs health behavior in patients with mental disorders. *BMC Psychiatry*, 18(1), 375. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1956-8
- Beye, M., Hasselmann, M., Fondrk, M. K., Page, R. E., & Omholt, S. W. (2003). The Gene csd Is the Primary Signal for Sexual Development in the Honeybee and Encodes an SR-Type Protein. *Cell*, 114(4), 419–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00606-8

- Bhattacharya, A., Khess, C. R. J., Munda, S. K., Bakhla, A. K., Praharaj, S. K., & Kumar, M. (2011). Sex difference in symptomatology of manic episode. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 52(3), 288–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2010.06.010
- Bianchi, I., Lleo, A., Gershwin, M. E., & Invernizzi, P. (2012). The X chromosome and immune associated genes. *Journal of Autoimmunity*, 38(2–3), J187–J192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2011.11.012
- Blach-Olszewska, Z., & Leszek, J. (2007). Mechanisms of over-activated innate immune system regulation in autoimmune and neurodegenerative disorders. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 3(3), 365–372.
- Bodansky, H. J., Staines, A., Stephenson, C., Haigh, D., & Cartwright, R. (1992). Evidence for an environmental effect in the aetiology of insulin dependent diabetes in a transmigratory population. *BMJ*, *304*(6833), 1020–1022.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.304.6833.1020
- Bonduriansky, R., Maklakov, A., Zajitschek, F., & Brooks, R. (2008). Sexual selection, sexual conflict and the evolution of ageing and life span. *Functional Ecology*, 22(3), 443–453. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01417.x
- Bongen, E., Lucian, H., Khatri, A., Fragiadakis, G. K., Bjornson, Z. B., Nolan, G. P., Utz, P. J., & Khatri, P. (2019). Sex Differences in the Blood Transcriptome Identify Robust Changes in Immune Cell Proportions with Aging and Influenza Infection. *Cell Reports*, 29(7), 1961-1973.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.10.019
- Brandon, M. T. (1996). Probability density plot for fission-track grain-age samples. *Radiation Measurements*, *26*(5), 663–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1350-4487(97)82880-6

- Branyan, T. E., & Sohrabji, F. (2020). Sex differences in stroke co-morbidities. *Experimental Neurology*, 332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2020.113384
- Bravo, J. A., Forsythe, P., Chew, M. V., Escaravage, E., Savignac, H. M., Dinan, T. G.,
 Bienenstock, J., & Cryan, J. F. (2011). Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain regulates
 emotional behavior and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus
 nerve. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(38), 16050–16055. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1102999108
- Brooks, E. G., Schmalstieg, F. C., Wirt, D. P., Rosenblatt, H. M., Adkins, L. T., Lookingbill,
 D. P., Rudloff, H. E., Rakusan, T. A., & Goldman, A. S. (1990). A novel X-linked
 combined immunodeficiency disease. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 86(5), 1623–
 1631. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI114884
- Brooks, M. E., Kristensen, K., van Benthem, K. J., Magnusson, A., Berg, C. W., Nielson, A., Skaug, H. J., Maechler, M., & Bolker, B. M. (2017). GlmmTMB balances speed and flexibility among packages for zero-inflated generalized linear mixed modeling. *The R Journal*, 9(2), 378–400.
- Brown, A. S. (2006). Prenatal Infection as a Risk Factor for Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *32*(2), 200–202. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbj052
- Brown, A. S., & Meyer, U. (2018). Maternal Immune Activation and Neuropsychiatric Illness: A Translational Research Perspective. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 175(11), 1073–1083. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17121311
- Brown, C. M., Wong, Q., Thakur, A., Singh, K., & Singh, R. S. (2022). Origin of Sex-Biased Mental Disorders: Do Males and Females Experience Different Selective Regimes?

Journal of Molecular Evolution, 90(6), 401–417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00239-022-10072-2

- Burns, J. K., Tomita, A., & Kapadia, A. S. (2014). Income inequality and schizophrenia: Increased schizophrenia incidence in countries with high levels of income inequality. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 60(2), 185–196. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764013481426
- Caldarone, B. J., George, T. P., Zachariou, V., & Picciotto, M. R. (2000). Gender Differences in Learned Helplessness Behavior Are Influenced by Genetic Background. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 66(4), 811–817. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-3057(00)00271-9
- Calipari, E. S., Juarez, B., Morel, C., Walker, D. M., Cahill, M. E., Ribeiro, E., Roman-Ortiz, C., Ramakrishnan, C., Deisseroth, K., Han, M.-H., & Nestler, E. J. (2017).
 Dopaminergic dynamics underlying sex-specific cocaine reward. *Nature Communications*, *8*, 13877. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13877
- Callhoff, J., Luque Ramos, A., Zink, A., Hoffmann, F., & Albrecht, K. (2017). The Association of Low Income with Functional Status and Disease Burden in German Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis: Results of a Cross-sectional Questionnaire Survey Based on Claims Data. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, *44*(6), 766–772. https://doi.org/10.3899/jrheum.160966
- Carrel, L., Cottle, A. A., Goglin, K. C., & Willard, H. F. (1999). A first-generation Xinactivation profile of the human X chromosome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(25), 14440–14444. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.25.14440

- Castle, D. J., & Buckley, P. F. (2015). *Schizophrenia* (Second edition). Oxford University Press.
- Caton, C. L. M., Xie, H., Drake, R. E., & McHugo, G. (2014). Gender Differences in Psychotic Disorders With Concurrent Substance Use. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, 10(4), 177–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/15504263.2014.961882
- Chae, D. H., Takeuchi, D. T., Barbeau, E. M., Bennett, G. G., Lindsey, J. C., Stoddard, A. M., & Krieger, N. (2008). Alcohol disorders among Asian Americans: Associations with unfair treatment, racial/ethnic discrimination, and ethnic identification (the national Latino and Asian Americans study, 2002-2003). *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 62(11), 973–979. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2007.066811
- Chang, C.-Y., Luo, D.-Z., Pei, J.-C., Kuo, M.-C., Hsieh, Y.-C., & Lai, W.-S. (2021). Not Just a Bystander: The Emerging Role of Astrocytes and Research Tools in Studying Cognitive Dysfunctions in Schizophrenia. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(10), 5343. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22105343
- Cheesman, K. L., Ph. D. (2019). Autoimmune disorders. In Magill's Medical Guide (Online Edition). Salem Press; Research Starters. http://libaccess.mcmaster.ca/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=ers&AN=86193919&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Cleveland, W. S., & McGill, R. (1984). Graphical Perception: Theory, Experimentation, and Application to the Development of Graphical Methods. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 79(387), 531–554. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1984.10478080

- Coffeen, U., & Pellicer, F. (2019). Salvia divinorum: From recreational hallucinogenic use to analgesic and anti-inflammatory action. *Journal of Pain Research, Volume 12*, 1069– 1076. https://doi.org/10.2147/JPR.S188619
- Cohen, S., Kessler, R. C., & Gordon, L. U. (1997). Measuring Stress: A Guide for Health and Social Scientists. Oxford University Press. https://books.google.ca/books?id=o8znCwAAQBAJ
- Cohen, S., Tyrrell, D. A., Russell, M. A., Jarvis, M. J., & Smith, A. P. (1993). Smoking, alcohol consumption, and susceptibility to the common cold. *American Journal of Public Health*, 83(9), 1277–1283. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.83.9.1277
- Coid, J., Petruckevitch, A., Feder, G., Chung, W.-S., Richardson, J., & Moorey, S. (2001).
 Relation between childhood sexual and physical abuse and risk of revictimisation in women: A cross-sectional survey. *The Lancet*, *358*(9280), 450–454.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05622-7
- Costello, H., Gould, R. L., Abrol, E., & Howard, R. (2019). Systematic review and metaanalysis of the association between peripheral inflammatory cytokines and generalised anxiety disorder. *BMJ Open*, 9(7), e027925. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027925
- Craig, W., Harel-Fisch, Y., Fogel-Grinvald, H., Dostaler, S., Hetland, J., Simons-Morton, B., Molcho, M., de Mato, M. G., Overpeck, M., Due, P., Pickett, W., HBSC Violence & Injuries Prevention Focus Group, & HBSC Bullying Writing Group. (2009). A crossnational profile of bullying and victimization among adolescents in 40 countries. *International Journal of Public Health*, *54 Suppl 2*(Suppl 2), 216–224. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-009-5413-9
- Cutolo, M., & Straub, R. H. (2020). Sex steroids and autoimmune rheumatic diseases: State of the art. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, 16(11), 628–644. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-020-0503-4
- Darwin, C. (1859). On the origin of species (1st ed.). Project Gutenberg. https://www.gutenberg.org/files/1228/1228-h/1228-h.htm
- Darwin, C. (1871). *The descent of man and selection in relation to sex* (1st ed., Vol. 2). The Project Gutenberg. https://www.gutenberg.org/files/2300/2300-h/2300-h.htm
- Dawson, D. A., Grant, B. F., & Ruan, W. J. (2005). THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN STRESS AND DRINKING: MODIFYING EFFECTS OF GENDER AND VULNERABILITY. Alcohol and Alcoholism, 40(5), 453–460. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agh176
- Denver, R. J. (2009). Structural and Functional Evolution of Vertebrate Neuroendocrine Stress Systems. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1163(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04433.x
- Dewing, P., Shi, T., Horvath, S., & Vilain, E. (2003). Sexually dimorphic gene expression in mouse brain precedes gonadal differentiation. *Brain Research. Molecular Brain Research*, 118(1–2), 82–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-328x(03)00339-5
- Dhabhar, F. S. (2014). Effects of stress on immune function: The good, the bad, and the beautiful. *Immunologic Research*, *58*(2–3), 193–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12026-014-8517-0
- Dion-Albert, L., Cadoret, A., Doney, E., Kaufmann, F. N., Dudek, K. A., Daigle, B., Parise, L. F., Cathomas, F., Samba, N., Hudson, N., Lebel, M., Signature Consortium,

Aardema, F., Ait Bentaleb, L., Beauchamp, J., Bendahmane, H., Benoit, E., Bergeron, L., Bertone, A., ... Menard, C. (2022). Vascular and blood-brain barrier-related changes underlie stress responses and resilience in female mice and depression in human tissue. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1), 164. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-27604-x

- Disteche, C. M., & Berletch, J. B. (2015). X-chromosome inactivation and escape. *Journal of Genetics*, *94*(4), 591–599. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-015-0574-1
- Dong, Y., Wang, X., Zhou, Y., Zheng, Q., Chen, Z., Zhang, H., Sun, Z., Xu, G., & Hu, G.
 (2020). Hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis imbalance and inflammation contribute to sex differences in separation- and restraint-induced depression. *Hormones and Behavior*, *122*, 104741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2020.104741
- Dunn, E. C., Wang, M.-J., & Perlis, R. H. (2020). A Summary of Recent Updates on the Genetic Determinants of Depression. In *Major Depressive Disorder* (pp. 1–27). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-58131-8.00001-X
- Eaton, W. W., Rose, N. R., Kalaydjian, A., Pedersen, M. G., & Mortensen, P. B. (2007).
 Epidemiology of autoimmune diseases in Denmark. *Journal of Autoimmunity*, 29(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2007.05.002
- Etain, B., Aas, M., Andreassen, O. A., Lorentzen, S., Dieset, I., Gard, S., Kahn, J.-P.,
 Bellivier, F., Leboyer, M., Melle, I., & Henry, C. (2013). Childhood Trauma Is
 Associated With Severe Clinical Characteristics of Bipolar Disorders. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 74(10), 991–998. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.13m08353
- Eyre, H. A., Air, T., Proctor, S., Rositano, S., & Baune, B. T. (2015). A critical review of the efficacy of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in depression. *Progress in Neuro-*

Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, *57*, 11–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2014.10.003

- Eyuboglu, M., Eyuboglu, D., Pala, S. C., Oktar, D., Demirtas, Z., Arslantas, D., & Unsal, A. (2021). Traditional school bullying and cyberbullying: Prevalence, the effect on mental health problems and self-harm behavior. *Psychiatry Research*, 297, 113730. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.113730
- Ezeokoli-Ashraph, C. U., Shafe, S., & Sharpe, J. A. (2019). The psychological burden of bullying: A retrospective study on the mental health effects of bullying on patients at an outpatient child and adolescent psychiatric clinic. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 58(10), S243–S244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2019.08.311
- Ferri, F. F. (Ed.). (2021). Ferri's clinical advisor 2022. Elsevier.
- Firth, J., Veronese, N., Cotter, J., Shivappa, N., Hebert, J. R., Ee, C., Smith, L., Stubbs, B., Jackson, S. E., & Sarris, J. (2019). What Is the Role of Dietary Inflammation in Severe Mental Illness? A Review of Observational and Experimental Findings. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10, 350. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00350
- Fisher, H., Morgan, C., Dazzan, P., Craig, T. K., Morgan, K., Hutchinson, G., Jones, P. B.,
 Doody, G. A., Pariante, C., McGuffin, P., Murray, R. M., Leff, J., & Fearon, P.
 (2009). Gender differences in the association between childhood abuse and psychosis. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 194(4), 319–325.
 https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.047985
- Fleck, D. E., Welge, J. A., Eliassen, J. C., Adler, C. M., DelBello, M. P., & Strakowski, S. M.(2018). Factor analysis of regional brain activation in bipolar and healthy individuals

reveals a consistent modular structure. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 234, 14–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.02.076

- Foo, Y. Z., Nakagawa, S., Rhodes, G., & Simmons, L. W. (2017). The effects of sex hormones on immune function: A meta-analysis: Sex hormones and immune function. *Biological Reviews*, 92(1), 551–571. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12243
- Gal-Oz, S. T., Maier, B., Yoshida, H., Seddu, K., Elbaz, N., Czysz, C., Zuk, O., Stranger, B.
 E., Ner-Gaon, H., & Shay, T. (2019). ImmGen report: Sexual dimorphism in the immune system transcriptome. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 4295. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12348-6
- Gartler, S. M., & Riggs, A. D. (1983). Mammalian X-chromosome inactivation. *Annual Review of Genetics*, *17*(1), 155–190.
- Gee, G. C., Delva, J., & Takeuchi, D. T. (2007). Relationships Between Self-Reported Unfair Treatment and Prescription Medication Use, Illicit Drug Use, and Alcohol
 Dependence Among Filipino Americans. *American Journal of Public Health*, 97(5), 933–940. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.075739
- Gempe, T., Hasselmann, M., Schiøtt, M., Hause, G., Otte, M., & Beye, M. (2009). Sex Determination in Honeybees: Two Separate Mechanisms Induce and Maintain the Female Pathway. *PLoS Biology*, 7(10), e1000222. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000222
- Germain, D. P. (2006). General aspects of X-linked diseases. In A. Mehta, M. Beck, & G. Sunder-Plassmann (Eds.), *Fabry Disease: Perspectives from 5 Years of FOS*. Oxford PharmaGenesis. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK11593/

Gilbert, R., Widom, C. S., Browne, K., Fergusson, D., Webb, E., & Janson, S. (2009).
Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. *The Lancet*, 373(9657), 68–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61706-7

- Glass, C. K., Saijo, K., Winner, B., Marchetto, M. C., & Gage, F. H. (2010). Mechanisms Underlying Inflammation in Neurodegeneration. *Cell*, 140(6), 918–934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.016
- Gold, S. M., & Voskuhl, R. R. (2009). Estrogen treatment in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 286(1–2), 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2009.05.028
- Goldsmith, D. R., Rapaport, M. H., & Miller, B. J. (2016). A meta-analysis of blood cytokine network alterations in psychiatric patients: Comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 21(12), 1696–1709. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2016.3
- Grimaldi, C. M., Cleary, J., Dagtas, A. S., Moussai, D., & Diamond, B. (2002). Estrogen alters thresholds for B cell apoptosis and activation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 109(12), 1625–1633. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI0214873
- Grossman, L. S., Harrow, M., Rosen, C., Faull, R., & Strauss, G. P. (2008). Sex differences in schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders: A 20-year longitudinal study of psychosis and recovery. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 49(6), 523–529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2008.03.004
- Guillen-Burgos, H., Moreno-Lopez, S., Acevedo-Vergara, K., Pérez-Florez, M., Pachón-Garcia, C., & Gálvez-Flórez, J. F. (2023). Risk of childhood trauma exposure and severity of bipolar disorder in Colombia. *International Journal of Bipolar Disorders*, *11*(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40345-023-00289-5

- Hankin, B. L., Mermelstein, R., & Roesch, L. (2007). Sex Differences in Adolescent
 Depression: Stress Exposure and Reactivity Models. *Child Development*, 78(1), 279–295. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.00997.x
- Harrewijn, A., Cardinale, E. M., Groenewold, N., Bas-Hoogendam, J. M., Aghajani, M.,
 Working group, E.-G., Veltman, D., Thompson, P. M., Stein, D. J., van der Wee, Nic.
 J. A., Winkler, A., & Pine, D. (2020). ENIGMA Mega-Analysis of Brain Structure in
 Generalized Anxiety Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 87(9), S386.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2020.02.987
- Hartig, F., & Lohse, L. (2022). DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical (Multi-Level/Mixed) Regression Models (0.4.6) [R; R (>/ 3.0.2)]. http://florianhartig.github.io/DHARMa/
- Haug, E., Øie, M., Andreassen, O. A., Bratlien, U., Nelson, B., Aas, M., Møller, P., & Melle,
 I. (2015). Anomalous self-experience and childhood trauma in first-episode
 schizophrenia. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 56, 35–41.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.10.005
- Heim, C. (2009). Effect of childhood trauma on adult depression and neuroendocrine function: Sex-specific moderation by CRH receptor 1 gene. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.08.041.2009
- Henshaw, J. M., Fromhage, L., & Jones, A. G. (2019). Sex roles and the evolution of parental care specialization. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286(1909), 20191312. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.1312
- Hermans, E. J., Bos, P. A., Ossewaarde, L., Ramsey, N. F., Fernández, G., & van Honk, J.(2010). Effects of exogenous testosterone on the ventral striatal BOLD response

during reward anticipation in healthy women. *NeuroImage*, *52*(1), 277–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.019

- Hermans, E. J., Putman, P., Baas, J. M., Koppeschaar, H. P., & van Honk, J. (2006). A Single Administration of Testosterone Reduces Fear-Potentiated Startle in Humans. *Biological Psychiatry*, 59(9), 872–874.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.11.015
- Hermans, E. J., Putman, P., & van Honk, J. (2006). Testosterone administration reduces empathetic behavior: A facial mimicry study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *31*(7), 859– 866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2006.04.002
- Hiscox, L. V., Hiller, R., Fraser, A., Rabie, S., Stewart, J., Seedat, S., Tomlinson, M., & Halligan, S. L. (2021). Sex differences in post-traumatic stress disorder in a high adversity cohort of South African adolescents: An examination of depressive symptoms, age, and trauma type as explanatory factors. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *12*(1), 1978669.

https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2021.1978669

Hodes, G. E., Pfau, M. L., Purushothaman, I., Ahn, H. F., Golden, S. A., Christoffel, D. J., Magida, J., Brancato, A., Takahashi, A., Flanigan, M. E., Ménard, C., Aleyasin, H., Koo, J. W., Lorsch, Z. S., Feng, J., Heshmati, M., Wang, M., Turecki, G., Neve, R., ... Russo, S. J. (2015). Sex differences in nucleus accumbens transcriptome profiles associated with susceptibility versus resilience to subchronic variable stress. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *35*(50), 16362–16376. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1392-15.2015 Houd, S., Sørensen, H. C. F., Clausen, J. A., & Maimburg, R. D. (2022). Giving birth in rural Arctic Greenland results from an Eastern Greenlandic birth cohort. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, *81*(1), 2091214. https://doi.org/10.1080/22423982.2022.2091214

- Hoyert, D. (2023). *Maternal mortality rates in the United States, 2021*. National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.). https://doi.org/10.15620/cdc:124678
- Huckle, T., You, R. Q., & Casswell, S. (2010). Socio-economic status predicts drinking patterns but not alcohol-related consequences independently: Socio-economic status and drinking and related consequences. *Addiction*, 105(7), 1192–1202. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.02931.x
- Hudson, C. G. (2005). Socioeconomic Status and Mental Illness: Tests of the Social
 Causation and Selection Hypotheses. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 75(1), 3–
 18. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.75.1.3
- Hurvich, C. M., & Tsai, C.-L. (1989). Regression and time series model selection in small samples. *Biometrika*, *76*(2), 297–307. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/76.2.297
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). (2021). *Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation*. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. http://www.healthdata.org/institute-health-metrics-and-evaluation
- Jablensky, A., Sartorius, N., Ernberg, G., Anker, M., Korten, A., Cooper, J. E., Day, R., & Bertelsen, A. (1992). Schizophrenia: Manifestations, incidence and course in different cultures A World Health Organization Ten-Country Study. *Psychological Medicine. Monograph Supplement*, 20, 1–97. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0264180100000904

Jacob, R., & Khan, M. (2018). Cardiac Biomarkers: What Is and What Can Be. Indian Journal of Cardiovascular Disease in Women WINCARS, 03(04), 240–244. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0039-1679104

- Jiao, C., Kopp, R., Kuney, E., Chen, C., & Liu, C. (2019). M92 sex-differences in brain development correspond to sex-differences in the age of onset for schizophrenia. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, S215–S216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2019.08.192
- Johansson, L., Guo, X., Hällström, T., Norton, M. C., Waern, M., Östling, S., Bengtsson, C., & Skoog, I. (2013). Common psychosocial stressors in middle-aged women related to longstanding distress and increased risk of Alzheimer's disease: A 38-year longitudinal population study. *BMJ Open*, *3*(9), e003142. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003142
- Jones, D. N., & Raghanti, M. A. (2021). The role of monoamine oxidase enzymes in the pathophysiology of neurological disorders. *Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy*, 114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchemneu.2021.101957
- Kang, H.-J., Park, Y., Yoo, K.-H., Kim, K.-T., Kim, E.-S., Kim, J.-W., Kim, S.-W., Shin, I.-S., Yoon, J.-S., Kim, J. H., & Kim, J.-M. (2020). Sex differences in the genetic architecture of depression. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 9927. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-66672-9
- Kassi, E., & Moutsatsou, P. (2010). Estrogen Receptor Signaling and Its Relationship to Cytokines in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2010, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/317452

- Kelly, C. D., Stoehr, A. M., Nunn, C., Smyth, K. N., & Prokop, Z. M. (2018). Sexual dimorphism in immunity across animals: A meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters*, 21(12), 1885–1894. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13164
- Kendler, K. S., Gatz, M., Gardner, C. O., & Pedersen, N. L. (2006). A Swedish national twin study of lifetime major depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163(1), 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.163.1.109
- Khan, D., Cowan, C., & Ahmed, S. A. (2012). Estrogen and Signaling in the Cells of Immune System. *Advances in Neuroimmune Biology*, 3(1), 73–93.
 https://doi.org/10.3233/NIB-2012-012039
- Khan, D., Dai, R., & Ansar Ahmed, S. (2015). Sex differences and estrogen regulation of miRNAs in lupus, a prototypical autoimmune disease. *Cellular Immunology*, 294(2), 70–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.01.004
- Kim, H.-R., Moon, S., Lee, H. K., Kang, J. L., Oh, S., & Seoh, J.-Y. (2012). Immune Dysregulation in Chronic Stress: A Quantitative and Functional Assessment of Regulatory T Cells. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, *19*(3), 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1159/000331586
- Kim, S., Colwell, S. R., Kata, A., Boyle, M. H., & Georgiades, K. (2018). Cyberbullying Victimization and Adolescent Mental Health: Evidence of Differential Effects by Sex and Mental Health Problem Type. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 47(3), 661–672. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-017-0678-4
- Klein, S. L., & Flanagan, K. L. (2016). Sex differences in immune responses. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *16*(10), 626.

Klomek, A. B., Sourander, A., Niemelä, S., Kumpulainen, K., Piha, J., Tamminen, T.,
Almqvist, F., & Gould, M. S. (2009). Childhood Bullying Behaviors as a Risk for
Suicide Attempts and Completed Suicides: A Population-Based Birth Cohort Study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48(3), 254–261.
https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e318196b91f

Kohler, O., Benros, M. E., Nordentoft, M., Farkouh, M. E., Iyengar, R. L., Mors, O., & Krogh, J. (2014). Effect of anti-inflammatory treatment on depression, depressive Symptoms, and adverse effects: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *71*(12), 1381. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1611

- Kokko, H., & Jennions, M. D. (2008). Parental investment, sexual selection and sex ratios. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 21(4), 919–948. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2008.01540.x
- Konkle, B. A., & Nakaya Fletcher, S. (2017). *Hemophilia A*. https://europepmc.org/article/NBK/nbk1404
- Koskinas, J., Merkouraki, P., Manesis, E., & Hadziyannis, S. (2002). Assessment of Depression in Patients with Chronic Viral Hepatitis: Effect of Interferon Treatment. *Digestive Diseases*, 20(3–4), 284–288. https://doi.org/10.1159/000067682
- Kuo, J., Hamid, N., Bondar, G., Dewing, P., Clarkson, J., & Micevych, P. (2010). Sex differences in hypothalamic astrocyte response to estradiol stimulation. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 1(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/2042-6410-1-7

- La Vignera, S., Condorelli, R. A., Balercia, G., Vicari, E., & Calogero, A. E. (2013). Does alcohol have any effect on male reproductive function? A review of literature. *Asian Journal of Andrology*, 15(2), 221–225. https://doi.org/10.1038/aja.2012.118
- Langgartner, D., Wachter, U., Hartmann, C., Groger, M., Vogt, J., Merz, T., & McCook, O. (2019). Effects of Psychosocial Stress on Subsequent Hemorrhagic Shock and Resuscitation in Male Mice. *Shock*, *51*(6), 725. https://doi.org/10.1097/SHK.00000000001204
- Lee, E. E., Ancoli-Israel, S., Eyler, L. T., Tu, X. M., Palmer, B. W., Irwin, M. R., & Jeste, D. V. (2019). Sleep Disturbances and Inflammatory Biomarkers in Schizophrenia: Focus on Sex Differences. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 27(1), 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2018.09.017
- Levene, H. (1960). Robust tests for equality of variances. In *Contributions to probability and statistics: Essays in honour of Harold Hotelling*. Stanford University Press.
- Li, C., Ning, G., Wang, L., & Chen, F. (2022). More income, less depression? Revisiting the nonlinear and heterogeneous relationship between income and mental health. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1016286. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1016286
- Li, X., Zhou, W., & Yi, Z. (2022). A glimpse of gender differences in schizophrenia. *General Psychiatry*, 35(4), e100823. https://doi.org/10.1136/gpsych-2022-100823
- Libert, C., Dejager, L., & Pinheiro, I. (2010). The X chromosome in immune functions:
 When a chromosome makes the difference. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *10*(8), 594–604. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2815

Lin, S.-H., Lee, L.-T., & Yang, Y. K. (2014). Serotonin and Mental Disorders: A Concise Review on Molecular Neuroimaging Evidence. *Clinical Psychopharmacology and Neuroscience*, *12*(3), 196–202. https://doi.org/10.9758/cpn.2014.12.3.196

- Loke, H., Harley, V., & Lee, J. (2015). Biological factors underlying sex differences in neurological disorders. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 65, 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2015.05.024
- Loram, L. C., Sholar, P. W., Taylor, F. R., Wiesler, J. L., Babb, J. A., Strand, K. A.,
 Berkelhammer, D., Day, H. E. W., Maier, S. F., & Watkins, L. R. (2012). Sex and
 estradiol influence glial pro-inflammatory responses to lipopolysaccharide in rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *37*(10), 1688–1699.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.02.018
- Loret de Mola, C., Carpena, M. X., Gonçalves, H., Quevedo, L. de A., Pinheiro, R., dos Santos Motta, J. V., & Horta, B. (2020). How sex differences in schooling and income contribute to sex differences in depression, anxiety and common mental disorders: The mental health sex-gap in a birth cohort from Brazil. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 274, 977–985. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.05.033
- Luczak, S. E., Prescott, C. A., Dalais, C., Raine, A., Venables, P. H., & Mednick, S. A.
 (2014). Religious factors associated with alcohol involvement: Results from the Mauritian Joint Child Health Project. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *135*, 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.10.028
- Lund, C., Breen, A., Flisher, A. J., Kakuma, R., Corrigall, J., Joska, J. A., Swartz, L., & Patel,V. (2010). Poverty and common mental disorders in low and middle income

countries: A systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine*, *71*(3), 517–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.04.027

- Lynch, W. J., & Sofuoglu, M. (2010). Role of Progesterone in Nicotine Addiction: Evidence From Initiation to Relapse. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 18(6), 451–461. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021265
- Mabaso, M. H. L., Ndaba, T., & Mkhize-Kwitshana, Z. L. (2014). Overview of maternal, neonatal and child deaths in South Africa: Challenges, opportunities, progress and future prospects. *International Journal of MCH and AIDS*, 2(2), 182–189.
- Mackay, C. E., Roddick, E., Barrick, T. R., Lloyd, A. J., Roberts, N., Crow, T. J., Young, A. H., & Ferrier, I. N. (2010). Sex dependence of brain size and shape in bipolar disorder: An exploratory study: Brain size, sex, and bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disorders*, *12*(3), 306–311. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-5618.2010.00804.x
- Malaspina, D., Corcoran, C., Kleinhaus, K., Perrin, M., Fennig, S., Nahon, D., Friedlander,
 Y., & Harlap, S. (2008). Acute maternal stress in pregnancy and schizophrenia in
 offspring: A cohort prospective study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 8(1), 71.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-8-71
- Maric, N., Popovic, V., Jasovic-Gasic, M., Pilipovic, N., & Van Os, J. (2005). Cumulative exposure to estrogen and psychosis: A peak bone mass, case-control study in firstepisode psychosis. *Schizophrenia Research*, 73(2–3), 351–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2004.07.016
- Mayne, B. T., Bianco-Miotto, T., Buckberry, S., Breen, J., Clifton, V., Shoubridge, C., & Roberts, C. T. (2016). Large Scale Gene Expression Meta-Analysis Reveals Tissue-

Specific, Sex-Biased Gene Expression in Humans. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2016.00183

- McCabe, S. E., Bostwick, W. B., Hughes, T. L., West, B. T., & Boyd, C. J. (2010). The Relationship Between Discrimination and Substance Use Disorders Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Adults in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, *100*(10), 1946–1952. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.163147
- McEwen, B. S. (2001). Estrogens effects on the brain: Multiple sites and molecular mechanisms. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 91(6), 2785–2801.
 https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2001.91.6.2785
- McEwen, B. S., & Milner, T. A. (2017). Understanding the broad influence of sex hormones and sex differences in the brain: Sex Hormones Affect the Whole Brain. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 95(1–2), 24–39. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23809
- McGrath, J., Saha, S., Welham, J., El Saadi, O., MacCauley, C., & Chant, D. (2004). A systematic review of the incidence of schizophrenia: The distribution of rates and the influence of sex, urbanicity, migrant status and methodology. *BMC Medicine*, 2(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-2-13
- Menard, C., Pfau, M. L., Hodes, G. E., Kana, V., Wang, V. X., Bouchard, S., Takahashi, A., Flanigan, M. E., Aleyasin, H., LeClair, K. B., Janssen, W. G., Labonté, B., Parise, E. M., Lorsch, Z. S., Golden, S. A., Heshmati, M., Tamminga, C., Turecki, G., Campbell, M., ... Russo, S. J. (2017). Social stress induces neurovascular pathology promoting depression. *Nature Neuroscience*, *20*(12), 1752–1760. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-017-0010-3

Mendrek, A., & Fattore, L. (2017). Sex differences in drug-induced psychosis. Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences, 13, 152–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2016.11.019

- Mersky, J. P., Topitzes, J., & Reynolds, A. J. (2013). Impacts of adverse childhood experiences on health, mental health, and substance use in early adulthood: A cohort study of an urban, minority sample in the U.S. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(11), 917–925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.07.011
- Meyer, J. H., Wilson, A. A., Sagrati, S., Miler, L., Rusjan, P., Bloomfield, P. M., Clark, M., Sacher, J., Voineskos, A. N., & Houle, S. (2009). Brain Monoamine Oxidase A Binding in Major Depressive Disorder: Relationship to Selective Serotonin Reup take Inhibitor Treatment, Recovery, and Recurrence. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66(12), 1304–1312. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.156
- Michopoulos, V., Powers, A., Gillespie, C. F., Ressler, K. J., & Jovanovic, T. (2017).
 Inflammation in Fear- and Anxiety-Based Disorders: PTSD, GAD, and Beyond.
 Neuropsychopharmacology, 42(1), 254–270. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2016.146
- Miller, L., Bodemeier Loayza Careaga, M., Handa, R. J., & Wu, T. J. (2022). The Effects of Chronic Variable Stress and Photoperiod Alteration on the Hypothalamic–Pituitary– Adrenal Axis Response and Behavior of Mice. *Neuroscience*, 496, 105–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2022.06.011
- Miossec, P., Chomarat, P., Dechanet, J., Moreau, J.-F., Roux, J.-P., Delmas, P., & Banchereau, J. (1994). Interleukin-4 inhibits bone resorption through an effect on osteoclasts and proinflammatory cytokines in an ex vivo model of bone resorption in

rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, *37*(12), 1715–1722. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780371202

- Mitchell, R. H., Metcalfe, A. W., Islam, A. H., Toma, S., Patel, R., Fiksenbaum, L., Korczak,
 D., MacIntosh, B. J., & Goldstein, B. I. (2018). Sex differences in brain structure among adolescents with bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disorders*, 20(5), 448–458.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12663
- Modabbernia, A., Taslimi, S., Brietzke, E., & Ashrafi, M. (2013). Cytokine Alterations in
 Bipolar Disorder: A Meta-Analysis of 30 Studies. *Biological Psychiatry*, 74(1), 15–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.01.007
- Morrisson, C., & Jütting, J. P. (2005). Women's discrimination in developing countries: A new data set for better policies. *World Development*, 33(7), 1065–1081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2005.04.002
- Morrow, E. H. (2015). The evolution of sex differences in disease. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 6(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-015-0023-0
- Mukhara, D., Oh, U., & Neigh, G. N. (2020). Neuroinflammation. In *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* (Vol. 175, pp. 235–259). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64123-6.00017-5
- Mulia, N., Ye, Y., Zemore, S. E., & Greenfield, T. K. (2008). Social Disadvantage, Stress, and Alcohol Use Among Black, Hispanic, and White Americans: Findings From the 2005 U.S. National Alcohol Survey. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 69(6), 824–833. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2008.69.824

- Murray, E., Sharma, R., Smith, K. B., Mar, K. D., Barve, R., Lukasik, M., Pirwani, A. F.,
 Malette-Guyon, E., Lamba, S., Thomas, B. J., Sadeghi-Emamchaie, H., Liang, J.,
 Mallet, J.-F., Matar, C., & Ismail, N. (2019). Probiotic consumption during puberty
 mitigates LPS-induced immune responses and protects against stress-induced
 depression- and anxiety-like behaviors in adulthood in a sex-specific manner. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, *81*, 198–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2019.06.016
- Muti, P., Trevisan, M., Micheli, A., Krogh, V., Bolelli, G., Sciajno, R., Schünemann, H. J., & Berrino, F. (1998). Alcohol consumption and total estradiol in premenopausal women. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention: A Publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, Cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology*, 7(3), 189–193.
- Neigh, G. N., Nemeth, C. L., & Rowson, S. A. (2016). Chapter 1 Sex Differences in Immunity and Inflammation: Implications for Brain and Behavior. In R. M. Shansky (Ed.), *Sex Differences in the Central Nervous System* (pp. 1–26). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802114-9.00001-9
- Nesvåg, R., Knudsen, G. P., Bakken, I. J., Høye, A., Ystrøm, E., Surén, P., Reneflot, A., Stoltenberg, C., & Reichborn-Kjennerud, T. (2014). Sex differences in prevalence and comorbid substance use disorders among patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: A five-year population-based study. *Schizophrenia Research*, 153, S133. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0920-9964(14)70402-5
- Newton, K., & Dixit, V. M. (2012). Signaling in Innate Immunity and Inflammation. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 4(3), a006049. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a006049

- Nunn, C. L., Lindenfors, P., Pursall, E. R., & Rolff, J. (2009). On sexual dimorphism in immune function. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1513), 61–69. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0148
- O'Connor, J. C., Andre, C., Wang, Y., Lawson, M. A., Szegedi, S. S., Lestage, J., Castanon, N., Kelley, K. W., & Dantzer, R. (2009). Interferon- and Tumor Necrosis Factor-Mediate the Upregulation of Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase and the Induction of Depressive-Like Behavior in Mice in Response to Bacillus Calmette-Guerin. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(13), 4200–4209. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5032-08.2009
- Öhlin, B., Nilsson, P. M., Nilsson, J.-Å., & Berglund, G. (2004). Chronic psychosocial stress predicts long-term cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in middle-aged men. *European Heart Journal*, 25(10), 867–873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ehj.2004.03.003
- Okin, D., & Medzhitov, R. (2012). Evolution of Inflammatory Diseases. *Current Biology*, 22(17), R733–R740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.07.029
- Opler, L. A., White, L., Caton, C. L. M., Dominguez, B., Hirshfield, S., & Shrout, P. E. (2001). Gender Differences in the Relationship of Homelessness to Symptom Severity, Substance Abuse, and Neuroleptic Noncompliance in Schizophrenia: *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *189*(7), 449–456. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005053-200107000-00006
- Pergola, G., Papalino, M., Gelao, B., Sportelli, L., Vollerbergh, W., Grattagliano, I., & Bertolino, A. (2019). Evocative gene-environment correlation between genetic risk for schizophrenia and bullying victimization. *World Psychiatry*, 18(3), 366–367. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20685

- Pigrau Pastor, M. (2019). Molecular mechanisms and effect of acute and psychosocial stress on the intestinal barrier function: Implications on the irritable bowel syndrome.
 Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona. https://ddd.uab.cat/record/203798
- Piirainen, S., Youssef, A., Song, C., Kalueff, A. V., Landreth, G. E., Malm, T., & Tian, L.
 (2017). Psychosocial stress on neuroinflammation and cognitive dysfunctions in
 Alzheimer's disease: The emerging role for microglia? *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 77, 148–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.046
- Popovic, D., Schmitt, A., Kaurani, L., Senner, F., Papiol, S., Malchow, B., Fischer, A., Schulze, T. G., Koutsouleris, N., & Falkai, P. (2019). Childhood Trauma in Schizophrenia: Current Findings and Research Perspectives. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13, 274. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00274
- Putrik, P., Ramiro, S., Hifinger, M., Keszei, A. P., Hmamouchi, I., Dougados, M., Gossec, L., & Boonen, A. (2016). In wealthier countries, patients perceive worse impact of the disease although they have lower objectively assessed disease activity: Results from the cross-sectional COMORA study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 75(4), 715–720. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-207738
- R Core Team. (2021). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Stastical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Ramsey, J. M., Schwarz, E., Guest, P. C., Van Beveren, N. J. M., Leweke, F. M.,
 Rothermundt, M., Bogerts, B., Steiner, J., & Bahn, S. (2013). Distinct Molecular
 Phenotypes in Male and Female Schizophrenia Patients. *PLoS ONE*, 8(11), e78729.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078729

- Ratnu, V. S., Emami, M. R., & Bredy, T. W. (2017). Genetic and epigenetic factors underlying sex differences in the regulation of gene expression in the brain. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 95(1–2), 301–310. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23886
- Rehm, J., Mathers, C., Popova, S., Thavorncharoensap, M., Teerawattananon, Y., & Patra, J. (2009). Global burden of disease and injury and economic cost attributable to alcohol use and alcohol-use disorders. *The Lancet*, 373(9682), 2223–2233. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60746-7
- Relić, B., Guicheux, J., Mezin, F., Lubberts, E., Togninalli, D., Garcia, I., Van Den Berg, W.
 B., & Guerne, P.-A. (2001). IL-4 and IL-13, But Not IL-10, Protect Human
 Synoviocytes from Apoptosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, *166*(4), 2775–2782.
 https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.4.2775
- Rindfleisch, J. A., & Muller, D. (2005). Diagnosis and management of rheumatoid arthritis. *American Family Physician*, 72(6), 1037–1047.
- Rivera, H. M., Oberbeck, D. R., Kwon, B., Houpt, T. A., & Eckel, L. A. (2009). Estradiol increases Pet-1 and serotonin transporter mRNA in the midbrain raphe nuclei of ovariectomized rats. *Brain Research*, *1259*, 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2008.12.067
- Rogers, M. A. M., Wei, M. Y., Kim, C., & Lee, J. M. (2020). Sex Differences in Autoimmune Multimorbidity in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus and the Risk of Cardiovascular and Renal Disease: A Longitudinal Study in the United States, 2001– 2017. *Journal of Women's Health*, 29(4), 511–519. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2019.7935

Rook, G. A. W. (Ed.). (2009). The hygiene hypothesis and Darwinian medicine. Birkhäuser.

- Rosengren, A., Hawken, S., Ôunpuu, S., Sliwa, K., Zubaid, M., Almahmeed, W. A., Blackett, K. N., Sitthi-amorn, C., Sato, H., & Yusuf, S. (2004). Association of psychosocial risk factors with risk of acute myocardial infarction in 11 119 cases and 13 648 controls from 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): Case-control study. *The Lancet*, *364*(9438), 953–962. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17019-0
- Rudan, I., Sidhu, S., Papana, A., Meng, S.-J., Xin-Wei, Y., Wang, W., Campbell-Page, R. M., Demaio, A. R., Nair, H., Sridhar, D., Theodoratou, E., Dowman, B., Adeloye, D., Majeed, A., Car, J., Campbell, H., Wang, W., Chan, K. Y., & Global Health Epidemiology Reference Group (GHERG). (2015). Prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review and analysis. *Journal of Global Health*, 5(1), 010409. https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.05.010409
- Ruscio, A. M., Hallion, L. S., Lim, C. C. W., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Al-Hamzawi, A., Alonso, J., Andrade, L. H., Borges, G., Bromet, E. J., Bunting, B., Caldas De Almeida, J. M., Demyttenaere, K., Florescu, S., De Girolamo, G., Gureje, O., Haro, J. M., He, Y., Hinkov, H., Hu, C., ... Scott, K. M. (2017). Cross-sectional comparison of the epidemiology of DSM-5 generalized anxiety disorder across the globe. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *74*(5), 465. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0056
- Salz, H., & Erickson, J. W. (2010). Sex determination in Drosophila: The view from the top. *Fly*, 4(1), 60–70. https://doi.org/10.4161/fly.4.1.11277
- Sánchez, M. G., Morissette, M., & Di Paolo, T. (2013). Estradiol and brain serotonin reuptake transporter in long-term ovariectomized parkinsonian monkeys. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 45, 170–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.05.008

Santos-Moreno, P., Buitrago-Garcia, D., Villarreal Peralta, L., Alvis-Zakzuk, N. J., & Alvis-Guzmán, N. (2019). PMS28 quality of life and the relationship with family income in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Value in Health*, 22, S243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2019.04.1138

Sareen, J., Afifi, T. O., McMillan, K. A., & Asmundson, G. J. G. (2011). Relationship Between Household Income and Mental Disorders: Findings From a Population-Based Longitudinal Study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68(4), 419. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.15

Sari Gokten, E., & Saday Duman, N. (2016). Factors influencing the development of psychiatric disorders in the victims of sexual abuse: A study on Turkish children. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 69, 49–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.07.022

- Sarjan, H. N., & Yajurvedi, H. N. (2018). Chronic stress induced duration dependent alterations in immune system and their reversibility in rats. *Immunology Letters*, 197, 31–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2018.02.008
- Sárvári, M., Deli, L., Kocsis, P., Márk, L., Maász, G., Hrabovszky, E., Kalló, I., Gajári, D., Vastagh, C., Sümegi, B., Tihanyi, K., & Liposits, Z. (2014). Estradiol and isotypeselective estrogen receptor agonists modulate the mesocortical dopaminergic system in gonadectomized female rats. *Brain Research*, *1583*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.06.020
- Schmidt, D., Peterlik, D., Reber, S. O., Lechner, A., & Männel, D. N. (2016). Induction of Suppressor Cells and Increased Tumor Growth following Chronic Psychosocial Stress

in Male Mice. *PloS One*, 11(7), e0159059.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159059

- Schmidt, D., Reber, S. O., Botteron, C., Barth, T., Peterlik, D., Uschold, N., Männel, D. N., & Lechner, A. (2010). Chronic psychosocial stress promotes systemic immune activation and the development of inflammatory Th cell responses. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 24(7), 1097–1104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2010.04.014
- Schneider, E. E., Schönfelder, S., Domke-Wolf, M., & Wessa, M. (2020). Measuring stress in clinical and nonclinical subjects using a German adaptation of the Perceived Stress
 Scale. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology : IJCHP*, 20(2), 173–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijchp.2020.03.004
- Schoeyen, H. K., Birkenaes, A. B., Vaaler, A. E., Auestad, B. H., Malt, U. F., Andreassen, O. A., & Morken, G. (2011). Bipolar disorder patients have similar levels of education but lower socio-economic status than the general population. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *129*(1–3), 68–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2010.08.012
- Seeman, M. V. (2020). Men and women respond differently to antipsychotic drugs. *Neuropharmacology*, *163*, 107631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.05.008
- Seeman, P., Lee, T., Chau-Wong, M., & Wong, K. (1976). Antipsychotic drug doses and neuroleptic/dopamine receptors. *Nature*, 261(5562), 717–719. https://doi.org/10.1038/261717a0
- Selye, H. (1950). Stress and the General Adaptation Syndrome. *BMJ*, *1*(4667), 1383–1392. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.1.4667.1383

Selye, H. (1956). The stress of life (pp. xvi, 324). McGraw-Hill.

Shepherd, J. E. (2001). Effects of Estrogen on Cognition, Mood, and Degenerative Brain
Diseases. *Journal of the American Pharmaceutical Association (1996)*, 41(2), 221–
228. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1086-5802(16)31233-5

- Shobeiri, P., Kalantari, A., Teixeira, A. L., & Rezaei, N. (2022). Shedding light on biological sex differences and microbiota–gut–brain axis: A comprehensive review of its roles in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 13(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-022-00422-6
- Silman, A. J., Macgregor, A. J., Thomson, W., Holligan, S., Carthy, D., Farhan, A., & Ollier, W. E. R. (1993). Twin concordance rates for rheumatoid arthritis: Results from a nationwide study. *Rheumatology*, *32*(10), 903–907. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/32.10.903
- Singh, R. S., Singh, K. K., & Singh, S. M. (2021). Origin of Sex-Biased Mental Disorders: An Evolutionary Perspective. *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 89(4–5), 195–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00239-021-09999-9
- Slavich, G. M., & Sacher, J. (2019). Stress, sex hormones, inflammation, and major depressive disorder: Extending Social Signal Transduction Theory of Depression to account for sex differences in mood disorders. *Psychopharmacology*, 236(10), 3063– 3079. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-019-05326-9
- So-Armah, K. A., Cheng, D. M., Freiberg, M. S., Gnatienko, N., Patts, G., Ma, Y., White, L.,
 Blokhina, E., Lioznov, D., Doyle, M. F., Tracy, R. P., Chichetto, N., Bridden, C.,
 Bryant, K., Krupitsky, E., & Samet, J. H. (2019). Association between alcohol use
 and inflammatory biomarkers over time among younger adults with HIV—The Russia

ARCH Observational Study. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(8), e0219710. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0219710

- Sobhani, K., Nieves Castro, D. K., Fu, Q., Gottlieb, R. A., Van Eyk, J. E., & Noel Bairey
 Merz, C. (2018). Sex differences in ischemic heart disease and heart failure
 biomarkers. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 9(1), 43. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-018-0201-y
- Souto-Carneiro, M. M., Klika, K. D., Abreu, M. T., Meyer, A. P., Saffrich, R., Sandhoff, R., Jennemann, R., Kraus, F. V., Tykocinski, L., Eckstein, V., Carvalho, L., Kriegsmann, M., Giese, T., Lorenz, H., & Carvalho, R. A. (2020). Effect of Increased Lactate Dehydrogenase A Activity and Aerobic Glycolysis on the Proinflammatory Profile of Autoimmune CD8+ T Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatology*, *72*(12), 2050–2064. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.41420
- Spies, M., Handschuh, P. A., Lanzenberger, R., & Kranz, G. S. (2020). Sex and the serotonergic underpinnings of depression and migraine. In *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* (Vol. 175, pp. 117–140). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64123-6.00009-6
- Spitzer, C., Wegert, S., Wollenhaupt, J., Wingenfeld, K., Barnow, S., & Grabe, H. J. (2013). Gender-specific association between childhood trauma and rheumatoid arthritis: A case–control study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 74(4), 296–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2012.10.007
- Sproston, N. R., & Ashworth, J. J. (2018). Role of C-Reactive Protein at Sites of Inflammation and Infection. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00754

- Strakowski, S. M., DelBello, M. P., & Adler, C. M. (2005). The functional neuroanatomy of bipolar disorder: A review of neuroimaging findings. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 10(1), 105–116. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001585
- Strawbridge, R., Arnone, D., Danese, A., Papadopoulos, A., Herane Vives, A., & Cleare, A. J. (2015). Inflammation and clinical response to treatment in depression: A metaanalysis. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 25(10), 1532–1543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.06.007
- Sundström-Poromaa, I. (2018). The Menstrual Cycle Influences Emotion but Has Limited Effect on Cognitive Function. *Vitamins and Hormones*, 107, 349–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.vh.2018.01.016
- Swendsen, J., Conway, K. P., Degenhardt, L., Glantz, M., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., Sampson, N., & Kessler, R. C. (2010). Mental disorders as risk factors for substance use, abuse and dependence: Results from the 10-year follow-up of the National Comorbidity Survey: Mental disorders as risk factors for substance use. *Addiction*, 105(6), 1117–1128. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.02902.x
- Szabo, G. (1998). Monocytes, Alcohol Use, and Altered Immunity. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22(s5), 216S-219S. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.1998.tb04005.x
- Tang, Y., & Le, W. (2016). Differential Roles of M1 and M2 Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 53(2), 1181–1194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-014-9070-5

Taylor, J. K. (2020). Structural Racism and Maternal Health Among Black Women. Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 48(3), 506–517. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110520958875

- Thi, H. D., Van Linh, P., Tannich, E., Buss, H., Blessmann, J., Nu, P. A. T., & Muller-Myhsok, B. (2002). Epidemiology of amebiasis in a region of high incidence of amebic liver abscess in central Vietnam. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 66(5), 578–583. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.2002.66.578
- Toniolo, A., Fadini, G. P., Tedesco, S., Cappellari, R., Vegeto, E., Maggi, A., Avogaro, A., Bolego, C., & Cignarella, A. (2015). Alternative Activation of Human Macrophages Is Rescued by Estrogen Treatment In Vitro and Impaired by Menopausal Status. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *100*(1), E50–E58. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-2751
- Udina, M., Castellví, P., Moreno-España, J., Navinés, R., Valdés, M., Forns, X., Langohr, K., Solà, R., Vieta, E., & Martín-Santos, R. (2012). Interferon-Induced Depression in Chronic Hepatitis C: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 73(08), 1128–1138. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.12r07694
- Vatanen, T., Kostic, A. D., d'Hennezel, E., Siljander, H., Franzosa, E. A., Yassour, M.,
 Kolde, R., Vlamakis, H., Arthur, T. D., Hämäläinen, A.-M., Peet, A., Tillmann, V.,
 Uibo, R., Mokurov, S., Dorshakova, N., Ilonen, J., Virtanen, S. M., Szabo, S. J.,
 Porter, J. A., ... Xavier, R. J. (2016). Variation in Microbiome LPS Immunogenicity
 Contributes to Autoimmunity in Humans. *Cell*, *165*(6), 1551.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.056

Verdoux, H., & Bourgeois, M. (1995). Social class in unipolar and bipolar probands and relatives. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 33(3), 181–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0327(94)00087-P

- Vincze, O., Vágási, C. I., Pénzes, J., Szabó, K., Magonyi, N. M., Czirják, G. Á., & Pap, P. L. (2022). Sexual dimorphism in immune function and oxidative physiology across birds: The role of sexual selection. *Ecology Letters*, 25(4), 958–970. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13973
- Visootsak, J., & Graham, J. M. (2006). Klinefelter syndrome and other sex chromosomal aneuploidies. Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases, 1(1), 42. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1172-1-42
- Von Korff, M., Alonso, J., Ormel, J., Angermeyer, M., Bruffaerts, R., Fleiz, C., de Girolamo, G., Kessler, R. C., Kovess-Masfety, V., Posada-Villa, J., Scott, K. M., & Uda, H. (2009). Childhood psychosocial stressors and adult onset arthritis: Broad spectrum risk factors and allostatic load. *Pain*, *143*(1), 76–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.01.034
- Vos, T., Lim, S. S., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abbasi, M., Abbasifard, M., Abbasi-Kangevari, M., Abbastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., Abdelalim, A., Abdollahi, M., Abdollahpour, I., Abolhassani, H., Aboyans, V., Abrams, E. M., Abreu, L. G., Abrigo, M. R. M., Abu-Raddad, L. J., Abushouk, A. I., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2020). Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet*, *396*(10258), 1204–1222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9

Vuillermot, S., Weber, L., Feldon, J., & Meyer, U. (2010). A Longitudinal Examination of the Neurodevelopmental Impact of Prenatal Immune Activation in Mice Reveals Primary Defects in Dopaminergic Development Relevant to Schizophrenia. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(4), 1270–1287. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5408-09.2010

Wang, Q., Wu, Q., Wang, J., Chen, Y., Zhang, G., Chen, J., Zhao, J., & Wu, P. (2017).
Ketamine Analog Methoxetamine Induced Inflammation and Dysfunction of Bladder in Rats. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(1), 117. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18010117

Weckmann, A. L., & Alcocer-Varela, J. (1996). Cytokine inhibitors in autoimmune disease. Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism, 26(2), 539–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0049-0172(96)80042-4

Williams, S. G., Langhinrichsen-Rohling, J., Wornell, C., & Finnegan, H. (2017).
Adolescents Transitioning to High School: Sex Differences in Bullying Victimization
Associated With Depressive Symptoms, Suicide Ideation, and Suicide Attempts. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *33*(6), 467–479.
https://doi.org/10.1177/1059840516686840

- Willner, P. (2017). Reliability of the chronic mild stress model of depression: A user survey. *Neurobiology of Stress*, 6, 68–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2016.08.001
- Woodcock, E. A., Zakiniaeiz, Y., Morris, E. D., & Cosgrove, K. P. (2020). Sex and the dopaminergic system: Insights from addiction studies. In *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* (Vol. 175, pp. 141–165). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64123-6.00011-4

World Health Organization. (2001). *The World Health Report 2001: Mental Health: New Understanding, New Hope*. World Health Organization. https://books.google.ca/books?id=GQEdA-VFSIgC

- Wozniak, J., Biederman, J., Martelon, M. K., Hernandez, M., Yvonne Woodworth, K., &
 Faraone, S. V. (2013). Does sex moderate the clinical correlates of pediatric bipolar-I disorder? Results from a large controlled family-genetic study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 149(1–3), 269–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.040
- Wu, J. B., Chen, K., Li, Y., Lau, Y.-F. C., & Shih, J. C. (2009). Regulation of monoamine oxidase A by the SRY gene on the Y chromosome. The FASEB Journal, 23(11), 4029–4038. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.09-139097
- Yang, M., Guo, H., Chu, M., Leng, C., Qu, C., Tian, K., Jing, Y., Xu, M., Guo, X., Yang, L., & Li, X. (2022). Sex Differences in Traditional School Bullying Perpetration and Victimization among Adolescents: A Chain-Mediating Effect. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(15), 9525. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19159525
- Yin, H., Galfalvy, H., Pantazatos, S. P., Huang, Y., Rosoklija, G. B., Dwork, A. J., Burke, A., Arango, V., Oquendo, M. A., & Mann, J. J. (2016). Glucocorticoid receptor-related genes: Genotype and brain gene expression relationships to suicide and major depressive disorders. *Depression and Anxiety*, 33(6), 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22499
- Yoo, H. C., Gee, G. C., Lowthrop, C. K., & Robertson, J. (2010). Self-Reported Racial Discrimination and Substance Use Among Asian Americans in Arizona. *Journal of*

Immigrant and Minority Health, *12*(5), 683–690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-009-9306-z

- Yu, C., Liu, C., Jiang, J., Li, H., Chen, J., Chen, T., & Zhan, X. (2020). Gender Differences in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Interleukin-4 Plays an Important Role. *Journal of Immunology Research*, 2020, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/4121524
- Zhang, L., Verwer, R. W. H., Lucassen, P. J., Huitinga, I., & Swaab, D. F. (2020). Sex difference in glia gene expression in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in bipolar disorder: Relation to psychotic features. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 125, 66–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.03.003
- Zhou, H., Zhang, L., Ye, F., Wang, H., Huntington, D., Huang, Y., Wang, A., Liu, S., & Wang, Y. (2016). The Effect of Maternal Death on the Health of the Husband and Children in a Rural Area of China: A Prospective Cohort Study. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(6), e0157122. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157122
- Zietz, S., Kajula, L., McNaughton Reyes, H. L., Moracco, B., Shanahan, M., Martin, S., & Maman, S. (2020). Patterns of adverse childhood experiences and subsequent risk of interpersonal violence perpetration among men in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 99, 104256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104256

Appendix

Disease	Location	Sex	+ or - outlier
MDD	Gambia	Female	+
MDD	Greece	Female	+
MDD	Greenland	Female	+
MDD	Portugal	Female	+
MDD	Uganda	Female	+
MDD	Angola	Male	+
MDD	Central African Republic	Male	+
MDD	Congo	Male	+
MDD	Equatorial Guinea	Male	+
MDD	Gabon	Male	+
MDD	Greenland	Male	+
MDD	Palestine	Male	+
MDD	Uganda	Male	+
Anxiety	Brazil	Female	+
Anxiety	Cyprus	Female	+
Anxiety	France	Female	+
Anxiety	Germany	Female	+
Anxiety	Iran	Female	+
Anxiety	Ireland	Female	+
Anxiety	Lebanon	Female	+
Anxiety	Netherlands	Female	+
Anxiety	New Zealand	Female	+

Table A. 1. Locations of Outliers for each disease and each sex. + or - outlier refers to the outlier being above the center of the data (+), or below the center of the data (-).

Anxiety	Norway	Female	+
Anxiety	Portugal	Female	+
Anxiety	Switzerland	Female	+
Anxiety	United States of America	Female	+
Anxiety	Australia	Male	+
Anxiety	Brazil	Male	+
Anxiety	Cyprus	Male	+
Anxiety	Iran	Male	+
Anxiety	Ireland	Male	+
Anxiety	United States of America	Male	+
Anxiety	Lebanon	Male	+
Anxiety	Switzerland	Male	+
Anxiety	Netherlands	Male	+
Anxiety	New Zealand	Male	+
Anxiety	Norway	Male	+
Anxiety	Portugal	Male	+
Anxiety	Mongolia	Male	-
Anxiety	Kyrgyzstan	Male	-
Anxiety	Uzbekistan	Male	-
Anxiety	Viet Nam	Male	-
Bipolar	New Zealand	Female	+
Bipolar	New Zealand	Male	+
Schizophrenia	Australia	Male	+
Schizophrenia	Greenland	Male	+
Schizophrenia	New Zealand	Male	+
Schizophrenia	United States of America	Male	+

Schizophrenia	Netherlands	Male	+
Schizophrenia	Ireland	Male	+
Schizophrenia	Greenland	Female	+
Schizophrenia	Ireland	Female	+
Schizophrenia	Netherlands	Female	+
Schizophrenia	United States of America	Female	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Finland	Female	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Honduras	Female	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Ireland	Female	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Mexico	Female	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Comoros	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Djibouti	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Eritrea	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Kenya	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Malawi	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Mozambique	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Rwanda	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Somalia	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	South Africa	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Uganda	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Tanzania	Male	+
Rheumatoid Arthritis	Zambia	Male	+



Stress factor effects on disease grouped by disease

Major depressive disorder

Figure A. 1. The effects of stress factors on the prevalence rate of major depressive disorder in males (blue) and females (pink). Shaded regions represent 95% confidence intervals.


Anxiety disorders

Figure A. 2. The effects of stress factors on the prevalence rate of anxiety disorders in males (blue) and females (pink). Shaded regions represent 95% confidence intervals.



Bipolar disorder

Figure A. 3. The effects of stress factors on the prevalence rate of bipolar disorder in males (blue) and females (pink). Shaded regions represent 95% confidence intervals.



Schizophrenia

Figure A. 4. The effects of stress factors on the prevalence rate of schizophrenia in males (blue) and females (pink). Shaded regions represent 95% confidence intervals.



Principle component effects on disease grouped by principle component

Figure A. 5. Effects of principal component 1 on rheumatoid arthritis, major depressive disorder, anxiety disorders, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia prevalence rates on males (blue) and females (pink). Shaded regions surrounding the lines represent 95% confidence intervals.



Figure A. 6. Effects of principal component 2 on rheumatoid arthritis, major depressive disorder, anxiety disorders, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia prevalence rates on males (blue) and females (pink). Shaded regions surrounding the lines represent 95% confidence intervals.



Figure A. 7. Effects of principal component 3 on rheumatoid arthritis, major depressive disorder, anxiety disorders, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia prevalence rates on males (blue) and females (pink). Shaded regions surrounding the lines represent 95% confidence intervals.



Figure A. 8. Effects of principal component on rheumatoid arthritis, major depressive disorder, anxiety disorders, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia prevalence rates on males (blue) and females (pink). Shaded regions surrounding the lines represent 95% confidence intervals.



Figure A. 9. Effects of principal component on rheumatoid arthritis, major depressive disorder, anxiety disorders, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia prevalence rates on males (blue) and females (pink). Shaded regions surrounding the lines represent 95% confidence intervals.

Coefficients from stress factor models

Table A. 2. Model effects of stress factors on scaled prevalence rate of <u>major depressive disorder</u>. '*' indicates a significant p-value with $\alpha < 0.05$.

Coefficient	Coefficient estimate	Standard error	Z value	P-value
Intercept	0.653	0.143	4.576	4.75E-06 *

Sex (male)	-1.146	0.054	-21.215	< 2 E-16 *
Alcohol use	0.040	0.023	1.761	7.82E-02
Bullying	0.027	0.010	2.592	9.55E-03 *
Mat. mort.	-0.019	0.015	-1.255	2.10E-01
Child. Assault	0.018	0.021	0.863	3.88E-01
Drug use	0.024	0.010	2.503	1.23E-02 *
Year	-0.006	0.001	-7.747	9.45E-15 *
Poverty	0.034	0.043	0.784	4.33E-01
Sex(m) x alcohol	-0.016	0.022	-0.729	4.66E-01
Sex(m) x bullying	-0.016	0.011	-1.493	1.35E-01
Sex(m) x mat. mort.	0.126	0.038	3.322	8.92E-04 *
Sex(m) x child. assault	-0.008	0.030	-0.278	7.81E-01
Sex(m) x drug use	-0.029	0.010	-2.974	2.94E-03 *
Sex(m) x year	0.005	0.000	13.630	< 2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x poverty	-0.045	0.013	-3.339	8.41E-04 *

Table A. 3. Model effects of stress factors on scaled prevalence rate of <u>combined anxiety disorders</u>. '*' indicates a significant p-value with $\alpha < 0.05$.

Coefficient	Coefficient estimate	Standard error	Z value	P-value
Intercept	0.709	0.111	6.378	1.79E-10 *
Sex (male)	-1.349	0.049	-27.337	<2 E-16 *
Alcohol use	0.050	0.020	2.544	1.10E-02 *
Bullying	0.006	0.009	0.649	5.16E-01
Mat. mort.	-0.020	0.013	-1.532	1.25E-01
Child. Assault	-0.039	0.018	-2.162	3.06E-02 *

Drug use	-0.015	0.008	-1.771	7.66E-02
Year	0.002	0.001	2.236	2.53E-02 *
Poverty	-0.009	0.028	-0.314	7.54E-01
Sex(m) x alcohol	-0.049	0.019	-2.570	1.02E-02 *
Sex(m) x bullying	0.003	0.009	0.366	7.14E-01
Sex(m) x mat. mort.	0.023	0.029	0.785	4.33E-01
Sex(m) x child. assault	0.048	0.024	2.009	4.46E-02 *
Sex(m) x drug use	0.013	0.008	1.533	1.25E-01
Sex(m) x year	-0.001	0.000	-3.161	1.57E-03 *
Sex(m) x poverty	0.000	0.011	0.006	9.95E-01

Table A. 4. Model effects of stress factors on scaled prevalence rate <u>bipolar disorder</u>. '*' indicates a significant p-value with $\alpha < 0.05$.

Coefficient	Coefficient estimate	Standard error	Z value	P-value
Intercept	0.337	0.203	1.660	9.68E-02
Sex (male)	-0.316	0.026	-12.094	<2 E-16 *
Alcohol use	-0.005	0.002	-2.427	1.52E-02 *
Bullying	0.002	0.001	2.182	2.91E-02 *
Mat. mort.	0.002	0.001	1.995	4.61E-02 *
Child. Assault	0.007	0.002	3.511	4.47E-04 *
Drug use	0.003	0.001	3.383	7.16E-04 *
Year	2.0E-04	4.9E-05	4.070	4.69E-05 *
Poverty	-0.009	0.008	-1.059	2.90E-01
Sex(m) x alcohol	1.1E-04	0.002	0.047	9.62E-01
Sex(m) x bullying	-0.013	0.002	-7.156	8.32E-13 *

Sex(m) x mat. mort.	0.020	0.010	2.007	4.47E-02 *
Sex(m) x child. assault	-0.024	0.009	-2.845	4.44E-03 *
Sex(m) x drug use	-0.005	0.001	-4.207	2.58E-05 *
Sex(m) x year	4.3E-04	6.0E-05	7.198	6.13E-13 *
Sex(m) x poverty	-0.003	0.002	-1.493	1.35E-01

Table A. 5. Model effects of stress factors on scaled prevalence rate of <u>schizophrenia</u>. '*' indicates a significant p-value with $\alpha < 0.05$.

Coefficient	Coefficient estimate	Standard error	Z value	P-value
Intercept	-0.060	0.183	-0.328	7.43E-01
Sex (male)	0.399	0.037	10.719	<2 E-16 *
Alcohol use	0.028	0.009	2.983	2.85E-03 *
Bullying	0.023	0.004	5.762	8.31E-09 *
Mat. mort.	-0.014	0.006	-2.397	1.65E-02 *
Child. Assault	0.047	0.009	5.137	2.79E-07 *
Drug use	0.041	0.004	10.269	<2 E-16 *
Year	-0.001	2.2E-04	-4.441	8.94E-06 *
Poverty	-0.158	0.019	-8.487	<2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x alcohol	-0.006	0.009	-0.689	4.91E-01
Sex(m) x bullying	-0.021	0.005	-3.814	1.37E-04 *
Sex(m) x mat. mort.	-0.078	0.025	-3.097	1.95E-03 *
Sex(m) x child. assault	-0.022	0.020	-1.067	2.86E-01
Sex(m) x drug use	-0.061	0.004	-14.353	< 2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x year	-1.2E-04	1.8E-04	-0.689	4.91E-01
Sex(m) x poverty	-0.043	0.007	-6.595	4.24E-11 *

Coefficients	from	principal	compone	nt models
			1	

Table A. 6. Model effects of principal components on scaled prevalence rate of <u>**rheumatoid arthritis**</u>. '*' indicates a significant p-value with $\alpha < 0.05$.

Coefficient	Coefficient estimate	Standard error	Z value	P-value
Intercept	1.068	0.097	11.060	< 2 E-16 *
Sex (male)	-1.562	0.033	-46.960	< 2 E-16 *
PC1	0.462	0.012	38.300	< 2 E-16 *
PC2	-0.169	0.014	-12.400	< 2 E-16 *
PC3	0.245	0.012	20.130	< 2 E-16 *
PC4	-0.164	0.023	-7.240	4.39E-13 *
PC5	0.020	0.017	1.170	2.42E-01
Year	0.006	0.001	4.360	1.27E-05 *
Sex(m) x PC1	-0.458	0.011	-40.350	< 2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x PC2	-0.013	0.014	-0.880	3.78E-01
Sex(m) x PC3	-0.035	0.013	-2.700	7.04E-03 *
Sex(m) x PC4	0.240	0.023	10.250	< 2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x PC5	0.017	0.018	0.990	3.20E-01
Sex(m) x year	-0.001	0.001	-0.630	5.27E-01

Table A. 7. Model effects of principal components on scaled prevalence rate of <u>major depressive</u> <u>disorde</u>r. '*' indicates a significant p-value with $\alpha < 0.05$.

Coefficient	Coefficient	Standard	Z value	P-value
	estimate	error		

Intercept	0.687	0.139	4.930	8.12E-07 *
Sex (male)	-1.294	0.039	-33.330	< 2 E-16 *
PC1	0.037	0.014	2.670	7.52E-03 *
PC2	-0.105	0.014	-7.480	7.45E-14 *
PC3	0.073	0.012	6.010	1.80E-09 *
PC4	-0.028	0.023	-1.220	2.21E-01
PC5	-0.052	0.018	-2.980	2.87E-03 *
Year	-0.007	0.001	-5.710	1.14E-08 *
Sex(m) x PC1	-0.044	0.013	-3.480	5.09E-04 *
Sex(m) x PC2	0.064	0.016	4.050	5.16E-05 *
Sex(m) x PC3	-0.073	0.014	-5.170	2.40E-07 *
Sex(m) x PC4	-0.010	0.025	-0.380	7.04E-01
Sex(m) x PC5	0.002	0.018	0.110	9.12E-01
Sex(m) x year	0.006	0.002	3.980	6.85E-05 *

Table A. 8. Model effects of principal components on scaled prevalence rate of <u>combined anxiety</u> <u>disorders</u>. '*' indicates a significant p-value with $\alpha < 0.05$.

Coefficient	Coefficient estimate	Standard error	Z value	P-value
Intercept	1.051	0.123	8.510	< 2 E-16 *
Sex (male)	-1.811	0.028	-64.940	< 2 E-16 *
PC1	0.294	0.010	29.370	< 2 E-16 *
PC2	-0.019	0.011	-1.800	7.15E-02
PC3	0.075	0.009	8.000	1.20E-15 *
PC4	-0.204	0.017	-11.680	< 2 E-16 *
PC5	0.001	0.013	0.040	9.70E-01
Year	-0.001	0.001	-0.920	3.55E-01
Sex(m) x PC1	-0.264	0.009	-28.300	< 2 E-16 *

Sex(m) x PC2	-0.053	0.012	-4.570	4.96E-06 *
Sex(m) x PC3	-0.079	0.010	-7.530	5.06E-14 *
Sex(m) x PC4	0.121	0.019	6.470	9.55E-11 *
Sex(m) x PC5	-0.050	0.014	-3.610	3.11E-04 *
Sex(m) x year	0.003	0.001	2.740	6.10E-03 *

Table A. 9. Model effects of principal components on scaled prevalence rate of <u>bipolar disorder</u>. '*' indicates a significant p-value with $\alpha < 0.05$.

Coefficient	Coefficient estimate	Standard error	Z value	P-value
Intercept	0.462	0.238	1.939	5.25E-02
Sex (male)	-0.482	0.016	-30.260	< 2 E-16 *
PC1	0.111	0.006	19.728	< 2 E-16 *
PC2	0.026	0.006	4.591	4.40E-06 *
PC3	0.054	0.005	10.884	<2 E-16 *
PC4	-0.126	0.009	-13.737	<2 E-16 *
PC5	0.167	0.007	23.506	<2 E-16 *
Year	-0.002	0.001	-4.022	5.77E-05 *
Sex(m) x PC1	-0.136	0.005	-25.861	<2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x PC2	-0.059	0.006	-9.202	< 2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x PC3	-0.020	0.006	-3.392	6.93E-04 *
Sex(m) x PC4	0.140	0.010	13.651	<2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x PC5	-0.141	0.007	-18.942	<2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x year	0.003	0.001	4.474	7.67E-06 *

Coefficient	Coefficient estimate	Standard error	Z value	P-value
Intercept	0.070	0.186	0.376	7.07E-01
Sex (male)	0.754	0.030	24.834	< 2 E-16 *
PC1	0.204	0.010	20.320	< 2 E-16 *
PC2	0.066	0.010	6.913	4.74E-12 *
PC3	0.076	0.008	9.471	< 2 E-16 *
PC4	0.178	0.015	12.130	< 2 E-16 *
PC5	0.188	0.012	16.246	< 2 E-16 *
Year	-0.004	0.001	-4.870	1.11E-06 *
Sex(m) x PC1	-0.167	0.010	-16.538	< 2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x PC2	0.125	0.012	10.298	< 2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x PC3	-0.028	0.011	-2.619	8.82E-03 *
Sex(m) x PC4	0.297	0.019	15.622	< 2 E-16 *
Sex(m) x PC5	-0.005	0.013	-0.382	7.02E-01
Sex(m) x year	-3.3E-04	0.001	-0.288	7.73E-01

Table A. 10. Model effects of principal components on scaled prevalence rate of <u>schizophrenia</u>. '*' indicates a significant p-value with $\alpha < 0.05$.